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GLOSSARY OF OIL AND NATURAL GAS TERMS
%EDne stock tank barrel or 42 US gallons liquid volume of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.
% One billion cubic feet of natural gas.

%HHOne billion cubic feet equivalent of natural gas, determined using a ratio of one Bbl of oil, condensate or natural gas
liquids to six Mcf of natural gas.

%M A British thermal unit is a measurement of the heat generating capacity of natural gas. One Btu is the heat required to
raise the temperature of a one—pound mass of pure liquid water one degree Fahrenheit at the temperature at which water has
its greatest density (39 degrees Fahrenheit).

&RP SPINR) Installation of permanent equipment for production of oil or gas, or, in the case of a dry well, reporting to the
appropriate authority that the well has been abandoned.

&RYFHIDM A mixture of hydrocarbons that exists in the gaseous phase at original reservoir temperature and pressure, but
that, when produced, is in the liquid phase at surface pressure and temperature.

' HBSHGRODQGJDVUWRHIH/Reserves of any category that can be expected to be recovered:

through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required
equipment is relatively minor compared with the cost of a new well, and

through installed extraction equipment and infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate if the
extraction is by means not involving a well.

" HHBSP HOMFRMV Costs incurred to obtain access to proved reserves and to provide facilities for extracting, treating,
gathering and storing the oil and gas. More specifically, development costs, including depreciation and applicable operating
costs of support equipment and facilities and other costs of development activities, are costs incurred to:

gain access to and prepare well locations for drilling, including surveying well locations for the purpose of
determining specific development drilling sites, clearing ground, draining, road building, and relocating public
roads, gas lines, and power lines, to the extent necessary in developing the proved reserves;

drill, fracture, stimulate and equip development wells, development-type stratigraphic test wells, and service wells,
including the costs of platforms and of well equipment such as casing, tubing, pumping equipment, and the wellhead
assembly;

acquire, construct, and install production facilities such as lease flow lines, separators, treaters, heaters, manifolds,
measuring devices, production storage tanks, natural gas cycling and processing plants, and central utility and waste
disposal systems; and

provide improved recovery systems.

" HHBSP HQA HDA well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic
horizon known to be productive.

" U KRbbr ZHDAR exploratory, development or extension well that proves to be incapable of producing either oil or gas in
sufficient quantities to justify completion as a producing oil or gas well.

([ SRDNRQFRWV Costs incurred in identifying areas that may warrant examination and in examining specific areas that are
considered to have prospects of containing oil and natural gas reserves, including costs of drilling exploratory wells and
exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells.
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([SHRDRY ZHDA well drilled to find a new field or to find a new reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of
oil or natural gas in another reservoir.

) IH® An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same individual
geological structural feature or stratigraphic condition.

* IRWDRRbr JURWZHDQYThe total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is owned.
0 %&®O0ne thousand barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

0 H One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

0 AHHOne thousand cubic feet equivalent of natural gas, determined using the ratio of one Bbl of oil, condensate or natural
gas liquids to six Mcf of natural gas. The ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of oil or natural gas liquids is commonly
used in the oil and natural gas business and represents the approximate energy equivalency of six Mcf of natural gas to one
Bbl of oil or natural gas liquids, and does not represent the sales price equivalency of natural gas to oil or natural gas liquids.
0 0 YE0¥One million barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

0 0 %X One million British thermal units.

0 O H One million cubic feet of natural gas.

0 0 HHOne million cubic feet equivalent of natural gas, determined using the ratio of one Bbl of oil, condensate or natural
gas liquids to six Mcf of natural gas.

1 DXMDAIDV@IKG/The hydrocarbon liquids contained within natural gas.
1HARRHGr (HAZHDYThe sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells, as the case may be.
1<0 (; The New York Mercantile Exchange.

2 IQCrude oil and condensate.

2 YHUGQ) LR DOVIQMIKY 255,  Fractional, undivided interests or rights of participation in the oil and natural gas, or in
the proceeds from the sale of oil and natural gas, produced from a specified tract or tracts, which are limited in duration to the
terms of an existing lease and which are not subject to any portion of the expense of development, operation or maintenance.

SURGRNRQ FRW Costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and related equipment and facilities, including depreciation
and applicable operating costs of support equipment and facilities and other costs of operating and maintaining those wells
and related equipment and facilities. They become part of the cost of oil and gas produced. Examples of production costs
(sometimes called lifting costs) are:

costs of labor to operate the wells and related equipment and facilities;

repairs and maintenance;

materials, supplies, and fuel consumed and supplies utilized in operating the wells and related equipment and
facilities;
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property taxes and insurance applicable to proved properties and wells and related equipment and facilities; and
severance taxes.
SURGRMHZ HDAN exploratory, development or extension well that is not a dry well.

3URYHS GYHBSHS URHXHY Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment
and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well.
Additional reserves expected to be obtained through the application of fluid injection or other improved recovery techniques
for supplementing the natural forces and mechanisms of primary recovery are included in “proved developed reserves” only
after testing by a pilot project or after the operation of an installed program has confirmed through production response that
increased recovery will be achieved.

3UWRYHS UHHXHY Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and
engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible — from a given date forward from
known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations — prior to the
time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain,
regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation. The project to extract the
hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a
reasonable time.

SWRHCXQEVHBSHGURHIHY 38" V' Reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or
from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion. Reserves on undrilled acreage are
limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are reasonably certain of production when drilled, unless
evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes reasonable certainty of economic producibility at greater distances.
Undrilled locations can be classified as having PUDs only if a development plan has been adopted indicating that they are
scheduled to be drilled within five years, unless the specific circumstances justify a longer time. Estimates for PUDs are not
attributed to any acreage for which an application of fluid injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated,
unless such techniques have been proved effective by actual projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or by
other evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable certainty.

SHRP SBINRQThe completion for production of an existing wellbore in another formation from that which the well has been
previously completed.

S5HHXYHVEstimated remaining quantities of oil and gas and related substances anticipated to be economically producible, as
of a given date, by application of development projects to known accumulations. In addition, there must exist, or there must
be a reasonable expectation that there will exist, the legal right to produce or a revenue interest in the production, installed
means of delivering oil and gas or related substances to market, and all permits and financing required to implement the
project.

5HHXYRUA porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible oil or natural gas
that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from other reserves.

e\MQAA] HGPHOKUHThe after-tax present value of estimated future net cash flows to be generated from the production of

proved reserves, determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”), using prices and costs employed in the determination of proved reserves, without giving effect to non—property
related expenses such as certain general and administrative expenses and debt service or to depreciation, depletion and
amortization and discounted using an annual discount rate of 10%.

8 QAHBSHG DRUHDIH Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the
production of commercial quantities of natural gas and oil regardless of whether such acreage contains proved reserves.

8 QA IMHBSHG RODQG JDV URHIHY Reserves of any category that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled
acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.
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: RNQ) LOMHX he operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct operating activities on the
property and a share of production.

: RINRYHOperations on a producing well to restore or increase production.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (“Harvest” or “Successor”), a Delaware corporation, is an independent oil and natural gas
company that was formed in 2018 in connection with the reorganization of EV Energy Partners, L.P. (“EVEP,” “Partnership”
or “Predecessor”). As used herein, the terms the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us” refer to (i) Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. after
the Effective Date (as defined below) and (ii) EVEP prior to, and including, the Effective Date, in each case, together with
their respective consolidated subsidiaries or on an individual basis, depending on the context in which the statements are
made.

We operate one reportable segment engaged in the development and production of oil and natural gas properties. As of
December 31, 2018, our oil and natural gas properties are located in the Barnett Shale, the San Juan Basin, the Appalachian
Basin (which includes the Utica Shale), Michigan, the Mid—Continent areas in Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas, Kansas and
Louisiana, the Permian Basin and the Monroe Field in Northern Louisiana. As of December 31, 2018, we had estimated net
proved reserves of 711.9 Bcfe and a standardized measure of $436.4 million. Of our total net proved reserves, 98% are
proved developed, 67% are natural gas and 53% are operated.

As a result of the ongoing review of our asset base in order to maximize shareholder value, we have initiated processes
to divest certain assets and in the future may look to divest additional assets or all of our remaining assets and use the
proceeds to repay bank debt, return capital to shareholders, concentrate in existing positions or venture into new basins. In
January and February 2019, we entered into definitive agreements to sell all of our oil and gas properties in the San Juan
Basin and certain of our oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area. See “—Current Developments—Divestitures”
below for additional information.

Emergence from Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11

On March 13, 2018, EVEP and 13 affiliated debtors (collectively, the “Debtors”) entered into a Restructuring Support
Agreement (the “Restructuring Support Agreement”) with certain holders of the Predecessor’s notes, certain lenders under
the Predecessor’s reserve-based lending facility, EnerVest, Ltd. (“EnerVest”) and EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. The
Restructuring Support Agreement set forth, subject to certain conditions, the commitment of the Debtors and the consenting
creditors to support a comprehensive restructuring of the Debtors’ long-term debt (the “Restructuring”). On April 2, 2018
(the “Petition Date”), the Debtors each filed Chapter 11 proceedings under Chapter 11 in the United States Bankruptcy Court
for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”). The Debtors’ Chapter 11 proceedings were jointly administered under
the caption ,QUH( 9 ( QHJ\ 3DUGHY / 3 HADDCase No. 18-10814. During the pendency of the Chapter 11 proceedings,
EVEP continued to operate its business and manage its properties under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Bankruptcy Court as “Debtors-in-
Possession.” On May 17, 2018, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming the Plan.

On June 4, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), the Debtors satisfied the conditions to effectiveness of the Debtors’ First
Modified Joint Prepackaged Plan of Reorganization (as amended, modified and supplemented from time to time, the “Plan”),
and the Plan became effective in accordance with its terms. In accordance with the Plan, EVEP’s equity was cancelled, EVEP
transferred all of its assets and operations to Harvest, EVEP was dissolved and Harvest became the successor reporting
company to EVEP pursuant to Rule 15d-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). See
Note 2 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.

Predecessor and Successor Reporting

Upon emergence from bankruptcy on the Effective Date, we elected to adopt fresh start accounting effective May 31,
2018 (the “convenience date) to coincide with the timing of the Company’s normal accounting period close. As a result
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of the adoption of fresh start accounting and the effects of the implementation of the Plan, the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and certain presentations are separated into two distinct periods, the period before the convenience date
(labeled Predecessor) and the period after the convenience date (labeled Successor), to indicate the application of different
basis of accounting between the periods presented. Despite the separate presentation, there was continuity of the Company’s
operations.

See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.

Current Developments

2 XU2 SHDIMY 3@QDQGEWDM\

We focus our efforts on maintaining or minimizing the decline in our reserves and production while controlling costs at a
level that is appropriate for long—term operations. Our future cash flows from operations are dependent upon our ability to
manage our overall cost structure. As initial reservoir pressures are depleted, production from our wells decreases. We
attempt to mitigate or reduce this natural decline through drilling or workover operations. We will maintain our focus on
drilling costs as well as the costs necessary to produce our reserves. Our drilling program is dependent on our capital
resources and the inventory and economics of drilling prospects and can be limited by many factors, including our ability to
timely obtain drilling permits and regulatory approvals. Our overall operating plan also includes regular reviews of our asset
base. As a result of this ongoing review, we have initiated processes to divest of certain assets, and in the future, we may look
to divest additional assets or all of our remaining assets in order to maximize shareholder value.

In order to mitigate the impact of lower prices on our cash flows, we are a party to derivatives, and we intend to enter
into derivatives in the future to reduce the impact of price volatility on our cash flows. Although we have entered into
derivative contracts covering a portion of our future production through December 2020, a sustained lower price environment
would result in lower prices for unprotected volumes and reduce the prices at which we can enter into derivative contracts for
additional volumes in the future. We have mitigated, but not eliminated, the potential effects of changing prices on our cash
flows from operations for those periods. An extended period of depressed commodity prices would alter our development
plans, as well as adversely affect our ability to access additional capital in the capital markets. Please refer to Item 7A.
“Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” contained herein for more information.

" LYRYUH

In August 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas and Karnes County, Texas to
Magnolia Oil & Gas Parent LL.C and Magnolia Oil & Gas Corporation (collectively, “Magnolia”) for total consideration of
$134.4 million in cash, net of purchase price adjustments, and 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia (NYSE:
MGY). Based on the closing price for Magnolia’s common stock on August 31, 2018, total consideration was $192.7 million,
net of purchase price adjustments.

During January 2019, we sold all of our 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia for net proceeds of $51.7
million.

In addition, in August 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas to a third party for total
consideration of $3.4 million, net of purchase price adjustments.

In December 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas to a third party for total
consideration of $2.6 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments.

In addition, in December 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in the Mid—Continent area to a third
party for total consideration of $1.0 million, net of purchase price adjustments.
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In January 2019, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area to a third party for total
consideration of $1.7 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments.

In February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of our (i) oil and gas properties in the San Juan Basin
and (ii) membership interests in EnerVest Mesa, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of EV Properties, L.P., to a third party for
total consideration of $42.8 million in cash, subject to purchase price adjustments. The transaction is expected to close in
April 2019 and has an effective date of October 1, 2018.

Also, in February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent
area to a third party for total consideration of $2.5 million in cash, subject to purchase price adjustments. The transaction is
expected to close in April 2019 and has an effective date of October 1, 2018.

See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.

Our Relationship with EnerVest

As a result of the Restructuring, EnerVest is no longer a related party to the Company. However, we continue to have a
relationship with EnerVest through a services agreement entered into in connection with the Restructuring (the “Services
Agreement”) pursuant to which EnerVest operates the majority of our properties and provides other administrative services.
See Note 13 and 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information regarding the Services Agreement and the related party
status of EnerVest, respectively.

Oil and Natural Gas Operations and Properties

At December 31, 2018, our oil and natural gas properties were located in the Barnett Shale, the San Juan Basin, the
Appalachian Basin (which includes the Utica Shale), Michigan, the Mid—Continent areas in Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas,
Kansas and Louisiana, the Permian Basin and the Monroe Field in Northern Louisiana.

YDLCHNG KD

Our properties are primarily located in Denton, Montague, Parker, Tarrant and Wise counties in Northern Texas. Our
estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018 were 280.1 Bcfe, 62% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we
drilled 15 gross wells (4.7 net wells) in the Barnett Shale, which were successfully completed. As of December 31, 2018, we
owned an average 28% working interest in 1,356 gross productive wells in this area.

6DQ- XDQYIDMQ

Our properties are primarily located in Rio Arriba County, New Mexico and La Plata County in Colorado. Our estimated
net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018 were 157.6 Bcfe, 64% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we did not drill
any wells in the San Juan Basin. As of December 31, 2018, we owned an average 81% working interest in 496 gross
productive wells in this area. In February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of our oil and gas properties
in the San Juan Basin. See “—Current Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.

$ SSDORKIDRYIMQ LOFXAQ] \WH8 WD 6KDMH

Our activities are concentrated in the Ohio and West Virginia areas of the Appalachian Basin. Our Ohio area properties
are producing primarily from the Knox and Clinton formations and other Devonian age sands in 40 counties in Eastern Ohio
and 8 counties in Western Pennsylvania. Our West Virginia area properties are producing primarily from the Balltown,
Benson and Big Injun formations in 22 counties in North Central West Virginia. Our estimated net proved reserves as of
December 31, 2018 were 129.2 Bcfe, 68% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we drilled 1 gross well (0.9 net wells) in the
Appalachian Basin. As of December 31, 2018, we owned an average 64% working interest in 10,424 gross productive wells
in this area.
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0 KDY

Our properties are located in the Antrim Shale reservoir in Otsego and Montmorency counties in northern Michigan. Our
estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018 were 64.5 Bcfe, 98% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we did
not drill any wells in Michigan. As of December 31, 2018, we owned an average 65% working interest in 1,502 gross
productive wells in this area.

0 LG &RQMHY/S UD

Our properties are primarily located in 43 counties in Oklahoma, 22 counties in Texas, four parishes in North Louisiana,
two counties in Kansas and six counties in Arkansas. Our estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018 were
31.2 Bcfe, 58% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we did not drill any wells in the Mid-Continent area. As of December
31, 2018, we owned an average 16% working interest in 1,666 gross productive wells in this area. In January and February
2019, we entered into definitive agreements to sell certain of our oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area. Our
estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018, for the properties to be sold are 9.5 Bcfe, 55% of which is natural
gas. See “—Current Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.

3HP IDQYDMQ

Our properties are primarily located in the Yates, Seven Rivers, Queen, Morrow, Clear Fork and Wichita Albany
formations in four counties in New Mexico and Texas. Our estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018 were 28.1
Bcfe, 38% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we did not drill any wells in the Permian Basin. As of December 31, 2018,
we owned an average 97% working interest in 136 gross productive wells in this area.

0 RURH) IHG

Our properties are primarily located in two parishes in Northeast Louisiana. Our estimated net proved reserves as of
December 31, 2018 were 21.2 Bcfe, 100% of which is natural gas. During 2018, we did not drill any wells in the Monroe
Field. As of December 31, 2018, we owned an average 98% working interest in 3,831 gross productive wells in this area.

Our Oil, Natural Gas and Natural Gas Liquids Data
2 XU5 HHYH/

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserve information presented herein is derived from our reserve reports prepared
by Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. (“Cawley Gillespie”) and Wright & Company, Inc. (“Wright”), our independent

reserve engineers. All of our proved reserves are located in the United States. The following table presents our estimated net
proved reserves at December 31, 2018:

Natural Gas
Natural Gas Liquids
Qil (MMBbls) (Bcf) (MMBDbls) Bcfe
Proved reserves:
Developed 9.9 468.5 28.5 698.5
Undeveloped — 8.2 0.8 13.4
Total 9.9 476.7 29.3 711.9

10
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In addition, the following table summarizes information about our proved reserves by geographic region as of
December 31, 2018:

Estimated Net Proved Reserves
Natural Gas

Oil Natural Gas Liquids
(MMBDbls) (Bcf) (MMBDbls) Bcfe
Barnett Shale 0.2 175.0 17.3 280.1
San Juan Basin @ 1.3 100.4 8.2 157.6
Appalachian Basin 6.4 87.9 0.5 129.2
Michigan 0.1 63.2 0.1 64.5
Mid—Continent area @ 1.5 18.2 0.7 31.2
Permian Basin 0.4 10.8 2.5 28.1
Monroe Field — 21.2 — 21.2
Total 9.9 476.7 29.3 711.9

M In February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of our oil and gas properties in the San Juan Basin. See “—Current
Developments—Divestitures” below for additional information.

@ In January and February 2019, we entered into definitive agreements to sell certain of our oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent

area. These properties included estimated net proved reserves of 9.5 Bcfe, 55% of which is natural gas, as of December 31, 2018. See

“—Current Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.

Proved developed reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing
equipment and operating methods. PUDs are proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled
acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion. See “Glossary of Oil and
Natural Gas Terms.” Proved undeveloped locations conform to the SEC rules defining proved undeveloped locations. We do
not have any reserves that would be classified as synthetic oil or synthetic natural gas.

Our estimates of proved reserves are based on the quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which, by analysis
of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible — from a given
date forward, from known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations — prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal
is reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimate. Reserves for
proved developed producing wells were estimated using production performance and material balance methods. Certain new
producing properties with little production history were forecast using a combination of production performance and analogy
to offset production, both of which are believed to provide accurate forecasts. Non—producing reserve estimates for both
developed and undeveloped properties were forecast using either or both volumetric or analogy methods. These methods are
believed to provide accurate forecasts due to the mature nature of the properties targeted for development and an abundance
of subsurface control data.

The data in the above tables represents estimates only. Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserve engineering is
inherently a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids that
cannot be measured exactly. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and
engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Accordingly, reserve estimates may vary from the quantities of oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids that are ultimately recovered. Please read “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Future prices received for production and costs may vary, perhaps significantly, from the prices and costs assumed for
purposes of these estimates. The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is the after-tax present value of
estimated future net revenues to be generated from the production of proved reserves, determined in accordance with the
rules and regulations of the SEC, without giving effect to non—property related expenses such as general and administrative
expenses and debt service or to depreciation, depletion and amortization and discounted using an annual discount rate of
10%. Future income tax expenses are calculated by applying the year-end statutory tax rates to the pre-tax net cash flows.
Standardized measure does not give effect to derivative transactions. The standardized measure shown should not be
construed as the current market value of the reserves. The 10% discount factor, which is required by Financial

11




Table of Contents

Accounting Standards Board pronouncements, is not necessarily the most appropriate discount rate. The present value, no
matter what discount rate is used, is materially affected by assumptions as to timing of future production, which may prove to
be inaccurate.

At December 31, 2018, our proved reserves had a standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows of $436.4
million and a present value of future net pre-tax cash flows attributable to estimated net proved reserves, discounted at 10%
per annum (“PV-10”) of $509.6 million. PV-10, is a computation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash
flows on a pre—tax basis and is computed on the same basis as standardized measure but does not include a provision for
federal income taxes, Texas gross margin tax or other state taxes. PV-10 is considered a non—-GAAP financial measure under
the regulations of the SEC. We believe PV-10 to be an important measure for evaluating the relative significance of our oil
and natural gas properties. We further believe investors and creditors may utilize our PV-10 as a basis for comparison of the
relative size and value of our reserves to other companies. PV—10, however, is not a substitute for the standardized measure.
Our PV-10 measure and standardized measure do not purport to present the fair value of our reserves.

The table below provides a reconciliation of PV-10 to the standardized measure at December 31, 2018 (dollars in
millions):

Standardized measure $ 436.4

Future income taxes, discounted at 10% 73.2
PV-10 $ 509.6
2 XU3WRYHG8 QAYHBERSHES5 HHYHY

We annually review all PUDs to ensure an appropriate plan for development exists. As of December 31, 2017, the
Predecessor had no reportable estimated PUDs with respect to any of its properties due to uncertainty regarding the
Predecessor’s ability to continue as a going concern and the availability of capital that would be required to develop the PUD
reserves.

At December 31, 2018 (Successor), we had 13.4 Bcfe of PUDs compared with zero PUDs at December 31, 2017
(Predecessor). The following table describes the changes in PUDs during 2018:

Bcfe
PUDs as of December 31, 2017 (Predecessor) —
Revisions of previous estimates 66.7
Sales of minerals in place (53.3)
PUDs as of December 31, 2018 (Successor) 13.4

The following describes the material changes to our PUDs during 2018:

5HMMRYVR SUMRXVHIP DM/ This change from prior estimates primarily results from our emergence from bankruptcy
on June 4, 2018 and the availability of capital required to develop the PUDs within the SEC five-year development limitation
on PUDs.

6DBVR PLCHDYIQSDHAIn August 2018, we sold oil and natural gas properties in Central Texas and Karnes County,
Texas, which included 53.3 Bcfe of PUDs.

, QLD RAARY$ SSTFDEGIR RXUS HHIYH( WP DY/

Our policies and procedures regarding internal controls over the recording of our reserves is structured to objectively and
accurately estimate our reserves quantities and present values in compliance with both accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and the SEC’s regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations is the responsibility of
Terry Wagstaff, our Vice President of Acquisitions and Engineering, who is also our principal engineer. Mr. Wagstaff has
over 35 years of experience in the oil and natural gas industry, with exposure to reserves and reserve related valuations
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and issues during most of this time, and is a qualified reserves estimator (“QRE”), as defined by the standards of the Society
of Petroleum Engineers. Further professional qualifications include a Bachelor of Science in Petroleum Engineering,
extensive internal and external reserve training, asset evaluation and management, and he is a registered professional
engineer in the state of Texas. In addition, our principal engineer is an active participant in industry reserve seminars,
professional industry groups, and is a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Our controls over reserve estimates included retaining Cawley Gillespie and Wright as our independent petroleum
engineers. We provided information about our oil and natural gas properties, including production profiles, prices and costs,
to Cawley Gillespie and Wright, and they prepared their own estimates of 44% and 56%, respectively, of our reserves
attributable to our properties. All of the information regarding reserves in this annual report on Form 10-K is derived from
the reports of Cawley Gillespie and Wright, which are included as exhibits to this annual report on Form 10-K.

The principal engineer at Cawley Gillespie responsible for preparing our reserve estimates is W. Todd Brooker, a
President and Principal with Cawley Gillespie. Mr. Brooker is a licensed professional engineer in the state of Texas (license
#83462) with over 25 years of experience in petroleum engineering. The principal engineer at Wright responsible for
preparing our reserve estimates is D. Randall Wright, the President of Wright. Mr. Wright is a licensed professional engineer
in the state of Texas (license #43291) with over 45 years of experience in petroleum engineering.

We and EnerVest maintain an internal staff of petroleum engineers, geoscience professionals and petroleum landmen
who work closely with Cawley Gillespie and Wright to ensure the integrity, accuracy and timeliness of data furnished to
Cawley Gillespie and Wright in their reserves estimation process. Our Vice President of Acquisitions and Engineering
reviews and approves the reserve information compiled by our internal staff. Our technical team meets regularly with
representatives of Cawley Gillespie and Wright to review properties and discuss the methods and assumptions used by
Cawley Gillespie and Wright in their preparation of the year end reserves estimates. Our technical team and Vice President of
Acquisitions and Engineering also meet regularly to review the methods and assumptions used by Cawley Gillespie and
Wright in their preparation of the year end reserves estimates.

The audit committee of our board of directors meets with management, including the Vice President of Acquisitions and
Engineering, to discuss matters and policies related to our reserves.

2 XU3URGXRAMH: HY

The following table sets forth information relating to the productive wells in which we owned a working interest as of
December 31, 2018. Productive wells consist of producing wells and wells capable of production, including natural gas wells
awaiting pipeline connections to commence deliveries and oil wells awaiting connection to production facilities. Gross wells
are the total number of productive wells in which we have a working interest, regardless of our percentage interest. A net
well is not a physical well, but is a concept that reflects the actual total working interest we hold in a given well. We compute
the number of net wells we own by totaling the percentage interests we hold in all our gross wells. Operated wells are the
wells operated by EnerVest in which we own an interest.
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Our wells may produce both oil and natural gas. We classify a well as an oil well if the net equivalent production of oil
was greater than natural gas for the well.

Gross Wells Net Wells
Natural Natural
Qil Gas Total Qil Gas Total

Barnett Shale:

Operated — — — — — —

Non—operated 19 1,337 1,356 4 374 378
San Juan Basin: @

Operated 20 400 420 20 367 387

Non—operated 23 53 76 2 11 13
Appalachian Basin:

Operated 1,733 4,757 6,490 1,686 4,503 6,189

Non—operated 428 3,506 3,934 33 445 478
Michigan:

Operated 1 1,204 1,205 1 958 959

Non—operated 29 268 297 1 11 12
Mid—Continent area: ®

Operated 56 109 165 45 70 115

Non—operated 630 871 1,501 44 106 150
Permian Basin:

Operated 1 132 133 1 129 130

Non-operated 3 — 3 1 — 1
Monroe Field:

Operated — 3,831 3,831 — 3,744 3,744

Non—operated — — — — — —
Total @ 2,943 16,468 19,411 1,838 10,718 12,556

M In February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of our oil and gas properties in the San Juan Basin. See “—Current
Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.

@ 1In January and February 2019, we entered into definitive agreements to sell certain of our oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent
area. These properties included 632 gross non-operated wells (57 net non-operated wells) as of December 31, 2018. See “—Current
Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.

@ In addition, we own small royalty interests in over 1,000 wells.

2 XU HHBSHEDQG8 QAHYHBRSHES RUHDIH

The following table sets forth information relating to our leasehold acreage as of December 31, 2018:

Developed Acreage Undeveloped Acreage

Gross Net Gross Net
Barnett Shale 151,329 38,075 12,947 2,583
San Juan Basin @ 139,047 63,246 34,110 26,933
Appalachian Basin 614,183 467,798 320,269 258,273
Michigan 87,903 63,420 1,038 1,035
Mid—Continent area © 295,076 55,191 11,506 834
Permian Basin 11,695 10,868 520 385
Monroe Field @ 5,904 5904 170,346 145,666
Total 1,305,137 704,502 550,736 435,709

@ In February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of our oil and gas properties in the San Juan Basin. See “—Current

Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.
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@ In January and February 2019, we entered into definitive agreements to sell certain of our oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent

area. These properties included 59,558 gross developed acres (17,500 net developed acres) and 680 gross undeveloped acres (198 net
undeveloped acres) as of December 31, 2018. See “—Current Developments—Divestitures” above for additional information.
@ There are no spacing requirements on substantially all of the wells on our Monroe Field properties; therefore, one developed acre is
assigned to each productive well for which there is no spacing unit assigned.

Substantially all of our acreage is held by production, which means that as long as our wells on the acreage continue to
produce, we will continue to hold the leases. The acreage in which we hold interests that are not held by production are not
significant to our overall undeveloped acreage.

7 MBI 3 URSHIWY/

As is customary in the oil and natural gas industry, we initially conduct only a cursory review of the title to our
properties on which we do not have proved reserves. Prior to the commencement of drilling operations on those properties,
we conduct a thorough title examination and perform curative work with respect to significant defects. To the extent title
opinions or other investigations reflect title defects on those properties, we are typically responsible for curing any title
defects at our expense. We generally will not commence drilling operations on a property until we have cured any material
title defects on such property. Prior to completing an acquisition of producing leases, we perform title reviews on the most
significant leases and, depending on the materiality of the properties, we may obtain a title opinion or review previously
obtained title opinions. As a result, we have obtained title opinions on a significant portion of our properties and believe that
we have satisfactory title to our producing properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the oil and natural
gas industry. Our properties are subject to customary royalty and other interests, liens for current taxes and other burdens that
we believe do not materially interfere with the use of or affect our carrying value of the properties.
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The following table sets forth our production, production prices and production costs for the Successor seven months
ended December 31, 2018, and for the Predecessor five months ended May 31, 2018 and years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 from the Barnett Shale, the Appalachian Basin and the San Juan Basin, which are the only fields during those years for
which our estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2018 attributable to the field represented 15% or more of our total

estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2018:

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended Year Ended December 31,
December 31, 2018 May 31, 2018 2017 2016
0il
Production (MBbls):
Barnett Shale 21 23 35 BY
Appalachian Basin 290 209 541 611
San Juan Basin 44 29 74 75
Average sales price per Bbl:
Barnett Shale $ 64.22 $ 6287 $ 48.74 % 36.96
Appalachian Basin $ 62.22 $ 61.63 $ 4729 $ 39.59
San Juan Basin $ 56.31 $ 53.03 $ 3820 $ 31.01
Natural Gas
Production (MMcf):
Barnett Shale 8,117 5,556 12,948 19,936
Appalachian Basin 5,159 3,458 11,465 12,097
San Juan Basin 2,960 2,205 5,336 3,751
Average sales price per Mcf:
Barnett Shale $ 2.77 $ 228 $ 270 $ 1.93
Appalachian Basin $ 2.78 $ 244  $ 245  $ 1.70
San Juan Basin $ 2.50 $ 224 $ 282 % 2.37
Natural Gas Liquids
Production (MBbls):
Barnett Shale 753 519 1,183 1,320
Appalachian Basin 26 29 43 59
San Juan Basin 303 204 390 405
Average sales price per Bbl:
Barnett Shale $ 25.17 $ 2378  $ 1991 $ 14.01
Appalachian Basin $ 20.00 $ 2879 $ 15.53 $ 14.12
San Juan Basin @ $ 34.71 $ 3228 $ 2734 $ 20.94
Average unit costs per Mcfe:
Lease operating expenses per Mcfe @
Barnett Shale $ 1.33 $ 1.34 $ 1.25 $ 0.95
Appalachian Basin $ 2.23 $ 231 $ 185 $ 1.65
San Juan Basin $ 1.83 $ 181 $ 1.59 $ 1.80

[¢]

Excludes a royalty adjustment of $5.0 million during the seven months ended December 31, 2018. Including this royalty adjustment,

revenues from natural gas liquids would have been $3.05 per Bbl, for the seven months ended December 31, 2018. See Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” contained herein

for additional information.
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@ Excluding ad valorem taxes.

2XU Uudny $ AW

We intend to concentrate our drilling activity on low risk development drilling opportunities. The number and types of
wells we drill will vary depending on the commodity price environment, the amount of funds we have available for drilling,
the cost of each well, the size of the fractional working interests we acquire in each well, the estimated recoverable reserves
attributable to each well and the accessibility to the well site.

The following table summarizes our approximate gross and net interest in development wells completed during the year
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, regardless of when drilling was initiated. The information should not be
considered indicative of future performance, nor should it be assumed that there is necessarily any correlation between the
number of productive wells drilled, quantities of reserves found or economic value.

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Gross wells:
Productive 30.0 33.0 9.0
Dry — — —
Total 30.0 33.0 9.0
Net wells:
Productive 6.3 3.8 2.6
Dry — — —
Total 6.3 3.8 2.6

As of December 31, 2018, we were not participating in the drilling of any development wells.

We did not drill any exploratory wells during the seven months ended December 31, 2018. The Predecessor did not drill
any exploratory wells during the five months ended May 31, 2018 or the years ended December 31, 2017 or 2016.

Well Operations

We have entered into operating agreements with EnerVest. Under these operating agreements, EnerVest acts as contract
operator of the oil and natural gas wells and related gathering systems and production facilities in which we own an interest,
provided that our interest entitles us to control the appointment of the operator of the well, gathering system or production
facilities. As contract operator, EnerVest designs and manages the drilling and completion of our wells and manages the day
to day operating and maintenance activities for our wells.

Under these operating agreements, EnerVest has established a joint account for each well in which we have an interest.
We are required to pay our working interest share of amounts charged to the joint account. The joint account is charged with
all direct expenses incurred in the operation of our wells and related gathering systems and production facilities. The
determination of which direct expenses can be charged to the joint account and the manner of charging direct expenses to the
joint account for our wells is done in accordance with the Council of Petroleum Accountants Societies (“COPAS™) model
form of accounting procedure.

Under the COPAS model form, direct expenses include the costs of third party services performed on our properties and
wells, as well as gathering and other equipment used on our properties. In addition, direct expenses include the allocable
share of the cost of services performed on our properties and wells by EnerVest employees. The allocation of the cost of
EnerVest employees who perform services on our properties is based on time sheets maintained by EnerVest’s employees.
Direct expenses charged to the joint account also include an amount determined by EnerVest to be the fair rental value of
facilities owned by EnerVest and used in the operation of our properties.
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Principal Customers, Marketing Arrangements and Delivery Commitments

The market for our oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids production depends on factors beyond our control, including
the extent of domestic production and imports of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, the proximity and capacity of natural
gas pipelines and other transportation facilities, the demand for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, the marketing of
competitive fuels and the effect of state and federal regulation. The oil and natural gas industry also competes with other
industries in supplying the energy and fuel requirements of industrial, commercial and individual consumers.

Our oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids production is sold to a variety of purchasers. The terms of sale under the
majority of existing contracts are short—term, usually one year or less in duration. The prices received for oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids sales are generally tied to monthly or daily indices as quoted in industry publications.

During 2018, Energy Transfer Operating, L.P. accounted for 15.5% of consolidated oil, natural gas and natural gas
liquids revenues. In 2017, Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. and EnLink Midstream Partners, L.P. accounted for 15.5% and
11.0%, respectively, of the Predecessor’s consolidated oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues. In 2016, Energy
Transfer Partners, L.P., EnLink Midstream Partners, L.P. and Ergon Oil Purchasing, Inc. accounted for 18.5%, 13.4% and
10.4%, respectively, of the Predecessor’s consolidated oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues. We believe that the
loss of a major customer would have a temporary effect on our revenues but that over time, we would be able to replace our
major customers.

Information regarding our delivery commitments is contained in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Contractual Obligations” contained herein.

Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is highly competitive. We encounter strong competition from other independent
operators and from major oil and natural gas companies in acquiring properties, contracting for drilling equipment and
securing trained personnel. Many of these competitors have financial and technical resources and staffs substantially larger
than ours. As a result, our competitors may be able to pay more for desirable leases, or to evaluate, bid for and purchase a
greater number of properties or prospects than our financial or personnel resources will permit.

We are also affected by competition for drilling rigs and the availability of related equipment. In the past, the oil and
natural gas industry has experienced shortages of drilling rigs, equipment, pipe and personnel, which have delayed
development drilling and other exploitation activities and have caused significant price increases. We are unable to predict
when, or if, such shortages may occur or how they would affect our development and exploitation program.

Competition is also strong for attractive oil and natural gas producing properties, undeveloped leases and drilling rights,
and there can be no assurances that we will be able to compete satisfactorily when attempting to make further acquisitions.

Seasonal Nature of Business

Seasonal weather conditions and lease stipulations can limit our drilling and producing activities and other operations
primarily in certain areas of the Appalachian Basin, the San Juan Basin and Michigan. As a result, we generally perform the
majority of our drilling in these areas during the summer and autumn months. In addition, the Monroe Field properties in
Louisiana are subject to flooding. These seasonal anomalies can pose challenges for meeting our drilling objectives and
increase competition for equipment, supplies and personnel during the drilling season, which could lead to shortages and
increased costs or delay our operations. Generally demand for natural gas is higher in summer and winter months. In
addition, certain natural gas users utilize natural gas storage facilities and purchase some of their anticipated winter natural
gas requirements during off-peak months. This can also lessen seasonal demand fluctuations.
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Environmental, Health and Safety Matters and Regulation

Our operations are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local laws and regulations that govern the health
and safety aspects of our operations and protection of the environment, as well as the discharge of materials into the
environment. These laws and regulations may, among other things:

require the acquisition of various permits before drilling commences;

require the installation of pollution control equipment in connection with operations and place other conditions on
our operations;

place restrictions or regulations upon the use or disposal of the material utilized in our operations;

restrict the types, quantities and concentrations of various substances that can be released into the environment or
used in connection with drilling, production and transportation activities;

limit or prohibit drilling activities on lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas;
govern gathering, transportation and marketing of oil and natural gas and pipeline and facilities construction;

require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former and ongoing operations, such as site restoration, pit
closure and plugging of abandoned wells; and

require the expenditure of significant amounts in connection with worker health and safety.

These laws, rules and regulations may also restrict the rate of oil and natural gas production below the rate that would
otherwise be possible. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases the cost of doing business in the
industry and consequently affects profitability. Additionally, Congress and federal, state and local agencies frequently revise
environmental laws and regulations, and such changes could result in increased costs for environmental compliance, such as
waste handling, permitting, or cleanup for the oil and natural gas industry and could have a significant impact on our
operating costs. In general, the oil and natural gas industry has recently been the subject of increased legislation and
regulatory attention with respect to environmental matters. In early 2017, the US Environmental Protection Agency (the
“EPA”) identified environmental compliance by the energy extraction sector as one of its enforcement initiatives for
fiscal years 2018 and 2019; however, in 2019, the EPA proposed to transition its focus to significant public health and
environmental problems without regard to sector. Even if regulatory burdens temporarily ease, the historic trend of more
expansive and stricter environmental regulation may continue for the long term.

The following is a summary of some of the existing laws, rules and regulations to which our business operations are
subject.

6RIGDQG+ O DUERXV: DM+ DQGEIQ)]

The federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and comparable state statutes regulate the generation,
transportation, treatment, storage, disposal and cleanup of hazardous solid waste. Although oil and natural gas waste
generally is exempt from regulations as hazardous waste under RCRA, we generate waste as a routine part of our operations
that may be subject to RCRA. Although a substantial amount of the waste generated in our operations are regulated as non—
hazardous solid waste rather than hazardous waste, there is no guarantee that the EPA or individual states will not adopt more
stringent requirements for the handling of non-hazardous or exempt waste or categorize some non-hazardous or exempt
waste as hazardous in the future. For example, following the filing of a lawsuit in the US District Court for the District of
Columbia in May 2016 by several non-governmental environmental groups against the EPA for the agency’s failure to timely
assess its RCRA Subtitle D criteria regulations for oil and gas wastes, the EPA and the environmental groups entered into an
agreement that was finalized in a consent decree issued by the District Court on December 28, 2016. Under the consent
decree, the EPA is required to propose no later than March 15, 2019, a rulemaking for revision of certain Subtitle D criteria
regulations pertaining to oil and gas wastes or sign a determination that revision
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of the regulations is not necessary. If the EPA proposes a rulemaking for revised oil and gas waste regulations, the consent
decree requires that the EPA take final action following notice and comment rulemaking no later than July 15, 2021. Non-
exempt waste is subject to more rigorous and costly disposal requirements. Any such change could result in an increase in
our costs to manage and dispose of waste, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
financial position.

&RP SHKHMYH( QVURQP HAICE HSRQVH &RP SHODINRQDQG/ IDHLMVS PV

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) imposes joint and several
liability for costs of investigation and remediation and for natural resource damages without regard to fault or legality of the
original conduct, on certain classes of persons with respect to the release into the environment of substances designated under
CERCLA as “hazardous substances.” These classes of persons, or so—called potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”) include
the current and past owners or operators of a site where the release occurred and anyone who disposed or arranged for the
disposal of a hazardous substance found at the site. CERCLA also authorizes the EPA and, in some instances, third parties to
take actions in response to threats to public health or the environment and to seek to recover from PRPs the costs of such
action. Many states have adopted comparable or more stringent state statutes.

Although CERCLA generally exempts “petroleum” from the definition of hazardous substance, in the course of our
operations, we have generated and will generate wastes that may fall within CERCLA’s definition of hazardous substance
and may have disposed of these wastes at disposal sites owned and operated by others. Comparable state statutes may not
provide a comparable exemption for petroleum. We may also be the owner or operator of sites on which hazardous
substances have been released. In the event contamination is discovered at a site on which we are or have been an owner or
operator or to which we sent hazardous substances, we could be liable for the costs of investigation and remediation and
natural resources damages.

We currently own, lease, or operate numerous properties that have been used for oil and natural gas exploration and
production for many years. Although we believe we have utilized operating and waste disposal practices that were standard
in the industry at the time, hazardous substances, wastes or hydrocarbons may have been released on or under the properties
owned or leased by us, or on or under other locations, including offsite locations, where such substances have been taken for
disposal. In addition, some of these properties have been operated by third parties or by previous owners or operators whose
treatment and disposal of hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons were not under our control. These properties and the
substances disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and analogous state laws. Under such laws, we
could be required to remediate property, including groundwater, containing or impacted by previously disposed wastes
(including wastes disposed or released by prior owners or operators, or property contamination, including groundwater
contamination by prior owners or operators) or to perform remedial plugging operations to prevent future or mitigate existing
contamination.

&®DQ: DMJSFWV

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act (the “Clean Water Act”) and analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict
controls with respect to the discharge of pollutants, including discharges, spills and leaks of produced water and other oil and
natural gas wastes, into state waters and waters of the United States. The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is
prohibited, except in accordance with the terms of a permit issued by the EPA or an analogous state agency. The Clean Water
Act also prohibits the discharge of dredge and fill material in regulated waters, including wetlands, unless authorized by a
permit issued by the US Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps”). In June 2015, the EPA issued a final rule revising its
definition of “waters of the United States.” Litigation surrounding this rule is ongoing and the rule was stayed nationwide by
the US Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals in October 2015. In January 2018, the US Supreme Court ruled that the rule revising
the definition of the term “waters of the United States” must first be reviewed in federal district courts, which resulted in a
withdrawal of the Sixth Circuit stay. The EPA proposed to repeal the rule and, in January 2018, issued a final rule to delay its
implementation until 2020 to allow time for the EPA to reconsider the definition. Subsequent litigation in the federal district
courts has resulted in patchwork application of the rule in some states (e.g. Pennsylvania), but not others (e.g. Texas,
Louisiana). In December 2018, the EPA and the Corps issued a proposed rule revising the definition of “waters of the United
States” that would provide discrete categories of jurisdictional waters and tests for determining whether a particular
waterbody meets any of those classifications. Several groups have already announced
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their intention to challenge the proposed rule. Federal and state regulatory agencies can impose administrative, civil and
criminal penalties, as well as require remedial or mitigation measures, for non—compliance with discharge permits or other
requirements of the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws and regulations. In the event of an unauthorized discharge of
wastes, we may be liable for penalties and cleanup and response costs.

60H' UCNQJ : DAUS PADQG+\ GIDXAF) DRXUQ)

Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection of water, sand and chemicals under pressure into formations to fracture the
surrounding rock and stimulate production. Hydraulic fracturing activities are typically regulated by state oil and gas
commissions or similar state agencies. Although the federal Safe Drinking Water Act (the “SDWA?™) expressly excludes
regulation of these fracturing activities (except for fracturing activities involving the use of diesel), several federal agencies
have recently conducted investigations or asserted regulatory authority over certain aspects of the process due to public
concerns raised regarding potential impacts of hydraulic fracturing on groundwater quality. These recent developments at the
federal level, as well as at state, regional and local levels, could result in regulation of hydraulic fracturing becoming more
stringent and costly. In December 2016, the EPA released its final report on the potential impacts of hydraulic fracturing on
drinking water resources, concluding that “water cycle” activities associated with hydraulic fracturing may impact drinking
water resources “under some circumstances,” including water withdrawals for fracturing in times or areas of low water
availability; surface spills during the management of fracturing fluids, chemicals or produced water; injection of fracturing
fluids into wells with inadequate mechanical integrity; injection of fracturing fluids directly into groundwater resources;
discharge of inadequately treated fracturing wastewater to surface waters; and disposal or storage of fracturing wastewater in
unlined pits. This report could result in additional regulatory scrutiny that could make it more difficult to perform hydraulic
fracturing and increase our costs of compliance and business.

Legislation was introduced in prior sessions of Congress to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing by
eliminating the current exemption in the SDWA, and, further, to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the fracturing
process, but did not pass. Also, some states and local or regional regulatory bodies have adopted, or are considering adopting,
regulations that could restrict or ban hydraulic fracturing in certain circumstances or that require disclosure of chemicals in
the fracturing fluids. For example, New York has imposed a ban on hydraulic fracturing. Further, Pennsylvania has adopted a
variety of regulations limiting how and where fracturing can be performed, and Wyoming and Texas have adopted legislation
requiring drilling operators conducting hydraulic fracturing activities in that state to publicly disclose the chemicals used in
the fracturing process. States have also considered or adopted other restrictions on drilling and completion operations,
including requirements regarding casing and cementing of wells; testing of nearby water wells; restrictions on access to, and
usage of, water; and restrictions on the type of chemical additives that may be used in hydraulic fracturing operations.
Further, the EPA has published guidance on hydraulic fracturing using diesel. The EPA has also published an effluent limit
guideline final rule prohibiting the discharge of wastewater from onshore unconventional oil and natural gas extraction
facilities to publicly owned wastewater treatment plants. The Bureau of Land Management (the “BLM”) published a final
rule that established new or more stringent standards relating to hydraulic fracturing on federal and American Indian lands
but, in late 2017, the BLM repealed this rule following years of litigation. The rescission of this rule is being challenged by
several environmental groups and states in ongoing litigation.

State and federal regulatory agencies have also recently focused on a possible connection between the operation of
injection wells used for oil and gas wastewater and an observed increase in minor seismic activity and tremors. When caused
by human activity, such events are called induced seismicity. In a few instances, operators of injection wells in the vicinity of
minor seismic events have reduced injection volumes or suspended operations, often voluntarily. Some state regulatory
agencies have modified their regulations to account for induced seismicity. For example, the Texas Railroad Commission
rules allow it to modify, suspend, or terminate a permit based on a determination that the permitted activity is likely to be
contributing to seismic activity. Regulatory agencies are continuing to study possible linkage between injection activity and
induced seismicity.

If new laws or regulations imposing significant restrictions or conditions on hydraulic fracturing activities are adopted in

areas where we conduct business, we could incur substantial compliance costs and such requirements could adversely delay
or restrict our ability to conduct fracturing activities on our assets.
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The primary federal law for oil spill liability is the Oil Pollution Act (“OPA”) which amends and augments oil spill
provisions of the Clean Water Act and imposes certain duties and liabilities on certain “responsible parties” related to the
prevention of oil spills and damages resulting from such spills in or threatening United States waters or adjoining shorelines.
A liable “responsible party” includes the owner or operator of a facility, vessel or pipeline that is a source of an oil discharge
or that poses the substantial threat of discharge, or in the case of offshore facilities, the lessee or permittee of the area in
which a discharging facility is located. OPA assigns joint and several liability, without regard to fault, to each liable party for
oil removal costs and a variety of public and private damages. Although defenses exist to the liability imposed by OPA, they
are limited. In the event of an oil discharge or substantial threat of discharge, we may be liable for costs and damages.
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Our operations are subject to the federal Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and analogous state laws and local ordinances
governing the control of emissions from sources of air pollution. The CAA and analogous state laws require new and
modified sources of air pollutants to obtain permits prior to commencing construction. Major sources of air pollutants are
subject to more stringent, federally imposed requirements including additional permits. Federal and state laws designed to
control hazardous (or toxic) air pollutants, might require installation of additional controls. Administrative enforcement
actions for failure to comply strictly with air pollution regulations or permits are generally resolved by payment of monetary
fines and correction of any identified deficiencies. Alternatively, regulatory agencies could bring lawsuits for civil penalties
or seek injunctive relief, requiring us to forego construction, modification or operation of certain air emission sources.

On April 17, 2012, the EPA issued final rules to subject oil and natural gas production, storage, processing and
transmission operations to regulation under the New Source Performance Standards (“NSPS”) and the National Emission
Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (“NESHAP”) programs under the CAA, and to impose new and amended
requirements under both programs. The EPA rules include NSPS standards for completion of hydraulically fractured natural
gas wells. Since January 1, 2015, operators have been required to capture the natural gas and make it available for use or sale,
which can be done through the use of green completions. The standards are applicable to new hydraulically fractured wells
and also existing wells that are refractured. Further, the finalized regulations also establish specific new requirements,
effective in 2012, for emissions from compressors, controllers, dehydrators, storage tanks, natural gas processing plants and
certain other equipment. These rules may require changes to our operations, including the installation of new equipment to
control emissions. We continuously evaluate the effect of new rules on our business.

The EPA has adopted rules to regulate methane emissions, including, as of June 2016, from new and modified oil and
gas production sources and natural gas processing and transmission sources, and has announced its intention to regulate
methane emissions from existing oil and gas sources. However, in September 2018, the EPA, under the new administration,
did propose amendments to the NSPS Subpart OOOQa standards that would relax the requirements implemented in June
2016. In addition, in April 2018, a coalition of states filed a lawsuit aiming to force EPA to establish guidelines for limiting
methane emissions from existing sources in the oil and natural gas sector; that lawsuit is currently pending. The status of
future regulation remains unclear but if adopted could require changes to our operations, including the installation of new
emission control equipment. Simultaneously with the methane rules, the EPA adopted new rules governing the aggregating of
multiple surface sites into a single-source of air quality permitting purposes, a change which could impact the applicability of
permitting requirement to our operations and subject certain operations to additional regulatory requirements. We
continuously evaluate the effect of these rules on our operations. In late 2016, the BLM adopted a rule governing flaring and
venting on public and tribal lands, which could require additional equipment and emissions controls as well as inspection
requirements. Similar to the EPA rule, in September 2018, the BLM issued a rule that relaxes or rescinds certain requirements
of its November 2016 rule. This rule has been challenged in court by both California and New Mexico and litigation is
ongoing. Additionally, the US House of Representatives passed a resolution under the Congressional Review Act
disapproving the rules; however, the Senate action failed. If allowed to stand, these additional regulations on our air
emissions are likely to result in increased compliance costs and additional operating restrictions on our business.
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Oil and natural gas exploration and production activities on federal lands may be subject to the National Environmental
Policy Act (“NEPA”) which requires federal agencies, including the Department of Interior, to evaluate major agency actions
having the potential to significantly impact the environment. In the course of such evaluations, an agency will prepare an
Environmental Assessment that assesses the potential direct, indirect and cumulative impacts of a proposed project and, if
necessary, will prepare a more detailed Environmental Impact Statement that may be made available for public review and
comment. Depending on the mitigation strategies recommended in the Environmental Assessment or Environmental Impact
Statement, we could incur added costs, which may be significant. Reviews and decisions under NEPA are also subject to
protest or appeal, any or all of which may delay or halt projects. All of our current exploration and production activities, as
well as proposed exploration and development plans, on federal lands require governmental permits that are subject to the
requirements of NEPA. This process has the potential to delay or impose additional conditions upon the development of oil
and natural gas projects.
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More stringent laws and regulations relating to climate change and greenhouse gases (“GHGs”) may be adopted in the
future and could cause us to incur material expenses in complying with them. In the absence of comprehensive federal
legislation on GHG emission control, the EPA attempted to require the permitting of GHG emissions; although the Supreme
Court struck down the permitting requirements, it upheld the EPA’s authority to control GHG emissions when a permit is
required due to emissions of other pollutants. Some states, regions and localities have adopted or have considered programs
to address GHG emissions. In addition, both houses of Congress previously considered legislation to reduce emissions of
greenhouse gases and many states have adopted or considered measures to establish GHG emissions reduction levels, often
involving the planned development of GHG emission inventories and/or GHG cap and trade programs; this legislation was
not passed. Depending on the regulatory reach of new CAA legislation implementing regulations or new EPA and/or state,
regional or local rules restricting the emission of GHGs, we could incur significant costs to control our emissions and comply
with regulatory requirements. In addition, the EPA has adopted a mandatory GHG emissions reporting program which
imposes reporting and monitoring requirements on various industries, including onshore and offshore oil and natural gas
production facilities and onshore oil and natural gas processing, transmission, storage and distribution facilities. Compliance
with these requirements has and is anticipated to require us to make investments in monitoring and recordkeeping equipment.
We do not believe, however, that our compliance with applicable monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting requirements
under the GHG reporting program will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial position. We
began reporting emissions in 2012 for emissions occurring in 2011 and continue to report as required on an annual basis.

The EPA began regulating methane emissions, including from new and modified oil and gas production sources and
natural gas processing and transmission sources. In June 2016, the EPA published the NSPS Subpart OOOOa standards that
require new, modified or reconstructed facilities in the oil and natural gas sector to reduce methane gas and volatile
compound emissions. In September 2018, under the new administration, the EPA proposed amendments that would relax the
requirements of the Subpart OOOOQa standards. In addition, in April 2018, a coalition of states filed a lawsuit aiming to force
the EPA to establish guidelines for limiting methane emissions from existing sources in the oil and natural gas sector; that
lawsuit is currently pending. Simultaneously with the methane rules for new and modified sources, the EPA adopted new
rules governing the aggregating of multiple surface sites into a single-source of air quality permitting purposes, a change
which could impact the applicability of permitting requirement to our operations and subject certain operations to additional
regulatory requirements. We continuously evaluate the effect of these rules on our operations.

On November 18, 2016, the BLM published a final rule that was intended to reduce waste of natural gas from venting,
flaring, and leaks during oil and natural gas production activities on onshore Federal and American Indian leases. Unlike the
somewhat overlapping EPA regulations, which apply to new, modified and reconstructed sources, the BLM’s 2016 rule was
drafted to address existing facilities, including a substantial number of existing wells that are likely to be marginal or low-
producing, including leak detection and repair and other requirements regarding methane emissions. Similar to the EPA rule,
in September 2018, the BLM issued a rule that relaxes or rescinds certain requirements of its November 2016 rule. California
and New Mexico have challenged the rule in ongoing litigation.
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In December 2015, the United States participated in the 21st Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change in Paris, France. The resulting Paris Agreement calls for the parties to undertake “ambitious
efforts” to limit the average global temperature and to conserve and enhance sinks and reservoirs of GHGs. The Paris
Agreement went into effect on November 4, 2016. The Paris Agreement establishes a framework for the parties to cooperate
and report actions to reduce GHG emissions. However, on June 1, 2017, President Trump announced that the United States
would withdraw from the Paris Agreement. The Paris Agreement provides for a four-year exit process beginning when it
took effect in November 2016, which would result in an effective exit date of November 2020. It is not clear what steps the
Trump Administration plans to take to withdraw from the Paris Agreement, whether a new agreement can be negotiated, or
what terms would be included in such an agreement. Restrictions on GHG emissions that may be imposed could adversely
affect the oil and gas industry. The adoption of legislation or regulatory programs to reduce GHG emissions could require us
to incur increased operating costs, such as costs to purchase and operate emissions control systems, to acquire emissions
allowances or comply with new regulatory requirements. Any GHG emissions legislation or regulatory programs applicable
to power plants or refineries could also increase the cost of consuming, and thereby reduce demand for, the oil and natural
gas we produce. Consequently, legislation and regulatory programs to reduce GHG emissions could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Because of the lack of any comprehensive legislative program addressing GHGs, there is a great deal of uncertainty as to
how and when federal regulation of GHGs might take place. Moreover, the federal, regional, state and local regulatory
initiatives also could adversely affect the marketability of the oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids we produce. The impact
of such future programs cannot be predicted, but we do not expect our operations to be affected any differently than other
similarly situated domestic competitors.
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The Endangered Species Act was established to protect endangered and threatened species. Pursuant to that act, if a
species is listed as threatened or endangered, restrictions may be imposed on activities that would harm the species or that
would adversely affect that species’ habitat. Similar protections are offered to migratory birds under the Migratory Bird
Treaty Act. We conduct operations on oil and natural gas leases that have species that are listed and species that could be
listed as threatened or endangered under these laws. The US Fish and Wildlife Service designates the species’ protected
habitat as part of the effort to protect the species. A protected habitat designation or the mere presence of threatened or
endangered species could result in material restrictions to our use of the land and may materially delay or prohibit land access
for oil and natural gas development. It also may adversely impact the value of the affected leases.
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To the extent not preempted by other applicable laws, we are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational
Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”) and comparable state statutes, where applicable. These laws and the implementing
regulations strictly govern the protection of the health and safety of employees. The OSHA hazard communication standard,
the EPA community right—to—know regulations under the Title III of CERCLA and similar state statutes, where applicable,
require that we organize and/or disclose information about hazardous materials used or produced in our operations. We
believe that we are in substantial compliance with these applicable requirements and with other OSHA and comparable state
statute requirements.

We believe that we are in substantial compliance with all existing environmental laws and regulations applicable to our
current operations and that our continued compliance with existing requirements will not have a material adverse impact on
our financial condition and results of operations. We did not incur any material capital expenditures for remediation or
pollution control activities for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. Additionally, we are not aware of any
environmental issues or claims that will require material capital expenditures during 2019 or that will otherwise have a
material impact on our financial position or results of operations in the future. However, we cannot assure you that the
passage of more stringent laws and regulations in the future will not have a negative impact on our business activities,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Other Regulation of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry

The oil and natural gas industry is extensively regulated by numerous federal, state, local and tribal authorities.
Rules and regulations affecting the oil and natural gas industry are under constant review for amendment or expansion, which
could increase the regulatory burden and the potential for financial sanctions for noncompliance. Also, numerous
departments and agencies, both federal and state, are authorized by statute to issue rules and regulations binding on the oil
and natural gas industry and its individual members, some of which carry substantial penalties for failure to comply.
Although the regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases our cost of doing business and, consequently,
affects our profitability, these burdens generally do not affect us any differently or to any greater or lesser extent than they
affect other companies in the industry with similar types, quantities and locations of production.
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Statutes, rules and regulations affecting exploration and production undergo constant review and often are amended,
expanded and reinterpreted, making difficult the prediction of future costs or the impact of regulatory compliance attributable
to new laws and statutes. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases the cost of doing business and,
consequently, affects its profitability. Our drilling and production operations are subject to various types of regulation at the
federal, state and local levels. These types of regulation include requiring permits for the drilling of wells, drilling bonds and
reports concerning operations. Most states and some counties and municipalities in which we operate also regulate one or
more of the following:

the location of wells;

the method of drilling, completing and operating wells;

the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled;
the venting or flaring of natural gas;

the plugging and abandoning of wells;

notice to surface owners and other third parties; and

produced water and disposal of waste water, drilling fluids and other liquids and solids utilized or produced in the
drilling and extraction process.

State and federal regulations are generally intended to prevent waste of oil and natural gas, protect correlative rights to
produce oil and natural gas between owners in a common reservoir or formation, control the amount of oil and natural gas
produced by assigning allowable rates of production and control contamination of the environment. Pipelines and natural gas
plants operated by other companies that provide midstream services to us are also subject to the jurisdiction of various
federal, state and local authorities, which can affect our operations. State laws also regulate the size and shape of drilling and
spacing units or proration units governing the pooling of oil and natural gas properties and impose bonding requirements in
order to drill and operate wells. Some states have taken up consideration of forced pooling. Other states rely on voluntary
pooling of lands and leases.

States generally impose a production, ad valorem or severance tax with respect to the production and sale of oil and
natural gas within their respective jurisdictions. States do not generally regulate wellhead prices or engage in other, similar
direct economic regulation, but there can be no assurance they will not do so in the future.

We do not control the availability of transportation and processing facilities used in the marketing of our production. For

example, we may have to shut-in a productive natural gas well because of a lack of available natural gas gathering or
transportation facilities.
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If we conduct operations on federal, state or Indian oil and natural gas leases, these operations must comply with
numerous regulatory restrictions, including various non—discrimination statutes, royalty and related valuation requirements,
and certain of these operations must be conducted pursuant to certain on-site security regulations and other appropriate
permits issued by the BLM, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement,
Bureau of Indian Affairs, tribal or other appropriate federal, state and/or Indian tribal agencies.

The Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 (the “Mineral Act”) prohibits direct or indirect ownership of any interest in federal
onshore oil and gas leases by a foreign citizen of a country that denies “similar or like privileges” to citizens of the United
States. Such restrictions on citizens of a “non-reciprocal” country include ownership or holding or controlling stock in a
corporation that holds a federal onshore oil and gas lease. If this restriction is violated, the corporation’s lease can be
cancelled in a proceeding instituted by the United States Attorney General. Although the regulations of the BLM (which
administers the Mineral Act) provide for agency designations of non-reciprocal countries, there are presently no such
designations in effect. It is possible that our stockholders may be citizens of foreign countries which at some time in the
future might be determined to be non-reciprocal under the Mineral Act.
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The availability, terms and cost of transportation significantly affect sales of natural gas. The interstate transportation and
sale for resale of natural gas are subject to federal regulation, including regulation of the terms, conditions and rates for
interstate transportation, storage and various other matters, primarily by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(“FERC”). Federal and state regulations govern the price and terms for access to natural gas pipeline transportation. FERC’s
regulations for interstate natural gas transmission in some circumstances may also affect the intrastate transportation of
natural gas. FERC regulates the rates, terms and conditions applicable to the interstate transportation of natural gas by
pipelines under the Natural Gas Act as well as under Section 311 of the Natural Gas Policy Act.

Under FERC’s current regulatory regime, interstate transportation services must be provided on an open-access, non-
discriminatory basis at cost-based rates or at market-based rates if the transportation market at issue is sufficiently
competitive. The FERC-regulated tariffs, under which interstate pipelines provide such open-access transportation service,
contain strict limits on the means by which a shipper releases its pipeline capacity to another potential shipper, which
provisions include FERC’s “shipper-must-have-title” rule. Violations by a shipper (i.e., a pipeline customer) of FERC’s
capacity release rules or shipper-must-have-title rule could subject a shipper to substantial penalties from FERC.

With respect to its regulation of natural gas pipelines under the NGA, FERC has not generally required the applicant for
construction of a new interstate natural gas pipeline to produce evidence of the greenhouse gas emissions of the proposed
pipeline’s customers. In August 2017, the US Circuit Court of Appeals for the DC Circuit issued a decision remanding a
natural gas pipeline certificate application to FERC, which required FERC to revise its environmental impact statement for
the proposed pipeline to take into account GHG carbon emissions from downstream power plants using natural gas
transported by the new pipeline. It is too early to determine the impacts of this Court decision, but it could be significant.

Sales of our oil and natural gas liquids are also affected by the availability, terms and costs of transportation. The rates,
terms, and conditions applicable to the interstate transportation of oil and natural gas liquids by pipelines are regulated by the
FERC under the Interstate Commerce Act (the “ICA”). FERC has implemented a simplified and generally applicable
ratemaking methodology for interstate oil and natural gas liquids pipelines to fulfill the requirements of Title XVIII of the
Energy Policy Act of 1992 comprised of an indexing system to establish ceilings on interstate oil and natural gas liquids
pipeline rates. In addition, FERC issued a declaratory order in November 2017, involving a marketing affiliate of an oil
pipeline, which held that certain arrangements between an oil pipeline and its marketing affiliate would violate the ICA’s
anti-discrimination provisions. FERC held that providing transportation service to affiliates at what is essentially the variable
cost of the movement, while requiring non-affiliated shippers to pay the (higher) filed tariff rate, would violate the ICA.
Rehearing has been sought of this FERC order by various pipelines. It is too recent an event to determine the impact this
FERC order may have on oil pipelines, their marketing affiliates, and the price of oil and other liquids transported by such
pipelines.
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Gathering service, which occurs on pipeline facilities located upstream of FERC-jurisdictional interstate transportation
services, is regulated by the states onshore and in state waters. Depending on changes in the function performed by particular
pipeline facilities, FERC has in the past reclassified certain FERC-jurisdictional transportation facilities as non-jurisdictional
gathering facilities and FERC has reclassified certain non-jurisdictional gathering facilities as FERC-jurisdictional
transportation facilities. Any such changes could result in an increase to our costs of transporting gas to point-of-sale
locations.

The pipelines used to gather and transport natural gas being produced by us are also subject to regulation by the US
Department of Transportation (the “DOT”) under the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968, as amended (“NGPSA”), the
Pipeline Safety Act of 1992, as reauthorized and amended (“Pipeline Safety Act”), and the Pipeline Safety, Regulatory
Certainty, and Job Creation Act of 2011. The DOT Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) has
established a risk—based approach to determine which gathering pipelines are subject to regulation and what safety standards
regulated gathering pipelines must meet. In addition, the PHMSA had initially considered regulations regarding, among other
things, the designation of additional high consequence areas along pipelines, minimum requirements for leak detection
systems, installation of emergency flow restricting devices, and revision of valve spacing requirements. In October 2015, the
PHMSA issued proposed new safety regulations for hazardous liquid pipelines, including a requirement that all hazardous
liquid pipelines have a system for detecting leaks and that operators establish a timeline for inspections of affected pipelines
following extreme weather events or natural disasters. If such revisions to gathering line regulations and liquids pipelines
regulations are enacted by the PHMSA, we could incur significant expenses.

Transportation of our oil, natural gas liquids and purity components (ethane, propane, butane, iso—butane, and natural
gasoline) by rail is also subject to regulation by the DOT’s PHMSA and the DOT’s Federal Railroad Administration (“FRA™)
under the Hazardous Materials Regulations at 49 CFR Parts 171-180 (“HMR?”), including Emergency Orders by the FRA and
new regulations being proposed by the PHMSA, arising due to the consequences of train accidents and the increase in the rail
transportation of flammable liquids.

Although natural gas sales prices are currently unregulated, Congress historically has been active in the area of natural
gas regulation. We cannot predict whether new legislation to regulate natural gas might be proposed, what proposals, if any,
might actually be enacted by Congress or the various state legislatures, and what effect, if any, the proposals might have on
the operations of the underlying properties. Sales of oil and natural gas liquids are not currently regulated and are made at
market prices.
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The federal government has recently ended its decades-old prohibition of exports of oil produced in the lower 48 states
of the US. The general perception in the industry is that ending the prohibition of exports of oil produced in the US will be
positive for producers of US oil. In addition, the US Department of Energy (the “DOE”) authorizes exports of natural gas,
including exports of natural gas by pipelines connecting US natural gas production to pipelines in Mexico, which are
expected to increase significantly with the changes taking place in the Mexican government’s regulations of the energy sector
in Mexico. In addition, the DOE authorizes the export of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) through LNG export facilities, the
construction of which are regulated by FERC. In the third quarter of 2016, the first quantities of natural gas produced in the
lower 48 states of the US were exported as LNG from the first of several LNG export facilities being developed and
constructed in the US Gulf Coast region. While it is too recent an event to determine the impact this change may have on our
operations or our sales of natural gas, the perception in the industry is that this will be a positive development for producers
of US natural gas.
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Most of our oil and natural gas properties are subject to hydraulic fracturing to economically develop the properties. The
hydraulic fracturing process is integral to our drilling and completion costs in these areas and typically represent up to 60%
of the total drilling/completion costs per well.

We diligently review best practices and industry standards, and comply with all regulatory requirements in the protection

of these potable water sources. Protective practices include, but are not limited to, setting multiple strings of
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protection pipe across the potable water sources and cementing these pipes from setting depth to surface, continuously
monitoring the hydraulic fracturing process in real time, and disposing of all non—commercially produced fluids in certified
disposal wells at depths below the potable water sources.

In compliance with laws enacted in various states, we will disclose hydraulic fracturing data to the appropriate chemical
registry. These laws generally require disclosure for each chemical ingredient that is subject to the requirements of OSHA
regulations, as well as the total volume of water used in the hydraulic fracturing treatment.

There have not been any material incidents, citations or suits related to our hydraulic fracturing activities involving
violations of environmental laws and regulations.
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In addition to the regulation of oil and natural gas pipeline transportation rates, the oil and natural gas industry generally
is subject to compliance with various other federal, state and local regulations and laws. Some of those laws relate to
occupational safety, resource conservation and equal employment opportunity. We do not believe that compliance with these
laws will have a material adverse effect upon our stockholders.

Insurance

In accordance with industry practice, we maintain insurance against some, but not all, of the operating risks to which our
business is exposed. We currently have insurance policies that include coverage for control of well, general liability (includes
sudden and accidental pollution), physical damage to our oil and gas natural properties, auto liability, worker’s compensation
and employer’s liability, among other things.

Currently, we have general liability insurance coverage up to $1.0 million per occurrence, which includes sudden and
accidental environmental liability coverage for the effects of pollution on third parties arising from our operations. Our
insurance policies contain maximum policy limits and in most cases, deductibles that must be met prior to recovery. These
insurance policies are subject to certain customary exclusions and limitations. In addition, we maintain $100.0 million in
excess liability coverage, which is in addition to and triggered if the general liability per occurrence limit is reached.

We do not currently have any insurance policies in effect that are intended to provide coverage for losses solely related
to hydraulic fracturing operations. However, we believe our general liability and excess liability insurance policies would
cover third party claims related to hydraulic fracturing operations and associated legal expenses, in accordance with, and
subject to, the terms of such policies.

We re—evaluate the purchase of insurance, coverage limits and deductibles annually. Future insurance coverage for the
oil and natural gas industry could increase in cost and may include higher deductibles or retentions. In addition, some forms
of insurance may become unavailable in the future or unavailable on terms that are economically acceptable. No assurance
can be given that we will be able to maintain insurance in the future at rates that we consider reasonable, and we may elect to
self—insure or maintain only catastrophic coverage for certain risks in the future.

Employees
As of December 31, 2018, we have five full-time employees, none of which are field personnel. We are not a party to
any collective bargaining agreements and have not experienced any strikes or work stoppages. We consider our relations with

our employees to be satisfactory.

Our operations are primarily carried out by EnerVest pursuant to the Services Agreement.
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Offices

We do not have any material owned or leased property (other than our interests in oil and gas properties). Under our

Services Agreement, EnerVest provides us office space for our executive officers and other employees at EnerVest’s offices
in Houston, Texas.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, are made available free of charge on
our website at www.hvstog.com as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports have been electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. Our website also includes our Code of Business Conduct and the charters of our audit committee and
compensation committee. No information from our website is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
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Risks Related to our Emergence from Bankruptcy
» HUHAHQ® HP HIHGIURP BEDONKSIR ZKIFK P D DGHIHD D THRARXUBEXMCHA DQG UHDMRQWKLSY
It is possible that our having filed for bankruptcy and our recent emergence from bankruptcy may adversely affect our

business and relationships with customers, vendors, royalty or working interest owners, contractors, employees or suppliers.
Due to uncertainties, many risks exist, including the following:

key suppliers, vendors or other contract counterparties may terminate their relationships with us or require
additional financial assurances or enhanced performance from us;

our ability to renew existing contracts and compete for new business may be adversely affected;
our ability to attract, motivate and/or retain key executives may be adversely affected; and

competitors may take business away from us, and our ability to attract and retain customers may be negatively
impacted.

The occurrence of one or more of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our operations, financial

condition and reputation. We cannot assure you that having been subject to bankruptcy protection will not adversely affect
our operations in the future.
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In connection with the disclosure statement we filed with the Bankruptcy Court, and the hearing to consider confirmation
of the Plan, we prepared projected financial information to demonstrate to the Bankruptcy Court the
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feasibility of the Plan and our ability to continue operations upon our emergence from bankruptcy. Those projections were
prepared solely for the purpose of bankruptcy proceedings and have not been, and will not be, updated on an ongoing basis
and should not be relied upon by investors. At the time they were prepared, the projections reflected numerous assumptions
concerning our anticipated future performance with respect to prevailing and anticipated market and economic conditions
that were and remain beyond our control and that may not materialize. Projections are inherently subject to substantial and
numerous uncertainties and to a wide variety of significant business, economic and competitive risks and the assumptions
underlying the projections and/or valuation estimates may prove to be wrong in material respects. Actual results may vary
significantly from those contemplated by the projections. As a result, investors should not rely on these projections.

In addition, upon our emergence from bankruptcy, we adopted fresh start accounting. Accordingly, our future financial
conditions and results of operations may not be comparable to the financial condition or results of operations reflected in the
Predecessor’s historical financial statements. The lack of comparable historical financial information may discourage
investors from purchasing our common stock.

8 SRORXUHP HJHJAHILRP EDQNXSIB. WHARP SRUMRQR RXUERDLGR QLHARY FKDQIH\IQULFDQW®

Pursuant to the Plan, the composition of our board of directors changed significantly. Upon emergence, our board of
directors consists of five directors, only one of whom, our President and Chief Executive Officer, previously served on the
board of directors of the Predecessor. The new directors have different backgrounds, experiences and perspectives from those
individuals who previously served on our board of directors and, thus, may have different views on the issues that will
determine our future. As a result, the future strategy and our plans may differ materially from those of the past.

Risks Related to our Business

210 @DMIPOJDV DQG QDMUIBOJDY @rXIe/ SURHY DUH KUIKO YRDWH DQG KDYH GHRICHS MIQULADQW® 1Q UHRHOM HOW/
" FAUHAHG SUFHY FDQ MJ QU LFDQW® DQG DOHIHD DN THRARXUBEXMCHW 1 LCDQADOFRQAWRQ LHXAVR RSHIDIRQY DQG FDWK
IGZVIRP RSHDIRQYY
Our revenue, profitability, cash flow and future rate of growth depend upon the prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas

liquids. Prices for these commodities have been depressed when compared with historical prices prior to the second half of
2014, and the prices we receive for our production are volatile. For example, oil and natural gas commodity prices declined
significantly in the fourth quarter of 2018, with the posted price for West Texas Intermediate oil falling to a low of $44.48 per
barrel in December 2018 as compared to the quarter-high of $76.40 in October 2018. Prices for oil, natural gas and natural
gas liquids may fluctuate widely in response to relatively minor changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a
variety of additional factors that are beyond our control, such as:

the domestic and foreign supply of and demand for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids;

the amount of added production from development of unconventional natural gas reserves;

the price and quantity of foreign imports of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids;

the level of consumer product demand;

weather conditions;

the value of the US dollar relative to the currencies of other countries;

market uncertainty and overall domestic and global economic conditions;

political and economic conditions and events in foreign oil and natural gas producing countries, including

embargoes, continued hostilities in the Middle East and other sustained military campaigns, conditions in South
America, China and Russia, and acts of terrorism or sabotage;
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the increasing exports of oil produced in the US and natural gas produced in the US from LNG liquefaction
facilities;

the ability of members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and maintain oil price and
production controls;

technological advances affecting energy production and consumption;
domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxation;

the impact of energy conservation efforts and the increasing use of renewable sources of energy such as wind energy
and solar photovoltaic energy;

the capacity of the US and international refiners to utilize US supplies of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids;
the proximity and capacity of natural gas pipelines and other transportation facilities to our production; and
the price and availability of alternative fuels.

A drop in commodity prices can significantly affect our financial results and cash flows and impede our growth. The
ways in which such price decreases could have a material negative effect on our business include:

a significant decrease in the number of wells we drill on our acreage, thereby reducing our production and cash
flows;

a reduction in cash flow, which would decrease funds available to repay current or future indebtedness or for capital
expenditures employed to replace reserves and maintain or increase production;

access to sources of capital, such as equity or long-term debt markets, could be severely limited or unavailable; and
a reduction in the borrowing base of our credit facility.

In addition, changes in prices have a significant impact on the value of our reserves, and lower prices may reduce the
amount of oil, natural gas or natural gas liquids that we can economically produce. This may result in our having to make
substantial downward adjustments to our estimated proved reserves. If this occurs, or if our estimates of development costs
increase, production data factors change or drilling results deteriorate, accounting rules may require us to write down, as a
non—cash charge to earnings, the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties for impairments. An impairment charge
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which it is recorded. We are required to
perform impairment tests on our assets whenever events or changes in circumstances lead to a reduction of the estimated
useful life or estimated future cash flows that would indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or whenever
management’s plans change with respect to those assets. For example, we expect to record an impairment charge related to
our pending sale of our properties in the San Juan Basin.

7KHWP VR RXULQGEWEHW LOFXGH URNIIRNRQY DQG | LADCHDORRYHDQW \KDAWP D LHAIRARXU EXMQHW DQG | LQDQAQ]
DAY

The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our financing agreements may restrict our ability to finance
operations or capital needs or to engage, expand or pursue our business activities. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Our future ability to comply
with these restrictions and covenants is uncertain and will be affected by the levels of cash flow from our operations and
other events or circumstances beyond our control. If market or other economic conditions deteriorate, our ability to comply
with these covenants may be impaired. If we violate any provisions of such financing agreements that are not
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cured or waived within the appropriate time periods provided therein, a significant portion of our indebtedness may become
immediately due and payable and our lenders’ commitment to make further loans to us may terminate. We might not have, or
be able to obtain, sufficient funds to make these accelerated payments. In addition, our obligations under our credit facility
are secured by substantially all of our assets, and if we are unable to repay our indebtedness under our credit facility, the
lenders could seek to foreclose on our assets.

The terms and conditions governing our indebtedness:

depending on the amount of outstanding indebtedness, could require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash
flow from operations to service our existing debt, thereby reducing the cash available to finance our operations and
other business activities and could limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and the
industry in which we operate;

increase our vulnerability to economic downturns and adverse developments in our business;

limit our ability to access the capital markets to raise capital on favorable terms or to obtain additional financing for
working capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions or to refinance existing indebtedness;

place restrictions on our ability to obtain additional financing, make investments, lease equipment, sell assets and
engage in business combinations;

place us at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors with lower levels of indebtedness in relation to their
overall size or less restrictive terms governing their indebtedness;

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under our debt and increase the risk that we may default on
our debt obligations; and

limit management’s discretion in operating our business.

2 XUGLGHY SHIRARD® UHGHMP LCHWH DP RXQAZHP D BRUIRZ XQGHJRXURHAWDHOW ZKIFK PD P DMIDD P SDRV
RXURSHDWRQV

Our credit facility allows us to borrow in an amount up to the borrowing base, which is primarily based on the estimated
value of our oil and natural gas properties and our commodity derivative contracts as determined semi-annually by our
lenders in their sole discretion. The borrowing base is subject to redetermination on at least a semi-annual basis primarily
based on an engineering report with respect to our estimated natural gas, oil and natural gas liquids reserves, which takes into
account the prevailing natural gas, oil and natural gas liquids prices at such time, as adjusted for the impact of our commodity
derivative contracts. Accordingly, declining commodity prices may have an impact on the amount we can borrow, which
could affect our cash flows and ability to execute on our business plans. Any reduction in the borrowing base would
materially and adversely affect our business and financing activities, limit our flexibility and management’s discretion in
operating our business, and increase the risk that we may default on our debt obligations. In addition, as hedges expire, the
borrowing base is subject to further reduction. Our credit facility requires us to repay any deficiency over a certain period or
pledge additional oil and gas properties to eliminate such deficiency, which we are required to do within 30 days of electing
to do so. If our outstanding borrowings exceed the borrowing base and we are unable to repay the deficiency or pledge
additional oil and gas properties to eliminate such deficiency, our failure to repay any of the installments due related to the
borrowing base deficiency would constitute an event of default under the credit facility and as such, the lenders could declare
all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable, could freeze our accounts, or foreclose against the assets securing
the obligations owed under the credit facility.

: HP D QRAEHCEAI\WR JHHDMHRXIK FOWK 1GZ R P HFHARXUG-BWREQI DINRQV DQG P D EHI RIAHG R INH RKHJ DRNRQV R
DI RXUGHBEWREDI DNRQVWDANP D QRABH\XFRHM XO

We have historically funded our operations, including our operating and capital expenditures, our debt service
obligations and our acquisitions primarily through cash generated from operations, amounts available under our credit
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facility and equity and debt offerings. Our future cash flows are subject to a number of variables, including oil and natural
gas prices, and due to the steep decline in commodity prices, our ability to obtain funding in the equity or capital markets has
been, and will continue to be, constrained, and there can be no assurances that our liquidity requirements will continue to be
satisfied given current commodity prices. If our sources of liquidity are not sufficient to fund our current or future liquidity
needs, including as a result of a decrease in the borrowing base under our credit facility, we may be required to take other
actions, including those actions discussed below.

We expect our earnings and cash flow to vary significantly from year to year due to the cyclical nature of our industry.
As a result, the amount of debt that we can service in some periods may not be appropriate for us in other periods. Moreover,
and subject to certain limitations, we may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. Additionally, our
future cash flow may be insufficient to meet our debt obligations and commitments. Any insufficiency could negatively
impact our business. A range of economic, competitive, business and industry factors will affect our future financial
performance, and, as a result, our ability to generate cash flow from operations and to pay our debt. Many of these factors,
such as oil and natural gas prices, economic and financial conditions in our industry and the global economy or competitive
initiatives of our competitors, are beyond our control.

If we do not generate enough cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt obligations, we may have to undertake
alternative strategic actions or financing plans, such as:

refinancing or restructuring debt;

selling assets;

reducing or delaying capital investments;
seeking to raise additional capital;

liquidating all or a portion of our hedge portfolio;
seeking additional partners to develop our assets;
reducing our planned capital program;

continuing to take, and potentially increasing, our cost saving measures to reduce costs, including renegotiation
contracts with contractors, suppliers and service providers, reducing the number of staff and contractors and
deferring and eliminating discretionary costs; or

revising or delaying our other strategic plans.

We continually monitor the capital markets and our capital structure and may make changes to our capital structure from
time to time, with the goal of maintaining financial flexibility, preserving or improving liquidity, strengthening our balance
sheet, meeting our debt service obligations and/or achieving cost efficiency. Our ability to restructure or refinance our
indebtedness will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of
our indebtedness could cause us to incur high transaction costs, may be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply
with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of existing or future debt
instruments, including our credit facility, may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. In addition, any failure to
make payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction
of our credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness. In the absence of sufficient cash flows and
capital resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or
operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. Our debt instruments restrict our ability to dispose of assets and our
use of the proceeds from such disposition. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions, and the proceeds of any
such disposition may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.
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We can provide no assurances that any alternative strategic action or financing plan undertaken will be successful in
allowing us to meet our debt obligations or will result in additional liquidity. Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to
satisfy our debt obligations or to obtain alternative financing could materially and adversely affect our ability to make
payments on our indebtedness and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

2 XU YDUDE® UDMLQG-EWEIHN KEMPN XV AR LOMHXDMUM - Z KLFK FRX@S FDXVHRXUGHEWHYEH REQ) DINRQV\R LQFUDH
\LIQULEDQ®

Borrowings under our credit facility bear interest at variable rates and expose us to interest rate risk. If interest rates
increase and we are unable to effectively hedge our interest rate risk, our debt service obligations on the variable rate
indebtedness would increase even if the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income would decrease. See “Item
7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Interest Price Risk” included in Part II of this annual
report for further information regarding interest rate sensitivity.

" HAW RXU EXUHOABM-DR  LQGBWMECHY ZH P D MMDEH DEG! W LORXU \KBEMBQID® P RH G-BW 7KLY FRX@ | XUKHY
H DAHEDW\WH UMY DWRADMS Z W RXULQG-BEWECHY

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future, subject to certain
limitations, including under our credit facility. If new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now
face could increase. Our level of indebtedness could, for instance, prevent us from engaging in transactions that might
otherwise be beneficial to us or from making desirable capital expenditures. This could put us at a competitive disadvantage
relative to other less leveraged competitors that have more cash flow to devote to their operations. In addition, the incurrence
of additional indebtedness could make it more difficult to satisfy our existing financial obligations.

2 XULCDELOW\R [ LCDQRH\WHGHYHERSP HOAR RXUSLRSHIMAY | XWWUHR CDQG QDXUDQ) Dv' SUFHGHRIQHY DQGRKHUI DRRLYP D
UHXOVQ DEAMRCDCY UMM GRZ QVR RAUDWHRDUY LQJ YDOH/

Accounting rules require us to write down, as a non—cash charge to earnings, the carrying value of our oil and natural gas
properties in the event we have impairments. We are required to perform impairment tests on our assets periodically and
whenever events or changes in circumstances warrant a review of our assets. To the extent such tests indicate a reduction of
the estimated useful life or estimated future cash flows of our assets, the carrying value may not be recoverable and therefore
requires a write—down. An impairment charge could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period
in which it is recorded. During the seven months ended December 31, 2018, we recorded impairment charges of
approximately $3.1 million, which were related to properties located in Central Texas and Karnes County, Texas that were
sold during August 2018. We expect to record an impairment charge in connection with the sale of our properties in the San
Juan Basin during the first quarter of 2019. We may incur additional impairment charges in the future, particularly if
commodity prices significantly decrease.

3 URYHGE XQEHYHBSHS U GFDWRQV DUH \XVAHSWER R XCRHIBLONAY \KDWARX@ P DD DEMJMWH RARXULHFH RUMP LQ)
R WHUGI@QJ DQGUHXONVQ RKDQIHARWHDP RXQAR RXUSLIRHG XQAHHBSHG IHHIHY

Our ability to drill and develop these locations depends on a number of uncertainties, including the availability of capital,
construction of infrastructure, inclement weather, regulatory changes and approvals, oil and natural gas prices, costs, drilling
results and the availability of water. We cannot be certain in advance of drilling and testing whether any particular drilling
location will yield oil or natural gas in sufficient quantities to recover drilling or completion costs or to be economically
viable. As a result, we do not know with certainty if these locations we have identified will ever be drilled or if we will be
able to produce oil or natural gas from these or any other potential drilling locations. As such, our actual drilling activities
may materially differ from those presently identified, which could adversely affect our business.

The recovery of PUDs requires significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations. We can provide no
assurances that we will have the ability to finance these future expenditures, whether development will occur as scheduled or
that the results of such development will be as estimated. In addition, delays in the development could force us to reclassify
certain of our proved reserves as unproved reserves. Further, the decision of the operators to develop the PUDs
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attributable to our properties that EnerVest does not operate will be subject to the business plans and constraints of the
operators of these properties, and be beyond our control.

: HG-BHUGRQ ( GHLOHWAR SLRVGH XV VHYLEH/ GHRHADL R RSH.DM RXUEXMGQHN DQG \KEWBQMD®D DR RXUSURSHUY | |
( GHOHMZ HH XCQDE®! RUXQZ LAIQ) R SURVLGH \WHH VHUYLEHY IWWZ RX@S LRXONQ GMXSIRY LQ RXUBXMCHN ZKIFK FRX@

KDYHDQ DGHYHH | HAWRQ RXUDE DNV R VHIMFH RXUG-BEWREQI DWRQV

Under the Services Agreement, EnerVest provides services to us such as accounting, human resources, office space,
digital infrastructure and other administrative services. If EnerVest were to become unable or unwilling to provide these
services, we would need to develop these services internally or arrange for the services from another service provider.
Developing the capabilities internally or by retaining another service provider could have an adverse effect on our business,
and the services, when developed or retained, may not be of the same quality as provided to us by EnerVest.

EnerVest also operates a substantial amount of our properties pursuant to the Services Agreement. As of December 31,
2018, EnerVest operated oil and natural gas properties representing 92% of our proved oil and gas reserves and also had an
economic interest in some of our properties. However, on February 1, 2019, operatorship of certain properties was transferred
to a third party as a result of an EnerVest transaction. As a result, EnerVest now operates oil and gas properties representing
approximately 53% of our proved oil and gas reserves. Our limited control over the operations related to our properties
operated by EnerVest is set forth in our Services Agreement. The success and timing of drilling and development activities on
the properties operated by EnerVest depends on a number of factors that will be largely outside of our control.

Prior to the Restructuring, EnerVest and its affiliates had a significant economic interest in the Predecessor through its
71.25% ownership of the Predecessor’s general partner which, in turn, owned a 2% general partnership interest in the
Predecessor and all of its incentive distribution rights. In connection with the Restructuring, the Predecessor’s general partner
was dissolved and EnerVest no longer has an economic interest in us. As a result, our interests may not be aligned or could be
in conflict with EnerVest’s interests.

;. HRXUHQ® RZ Q LOMHAVLO RODQG QDMUDO) DV SURSHINAVIQ Z KIFK SDUGHIKLSVP DQIHGE! ( GHOHXMIORRZ QDQ
LOMHIV, | \WH( QGHORXNEDIZHIKLSVHPRAR HIDKHULQM KO \WHHSURSHINMY Z HZ RXESRZ Q D P LCRUMW QM HXNQ \WH
SIRSHIWY DQG( GHOHIP D GRH\KHDELOUW\R RSHDIM\KH SURSHIMY/

We own interests in oil and natural gas properties in which partnerships managed by EnerVest also own interests. These
properties are primarily in the Barnett Shale and Appalachian Basin, and these properties represented approximately 57% of
our estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2018. If the EnerVest partnerships were to sell their interest in those
properties in which we own less than a majority working interest to an entity not affiliated with EnerVest, our working
interest would not be large enough that we could control the selection of the operator and EnerVest may lose the ability to
operate the properties on our behalf. Loss of operations would mean that EnerVest would no longer control decisions
regarding the development and production of those properties, and any replacement operator could make decisions regarding
development or production activities that make it difficult to implement our strategy.

2 XUKHILQ WDOVLRNRQY P D @P MRXUJOQY  LHXAOMQ 1LDCADOGRIHY RU FRX@ UHEXFH RXU QHAIQRRP H ZKIFK PD
DOHIHD D T HRRXUCEOW R VHIMFHRXUG-BNREDQ] DINRQV DQGH  SRHXVR FRXQMSDUNY RHAWIMN

We enter into derivative contracts from time to time to manage our exposure to fluctuations in oil, natural gas and natural
gas liquids prices, to achieve more predictable cash flows and to reduce our exposure to fluctuations in the prices of oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids. The prices at which we hedge our production in the future will be dependent upon
commodity prices at the time we enter into these transactions, which may be substantially higher or lower than current oil and
natural gas prices. Accordingly, these derivative contracts limit our potential gains if prices rise above the fixed prices
established by the derivative contracts. These derivative contracts may also expose us to other risks of financial losses; for
example, if our production is less than we anticipated at the time we entered into the derivatives contract, we might be forced
to satisfy all or a portion of our hedging obligations without the benefit of the cash flows from our sale of the underlying
physical commodity, resulting in a substantial diminution of our liquidity.
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During periods of falling commodity prices, our derivative contracts expose us to risk of financial loss if the
counterparty to the derivative contract fails to perform its obligations under the derivative contract (e.g., our counterparty
fails to perform its obligation to make payments to us under the derivative contract when the market (floating) price under
such derivative contract falls below the specified fixed price). To mitigate counterparty credit risk, we conduct our hedging
activities with financial institutions who are lenders under our credit facility. Disruptions in the financial markets could lead
to sudden changes in a counterparty’s liquidity, which could impair their ability to perform under the terms of the derivative
contract. We are unable to predict sudden changes in a counterparty’s creditworthiness or ability to perform. Even if we do
accurately predict sudden changes, our ability to negate the risk may be limited depending upon market conditions. If the
creditworthiness of our counterparties deteriorates and results in their nonperformance, we could incur a significant loss.

Our policy has been to hedge a significant portion of our near—term estimated production. However, we are not under an
obligation to hedge a specific portion of our production except that our credit facility requires us to hedge no less than 70%
of our projected production volumes (excluding projected production volumes from certain properties) for the 18-month
period following the Effective Date. As of December 31, 2018, we have commodity contracts covering approximately 68%
of our estimated production attributable to our net proved reserves from January 2019 through December 2020. Accordingly,
our price hedging strategy may not protect us from significant declines in oil and natural gas prices received for our future
production. Conversely, our hedging strategy may limit our ability to realize cash flows from commodity price increases.

2 XU@P W5 DCEHOW R KHZ HRXUQDMUDQ] DV @rXLGY SURGXRNRQ FRX@ DGYHIHD 1P SERNRXUCHADWK SIRMGHGE. RSHDIY
CRAMMWAY DG UIHXAVR RSHDIWRQY

A liquid, readily available and commercially viable market for hedging natural gas liquids has not developed in the same
way that exists for oil and natural gas. The current direct natural gas liquids hedging market is constrained in terms of price,
volume, duration and number of counterparties, which may limit our ability to hedge our natural gas liquids production
effectively. As a result, our net cash provided by operating activities and results of operations could be adversely impacted by
fluctuations in the market prices for natural gas liquids.

7KHDERSWNRQ R GHIYDIRYHY GI MIWNRQ DG UHI XMWRQY UHDMS VR GHIYDWYH FRQADRW FRX@ KDYH DQ DGYHIHLP SDCRNRQ RXU
DHOWV R KHZHUMY DARADMS Z W RUBXMCHY

Title VII of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) establishes
federal oversight and regulation of over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives and requires the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (the “CFTC”) and the SEC to enact further regulations affecting derivative contracts, including the derivative
contracts we use to hedge our exposure to price volatility through the OTC market. Although the CFTC and the SEC have
issued final regulations in certain areas, final rules in other areas and the scope of relevant definitions and/or exemptions still
remain to be finalized.

In one of its rulemaking proceedings still pending under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFTC issued on December 5, 2016, a
re-proposed rule imposing position limits for certain futures and option contracts in various commodities (including crude oil
and natural gas) and for swaps that are their economic equivalents. Under the proposed rules on position limits, certain types
of hedging transactions are exempt from these limits on the size of positions that may be held, provided that such hedging
transactions satisfy the CFTC’s requirements for certain enumerated “bona fide hedging” transactions or positions. A final
rule has not yet been issued. Similarly, on December 2, 2016, the CFTC has re-issued a proposed rule regarding the capital a
swap dealer or major swap participant is required to set aside with respect to its swap business, but the CFTC has not yet
issued a final rule.

The CFTC issued a final rule on margin requirements for uncleared swap transactions on January 6, 2016, which
includes an exemption from any requirement to post margin to secure uncleared swap transactions entered into by
commercial end-users in order to hedge commercial risks affecting their business. In addition, the CFTC has issued a final
rule authorizing an exemption from the otherwise applicable mandatory obligation to clear certain types of swap transactions
through a derivatives clearing organization and to trade such swaps on a regulated exchange, which exemption applies to
swap transactions entered into by commercial end-users in order to hedge commercial risks affecting their
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business. The mandatory clearing requirement currently applies only to certain interest rate swaps and credit default swaps,
but the CFTC could act to impose mandatory clearing requirements for other types of swap transactions. The Dodd-Frank
Act also imposes recordkeeping and reporting obligations on counterparties to swap transactions and other regulatory
compliance obligations.

All of the above regulations could increase the costs to us of entering into financial derivative transactions to hedge or
mitigate our exposure to commodity price volatility and other commercial risks affecting our business. While it is not
possible at this time to predict when the CFTC will issue final rules applicable to position limits or capital requirements,
depending on our ability to satisfy the CFTC’s requirements for a commercial end-user using swaps to hedge or mitigate our
commercial risks, these rules and regulations may require us to comply with position limits and with certain clearing and
trade-execution requirements in connection with our financial derivative activities. When a final rule on capital requirements
for swap dealers is issued, the Dodd-Frank Act may require our current swap dealer counterparties to post additional capital
as a result of entering into uncleared financial derivatives with us, which capital requirements rule could increase the costs to
us of future financial derivatives transactions. The Volcker Rule provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act may also require our
current bank counterparties that engage in financial derivative transactions to spin off some of their derivatives activities to
separate entities, which separate entities may not be as creditworthy as the current bank counterparties. Under such rules,
other bank counterparties may cease their current business as hedge providers. These changes could reduce the liquidity of
the financial derivatives markets thereby reducing the ability of entities like us, as commercial end-users, to have access to
financial derivatives to hedge or mitigate our exposure to commodity price volatility.

As a result, the Dodd-Frank Act and any new regulations issued thereunder could significantly increase the cost of
derivative contracts (including through requirements to post cash collateral), which could adversely affect our capital
available for other commercial operations purposes, materially alter the terms of future swaps relative to the terms of our
existing bilaterally negotiated financial derivative contracts and reduce the availability of derivatives to protect against
commercial risks we encounter.

If we reduce our use of derivative contracts as a result of the new requirements, our results of operations may become
more volatile and cash flows less predictable, which could adversely affect our ability to plan for and fund capital
expenditures. Finally, the legislation was intended, in part, to reduce the volatility of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids
prices, which some legislators attributed to speculative trading in derivatives and commodity instruments related to oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids. Our revenues could therefore be adversely affected if a consequence of the legislation and
regulations is to lower commodity prices. Any of these consequences could have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

6KRX@ ZHIDOWR FRP SO Z W DDSSTFDEG WE K®Y UHIXOWRQY DQG RGHYDEP IOMMHS B WHE&) 7& RU) (5&
Z HFRX@ BEH\XBVRAR \XBEWRQNDOSH DAY DG LCH/

Under the Energy Policy Act of 2005, FERC has been given greater civil penalty authority under the Natural Gas Act
(“NGA?”), including the ability to impose penalties of up to $1 million per day for each violation and disgorgement of profits
associated with any violation. While our operations have not been regulated by FERC as a natural gas company under the
NGA, FERC has adopted regulations that may subject certain of our otherwise non-FERC jurisdictional operations to FERC
annual reporting and posting requirements. We also must comply with the anti-market manipulation rules enforced by FERC
under the NGA. Under the Commodity Exchange Act (as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act) and regulations promulgated
thereunder by the CFTC, the CFTC has also adopted anti-market manipulation, fraud and market disruption rules relating to
the prices of commodities, futures contracts, options on futures, and swaps. Additional rules and legislation pertaining to
those and other matters may be considered or adopted by Congress, the FERC, or the CFTC from time to time. Failure to
comply with those statutes, regulations, rules and orders could subject us to civil penalty liability.

7 KH@WWHAHG T LODCADCARQAMRQVR FXWRP HY FRX@ KDYH DQ DGYHIH LP SDRNRQ XV1LQ WWH HYHQVWKHH PXWIRP HYDUH
XQEBIWRSD XVI RIMHSIRGXFWVRINHMA Z HSLRIGH

Some of our customers may experience, in the future, severe financial problems that have had or may have a significant
impact on their creditworthiness. We cannot provide assurance that one or more of our financially distressed customers
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will not default on their obligations to us or that such a default or defaults will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position, future results of operations or future cash flows. Furthermore, the bankruptcy of one or more of
our customers, or some other similar proceeding or liquidity constraint, might make it unlikely that we would be able to
collect all or a significant portion of amounts owed by the distressed entity or entities. In addition, such events might force
such customers to reduce or curtail their future use of our products and services, which could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition.

: HP D EHVXEMRAR UMVLQ ARQGHANRD Z 1\ QYRR

In 2018, we completed divestitures of several of our assets and we have additional divestitures pending, as discussed in
“Item 1. Business—Overview—Recent Developments,” in accordance with our ongoing review of our asset base in order to
maximize shareholder value. Various factors could materially affect our ability to dispose of such assets, including the
approvals of governmental agencies or third parties and the availability of purchasers willing to acquire the assets on terms
we deem acceptable. Though we continue to evaluate various options for the divestiture of such assets, there can be no
assurance that this evaluation will result in any specific action.

Sellers often retain certain liabilities or agree to indemnify buyers for certain matters related to the sold assets. The
magnitude of any such retained liability or of the indemnification obligation is difficult to quantify at the time of the
transaction and ultimately could be material. Also, as is typical in divestiture transactions, third parties may be unwilling to
release us from guarantees or other credit support provided prior to the sale of the divested assets. As a result, after a
divestiture, we may remain secondarily liable for the obligations guaranteed or supported to the extent that the buyer of the
assets fails to perform these obligations.

8 QW ZHUBDAH WH URHYHY Z H SUIRGXAH RXU URYHXHY DQG SURGKRNRQ Z LOOGHICH ZKIFK Z RX@ DGHIHD D IHRARXU
FOWK IGZVIRP RSHDINRQY DG RXULH MW R VHIMFHRXUG-EWREQI DINRQY

Producing reservoirs are characterized by declining production rates that vary depending upon reservoir characteristics
and other factors. Our decline rate may change when we drill additional wells, make acquisitions or under other
circumstances. Our future cash flows and income are highly dependent on our success in efficiently developing and
exploiting our current reserves and economically finding or acquiring additional recoverable reserves. We may not be able to
develop, find or acquire additional reserves to replace our current and future production at acceptable costs, which would
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Factors that may hinder our ability to acquire
additional reserves include competition, access to capital, prevailing oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids prices and the
number and attractiveness of properties for sale.

2 XU R DG URHIYH TXDOQIMWY DQG 1 XWAUH SIRGARNRQ DY DUH BEDVHG RQ PDQ DWXP SWRQV \WDAP D SLRYH R EH
LQDARXWDM $ Q- P DIMUIDOLCERRXUIAHY 1Q \WHAH UHVHYH HXIYP D RUWH XQAHOLQ) DXXP SWRQV Z L@P DMIDD DI 1 HAWKH
TXDQWWY DG SIHHINDOHR RUWIRHIHY

Numerous uncertainties are inherent in estimating quantities of our reserves. Our estimates of our net proved reserve
quantities are based upon reports from Cawley Gillespie and Wright, independent petroleum engineering firms used by us.
The process of estimating oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves is complex, requiring significant decisions and
assumptions in the evaluation of available geological, engineering and economic data for each reservoir, and these reports
rely upon various assumptions, including assumptions regarding future oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids prices,
production levels, and operating and development costs. As a result, estimated quantities of proved reserves and projections
of future production rates and the timing of development expenditures may prove to be inaccurate. Over time, we may make
material changes to reserve estimates taking into account the results of actual drilling and production. Any significant
variance in our assumptions and actual results could greatly affect our estimates of reserves, the economically recoverable
quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids attributable to any particular group of properties, the classifications of
reserves based on risk of recovery, and estimates of the future net cash flows. In addition, our wells are characterized by low
production rates per well. As a result, changes in future production costs assumptions could have a significant effect on our
proved reserve quantities.
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The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows of our estimated net proved reserves is not necessarily the
same as the current market value of our estimated net proved reserves. We base the discounted future net cash flows from our
estimated net proved reserves on average prices for the 12 months preceding the date of the estimate. Actual prices received
for production and actual costs of such production will be different than these assumptions, perhaps materially.

The timing of both our production and our incurrence of expenses in connection with the development and production of
our properties will affect the timing of actual future net cash flows from proved reserves, and thus their actual present value.
In addition, the 10% discount factor we use when calculating discounted future net cash flows may not be the most
appropriate discount factor based on interest rates in effect from time to time and risks associated with us or the oil and
natural gas industry in general. Any material inaccuracy in our reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially
affect the quantities and present value of our reserves which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

2 XU [ XUMUH GHYHESP HOARSHIDARQY P Dy UHTXLLH \XEWBQUWDOFDEMIOH SHOGWUHY © HP D\ BH XQDE®! \R REIQ GHHEHG
FDSMICRUILCDQAQ) RQVDIY DRRLY WPV Z KLFK FRX@ BDG VR D GHRICHLQ RXUSURGXRNRQ DQG URHIYH/

The oil and natural gas industry is capital intensive. We may make substantial capital expenditures in our business in the
future for the development, production and acquisition of reserves. As part of our exploration and development operations,
we have expanded, and expect to further expand, the application of horizontal drilling and multi-stage hydraulic fracture
stimulation techniques. The utilization of these techniques requires substantially greater capital expenditures as compared to
the drilling of a vertical well, sometimes more than three times the cost. The incremental capital expenditures are the result of
greater measured depths and additional hydraulic fracture stages in horizontal wellbores.

We intend to finance our future capital expenditures primarily with cash flows from operations and borrowings under our
credit facility. In the future, we may also finance such expenditures through the issuance of debt and equity securities. The
incurrence of debt will require that a portion of our cash flows from operations be used for the payment of interest and
principal on our debt, thereby reducing our ability to use cash flows to fund working capital, capital expenditures and
acquisitions. Our cash flows from operations and access to capital are subject to a number of variables, including:

the estimated quantities of our reserves;

the amount of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids we produce from existing wells;
the prices at which we sell our production; and

our ability to acquire, locate and produce new reserves.

If our revenues or the borrowing base under our credit facility decrease as a result of lower commodity prices, operating
difficulties, declines in reserves or for any other reason, we may have limited ability to obtain the capital necessary to sustain
our operations at current levels. Our credit facility may restrict our ability to obtain new financing. If additional capital is
needed, we may not be able to obtain debt or equity financing on terms favorable to us, or at all. If cash generated by
operations or available under our credit facility is not sufficient to meet our capital requirements, the failure to obtain
additional financing could result in a curtailment of our operations relating to development of our prospects, which in turn
could lead to a possible decline in our reserves and production, and could adversely affect our business, results of operation
and financial conditions. In addition, we may lose opportunities to acquire oil and natural gas properties and businesses.

D HUD RQ GYHEBSP HOMAUIAX) W DAWMMOQ P OQMAQ) RXU GYHY R SIRGKANRY 1 RXU GIYHBSP HOAMGUIAQ) LV
XQUXFFHM XO RXUFDWK DYDLDE® I RIVHMA QI RXUGHEWRED] DINRQY DQG | LADCHDCFRQAWRQ Z LOEHDGYHYHD O | HAMS

Part of our business strategy has focused on maintaining or minimizing the decline in production levels by drilling
development wells. Although we were successful in development drilling in the past, we cannot assure you that we will
continue to maintain production levels through development drilling, particularly in the current commodity price

39




Table of Contents

environment. Our drilling involves numerous risks, including the risk that we will not encounter commercially productive oil
or natural gas reservoirs. We must incur significant expenditures to drill and complete wells. Additionally, seismic
technology does not allow us to know conclusively, prior to drilling a well, that oil or natural gas is present or economically
producible. The costs of drilling and completing wells are often uncertain, and it is possible that we will make substantial
expenditures on development drilling and not discover reserves in commercially viable quantities. These expenditures will
reduce cash available for servicing our debt obligations.
Our drilling operations may be curtailed, delayed or cancelled as a result of a variety of factors, including:

unexpected drilling conditions;

facility or equipment failure or accidents;

shortages or delays in the availability of drilling rigs and equipment;

adverse weather conditions;

compliance with environmental and governmental requirements;

title problems;

unusual or unexpected geological formations;

pipeline ruptures;

fires, blowouts, craterings and explosions; and

uncontrollable flows of oil or natural gas or well fluids.

2 XUBXMGQHW VADAD\ LQYRYH/\WH XVH R \WH MWIDYDLDEG! KR RQBOGIA  FRP SBIRQ DQG SURGKAIRY \WAKQREI\
Z KLFK LQYRYH UMY DQGXQRHIBLOWNAYLQ WHUDSSTFDIRD

Our operations involve the use of the latest horizontal drilling, completion and production technologies, as developed by
us and our service providers, in an effort to improve efficiencies in recovery of hydrocarbons. Use of these new technologies
may not prove successful and could result in significant cost overruns or delays or reduction in production, and in extreme
cases, the abandonment of a well. The difficulties we face drilling horizontal wells include:

landing our wellbore in the desired drilling zone;
staying in the desired drilling zone while drilling horizontally through the formation;
running our production casing the entire length of the wellbore; and
running tools and other equipment consistently through the horizontal wellbore.
Difficulties that we face while completing our wells include the following:
designing and executing the optimum fracture stimulation program for a specific target zone;

running tools the entire length of the wellbore during completion operations; and

cleaning out the wellbore after completion of the fracture stimulation.
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In addition, certain of the new techniques we are adopting may cause irregularities or interruptions in production due to
offset wells being shut in and the time required to drill and complete multiple wells before any such wells begin producing.
Furthermore, the application of technology developed in drilling, completing and producing in one productive formation may
not be successful in other prospective formations with little or no horizontal drilling history. If our use of the latest
technologies does not prove successful, our drilling and production results may be less than anticipated or we may experience
cost overruns, delays in obtaining production or abandonment of a well. As a result, the return on our investment will be
adversely affected, we could incur material write-downs of unevaluated properties or undeveloped reserves and the value of
our undeveloped acreage and reserves could decline in the future.

: HFRX@H SHIHFHSHIRG/R KLUIKHJFRWLL RODQG QDAMUDQI DV SUFHY UVH RUDV G DRMW RKHZ VHIQRHDH/IQ
RXUDUDR RSHIDIRYY + LIKHUFRWVARX@ UHSXFHRXUSLR MBELOW FDWK | B DQG CELAMW\R SXUKHRXUGLIAQ) SIRIUP DV

S

Historically, our capital and operating costs typically rise during periods of sustained increasing oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids prices. These cost increases result from a variety of factors beyond our control as drilling activity
increases, such as increases in the cost of electricity, tubular goods, water, sand and other disposable materials used in
fracture stimulation and other raw materials that we and our vendors rely upon; and the cost of services and labor especially
those required in horizontal drilling and completion. Since late 2014, oil and natural gas prices declined substantially
resulting in decreased levels of drilling activity in the US oil and natural gas industry, including in our area of operations.
This led to significantly lower costs of some drilling and completion equipment, services, materials and supplies. As
commodity prices rise or stabilize or drilling activity otherwise increases in our area of operations, these lower cost levels
may not be sustainable over long periods. As a result, such costs may rise, thereby negatively impacting our profitability,
cash flow and causing us to possibly reconfigure or reduce our drilling program. This impact may be magnified to the extent
that our ability to participate in the commodity price increases is limited by our derivative risk management activities.

: HPD BEH XCCE® R ARP SHM HIHARHD ZIW @UHJ FRP SDQHY ZKIFK PD DGHIHD DITHAARXU CHOW \R JHHDM
K LAHNRYHIXH DQG RXUDH W R VHYMFH RXUG-EWREQ] DINRQV

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely competitive, and we compete with other companies that have greater
resources than us. These companies may have a greater ability to continue drilling activities during periods of low prices, to
contract for drilling equipment, to secure trained personnel, and to absorb the burden of present and future federal, state, local
and other laws and regulations. The oil and natural gas industry has periodically experienced shortages of drilling rigs,
equipment, pipe and personnel, which has delayed development drilling and other exploitation activities and has caused
significant price increases. Competition has been strong in hiring experienced personnel, particularly in the accounting and
financial reporting, tax and land departments. Our inability to compete effectively with larger companies could have a
material adverse impact on our business activities, financial condition and results of operations.

2 XUBXMCHYV LV \XBWRNR RSHDWRCDOUMNY \RDWZ LOCRAEH | X@ LOXUHS ZKIFK U \WH ZHHWR RAFXU FRX@ DGHIHD
D HARXUI LCDOADCARQAWRQ RUURXAVR . RSHIDINRQVDQG DV D URXOVRXUCHOW W VHIMFHRXUG-BNREQI DRV

Our business activities are subject to operational risks, including:
damages to equipment caused by adverse weather conditions, including hurricanes and flooding;
facility or equipment malfunctions;
pipeline ruptures or spills;
fires, blowouts, craterings and explosions;

uncontrollable flows of oil or natural gas or well fluids; and
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surface spillage and surface or ground water contamination from petroleum constituents or hydraulic fracturing
chemical additives.

In addition, a portion of our natural gas production is processed to extract natural gas liquids at processing plants that are
owned by others. If these plants were to cease operations for any reason, we would need to arrange for alternative
transportation and processing facilities. These alternative facilities may not be available, which could cause us to shut—in our
natural gas production, or the alternative facilities could be more expensive than the facilities we currently use.

Any of these events could adversely affect our ability to conduct operations or cause substantial losses, including
personal injury or loss of life, damage to or destruction of property, natural resources and equipment, pollution or other
environmental contamination, loss of wells, regulatory penalties, suspension of operations, and attorneys’ fees and other
expenses incurred in the prosecution or defense of litigation.

As is customary in the industry, we maintain insurance against some but not all of these risks. Additionally, we may elect
not to obtain insurance if we believe that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the perceived risks presented.
Losses could therefore occur for uninsurable or uninsured risks or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. The
occurrence of an event that is not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse impact on our business activities,
financial condition, results of operations and ability to service our debt obligations.

2 XUBXMQHN G-BHG/RQ JDKHIQ) DQG FRP SLHMRQ | DAY RZ GHG B\ WILG SO/ DQGWDQSRIBARY | CAOWAY/RZ QHS
B\ WLLG SDUVADQVSRUIAMYDQGZ HUHD RQWLLG SDUNA/R.I DRHUDQG GHIYHURXUR O QDMUDQJ DV DQG QDMUDOI DVATXIOAR
FHABLOQ GHLI QDWG LQAMFRQGHAWZ [\ \WLLG SDUVVADQVSRUAMY $ Q- @P VIMRQ LQ\WWHDYDIDHAMIVR \WRHI DAAOWAYRUGHD
1Q SIRMAQ) [QMARQGHAIRYY\R GHZ O GIABG Z HIY Z RX@ LOMIHH Z W RXU DELAW \R P DUNHAKH RO QDMUDOJIDY DQG
QDMUDQ) DV@NXLG/Z HSURGXFH DQG FRX@ UHBXFHRXULHHOXHY

The marketability of our oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids production depends in part on the availability, proximity
and capacity of pipeline systems owned by third parties in the respective operating areas. The amount of oil and natural gas
that can be produced and sold is subject to curtailment in certain circumstances, such as pipeline interruptions due to
scheduled and unscheduled maintenance, excessive pressure, physical damage to the gathering, compression or transportation
system, or lack of contracted capacity on such systems. The curtailments arising from these and similar circumstances may
last from a few days to several months. In many cases, we are provided only with limited, if any, notice as to when these
circumstances will arise and their duration. In addition, some of our wells are drilled in locations that are not serviced by
gathering and transportation pipelines, or the gathering and transportation pipelines in the area may not have sufficient
capacity to transport the additional production. As a result, we may not be able to sell the oil and natural gas production from
these wells until the necessary gathering and transportation systems are constructed. Any significant curtailment in gathering
system or pipeline capacity, or significant delay in the construction of necessary gathering, compression and transportation
facilities, could reduce our revenues.

7 KHWILLG SDUW/RQ ZKRP ZHUHD |RUIDWHIQ)  FRP SUIHAMRQ DOG WDQWSRIBAMRQ VHMAHY DUH\KBEWPAR FRP SBf | HHIDO
AN DQG RKHJI@Y V DQG UH) XOWRQVWWDNARX@ DEYHIHD Dl HAWKH FRWAMP DQOHURUIF-DMBLMIW R GRQJ EXMOHW

The operations of the third parties on whom we rely for gathering, compression and transportation services are subject to
complex and stringent laws and regulations that require obtaining and maintaining numerous permits, approvals and
certifications from various federal, state and local government authorities. These third parties may incur substantial costs in
order to comply with existing laws and regulations. If existing laws and regulations governing such third-party services are
revised or reinterpreted, or if new laws and regulations become applicable to their operations, these changes may affect the
costs that we pay for such services. Similarly, a failure to comply with such laws and regulations by the third parties on
whom we rely could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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2 XUI LQDQADCFRQAWRQ DQGUHXWR RSHDIMRQVP D EHP DD DOYHYHD DI HAWG L Z HIQRXURRWWDQG QDE DMWY/ GXH
\RDI DOXUHVR FRP SO Z 1 HYLRQP HQBOLHI XOWRQVRUD IHPDHR' KD} DUERXVXEWECRHV QR \KHHMLRGP HOW

We may incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of environmental requirements applicable to the operation of our
wells, gathering systems and other facilities. These costs and liabilities could arise under a wide range of federal, state and
local environmental laws and regulations, including, for example:

the Clean Air Act and comparable state laws and regulations that impose obligations related to emissions of air
pollutants;

the Clean Water Act and comparable state laws and regulations that impose obligations related to discharges of
pollutants into regulated bodies of water;

the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (the “RCRA”), and comparable state laws that impose requirements
for the handling and disposal of waste from our facilities;

the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (the “CERCLA™) and comparable
state laws that regulate the cleanup of hazardous substances that may have been released at properties currently or
previously owned or operated by us or at locations to which we have sent waste for disposal;

the Safe Drinking Water Act (the “SDWA?”) and state or local laws and regulations related to hydraulic fracturing;

the Qil Pollution Act (the “OPA”) which subjects responsible parties to liability for removal costs and damages
arising from an oil spill in federal jurisdictional waters;

the US Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) community right to know regulations under the Title IIT of
CERCLA and similar state statutes that require that we organize and/or disclose information about hazardous
materials used or produced in our operations; and

the Endangered Species Act, which may restrict or prohibit operations in protected areas.

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement
measures, including the assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of remedial requirements, and the issuance of
orders enjoining future operations. Certain environmental statutes, including RCRA, CERCLA, OPA and analogous state
laws and regulations, impose strict joint and several liability for costs required to clean up and restore sites where hazardous
substances or other waste products have been disposed of or otherwise released. More stringent laws and regulations,
including any related to climate change and greenhouse gases, may be adopted in the future. Moreover, it is not uncommon
for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by
the release of hazardous substances or other waste products into the environment.

: HDIH\XBEWMRAR FRP SBf | HIHIDO Wi (GADCDQG RKHU@Y V DQG UR) XMWRQY \KDWHRX@ DOYHIHD D HAWKH FRWAP DQCHU
RUIHDMEHOW R FRQGKRNY] RXURSH DRV

Our operations are subject to complex and stringent laws and regulations, which are continuously being reviewed for
amendment and/or expansion. In order to conduct our operations in compliance with these laws and regulations, we must
obtain and maintain numerous permits, approvals and certificates from various federal, state and local governmental
authorities. Failure or delay in obtaining and maintaining regulatory approvals or drilling permits could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to develop our properties, and receipt of drilling permits with onerous conditions could increase
our compliance costs. In addition, regulations regarding resource conservation practices and the protection of correlative
rights affect our operations by limiting the quantity of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids we may produce and sell.
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We are subject to, and may incur liabilities under, federal, state and local laws and regulations as interpreted and
enforced by governmental authorities possessing jurisdiction over various aspects of the exploration and production of oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids.

For example, several states have enacted Surface Damage Acts (“SDAs”) that are designed to compensate surface
owners/users for damages caused by mineral owners. Most SDAs contain entry notification and negotiation requirements to
facilitate contact between operators and surface owners/users. Most also contain binding requirements for payments by the
operator to surface owners/users in connection with exploration and operating activities. Costs and delays associated with
SDAs could impair operational effectiveness and increase development costs. In addition, many states, including Texas,
impose a production, ad valorem or severance tax with respect to the production and sale of oil and gas within their
jurisdiction.

Other activities subject to regulation are:

the location and spacing of wells;

the method of drilling and completing and operating wells;

the rate and method of production;

the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled and other exploration activities;
notice to surface owners and other third parties;

the venting or flaring of natural gas;

the plugging and abandoning of wells;

the discharge of contaminants into water and the emission of contaminants into air;
the disposal of fluids used or other wastes obtained in connection with operations;
the marketing, transportation and reporting of production; and

the valuation and payment of royalties.

While the cost of compliance with these laws has not been material to our operations in the past, the possibility exists
that new laws, regulations or enforcement policies could be more stringent and significantly increase our compliance costs. If

we are not able to recover the resulting costs through insurance or increased revenues, our ability to service our debt
obligations could be adversely affected.

&Q@P DM FKDQIH GBI DMMWRQ RUUHXONRQYY IRIANY HP DMRQVR JUHKRAMHIDWHY * +* V' FRXG UIRKAONQ LCRUHDVHG
RSHDWI FRWDQG UHEKAHGE G DQGI RUHRO QDMUDQ) DY DQG QDMUDQ) DV X1/ Z HSURGKHH

The EPA requires the reporting of GHG emissions from specified large GHG emission sources, including onshore and
offshore oil and natural gas production facilities and onshore oil and natural gas processing, transmission, storage and
distribution facilities, which may include facilities we operate. We began reporting emissions in 2012 for emissions occurring
in 2011 and continue to report as required on an annual basis.

More stringent laws and regulations relating to climate change and GHGs may be adopted and could cause us to incur
material expenses to comply.

Both houses of Congress previously considered legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs and many states have adopted
or considered measures to reduce GHG emission reduction levels, often involving the planned development of GHG
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emission inventories and/or cap and trade programs. Most of these cap and trade programs work by requiring major sources
of emissions or major producers of fuels to acquire and surrender emission allowances. The adoption and implementation of
any legislation or regulatory programs imposing reporting obligations on, or limiting emissions of GHGs from, our
equipment and operations could require us to incur costs to reduce emissions of GHGs associated with our operations or
could adversely affect demand for the oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids that we produce.

In the absence of comprehensive federal legislation on GHG emission control, the EPA attempted to require the
permitting of GHG emissions; although the Supreme Court struck down the permitting requirements, it upheld EPA’s
authority to control GHG emissions when a permit is required due to emissions of other pollutants. The EPA has adopted
rules to regulate methane emissions, including, as of June 2016, from new and modified oil and gas production sources and
natural gas processing and transmission sources, and has announced its intention to regulate methane emissions from existing
oil and gas sources. However, in September 2018, the EPA, under the new administration, did propose amendments to the
New Source Performance Standards (“NSPS”) Subpart OOOOa standards that would relax the requirements implemented in
June 2016. In addition, in April 2018, a coalition of states filed a lawsuit aiming to force the EPA to establish guidelines for
limiting methane emissions from existing sources in the oil and natural gas sector; that lawsuit is currently pending. In late
2016, the Bureau of Land Management (the “BLM”) adopted a rule governing flaring and venting of methane from existing
wells and other facilities on public and tribal lands, which could require additional equipment and emissions controls as well
as inspection requirements. This rule has been challenged in court by California and New Mexico and litigation is ongoing.
Additionally, the US House of Representatives passed a resolution under the Congressional Review Act disapproving the
rules; however, the Senate action failed.

6LIQULFDQVEK\ IFDCH I HAWR FIP DI FKDQJ HKDYHWH SRMINDOR @P DIHRXUI DALOM/ GMXSWRXUSURGXRANRD DRI
DQGFDXVHXVAR LQRXUMLI QU LFDQAFRWVLO SUHSDUQ] 1 RURJUREROAQ) R\WRHH I HAV

Climate change could have an effect on the severity of weather (including hurricanes and floods), sea levels, the arability
of farmland, and water availability and quality. If such effects were to occur, our exploration and production operations have
the potential to be adversely affected. Potential adverse effects could include damages to our facilities from powerful winds
or rising waters in low lying areas, disruption of our production activities either because of climate-related damages to our
facilities or our costs of operation potentially arising from such climatic effects, less efficient or non—routine operating
practices necessitated by climate effects or increased costs for insurance coverages in the aftermath of such effects.
Significant physical effects of climate change could also have an indirect effect on our financing and operations by disrupting
the transportation or process related services provided by midstream companies, service companies or suppliers with whom
we have a business relationship. We may not be able to recover through insurance some or any of the damages, losses or
costs that may result from potential physical effects of climate change.

) HGHDO®I MIWRQ DOG WM DQG GFDOBI VIMYH DQG U XMWY LQMIDRYHY U] W K\ GDXAF | LIDAXUQ) FRX@ UIHXANQ
LCRHDVHG FRWV DQG DEAWRCDCRSHDIY) UHAMIRNRQYRUGHD) V

Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of hydrocarbons,
particularly natural gas, from dense rock formations. The hydraulic fracturing process involves the injection of water, sand
and chemicals under pressure into the formation to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production. We routinely use
hydraulic fracturing techniques in most of our drilling and completion programs. Hydraulic fracturing is typically regulated
by state oil and natural gas commissions or similar state agencies, but the EPA has asserted federal regulatory authority
pursuant to the SDWA over certain hydraulic fracturing activities involving the use of diesel. In addition, in past sessions,
legislation was introduced before Congress to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing under the SDWA and to
require disclosure of the chemicals used in the fracturing process. At the state level, some states, including Pennsylvania,
Louisiana and Texas, where we operate, have adopted, and other states are considering adopting, requirements that could
impose more stringent permitting, public disclosure or well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing activities
including restrictions on drilling and completion operations, including requirements regarding casing and cementing of wells;
testing of nearby water wells; restrictions on access to, and usage of, water; and restrictions on the type of chemical additives
that may be used in hydraulic fracturing operations. Additionally, some states, localities and local regulatory districts have
adopted or have considered adopting regulations to limit, and in some cases impose a moratorium on, hydraulic fracturing. In
the event that new or more stringent federal, state, or local legal restrictions relating to the hydraulic fracturing process are
adopted in areas where we operate, we could incur potentially significant added
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costs to comply with such requirements, experience delays or curtailment in the pursuit of exploration, development, or
production activities, and perhaps even be precluded from drilling wells.

In addition, certain governmental reviews are either underway or being proposed that focus on environmental aspects of
hydraulic fracturing practices. The EPA previously issued a final rule revising its definition of the term “waters of the United
States.” The US Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals issued a nationwide stay that was later withdrawn by the US Supreme Court
ruling in January 2018. In December 2018, the EPA and the US Army Corps of Engineers issued a proposed rule revising the
definition. The ultimate interpretation by the EPA of the term “waters of the United States” may constitute an expansion of
federal jurisdiction over certain bodies of water. Litigation surrounding the initial rule is ongoing and several groups have
already announced their intentions to challenge the recent proposed rule. Further, the EPA has published guidance on
hydraulic fracturing using diesel and also published an effluent limit guideline final rule prohibiting the discharge of
wastewater from onshore unconventional oil and natural gas extraction facilities to publicly owned wastewater treatment
plants. The ongoing scrutiny of hydraulic fracturing, depending on the degree of pursuit and any meaningful results obtained,
could result in further regulation of hydraulic fracturing under the federal SDWA or other regulatory programs.

: HDWH QRZ \XEMAWR UHIXOMRQ XQGHU 1636 DQG 1 DARQDO ( P LWIRQ 6\BQAUGY [RU + O DUERXV $1U 3RDAIQN
1(6+$3 SRIDPV ZKIFK FRXG URKOQ LORHDHGRSHDIY) FRIWV

On April 17, 2012, the EPA issued final rules that subject oil and natural gas production, processing, transmission and
storage operations to regulation under the NSPS and the NESHAP programs. The EPA rules include NSPS standards for
completions of hydraulically fractured natural gas wells. Beginning January 1, 2015, operators must capture the natural gas
and make it available for use or sale, which can be done through the use of green completions. The standards are applicable
to newly fractured wells and also existing wells that are refractured. Further, the finalized regulations also establish specific
new requirements, effective in 2012, for emissions from compressors, controllers, dehydrators, storage tanks, natural gas
processing plants and certain other equipment. These rules may require changes to our operations, including the installation
of new equipment to control emissions. We continuously evaluate the effect of new rules on our business.

: HP D\ HOFRXQMJREMBFGBY\R P DUNHY RXURO QDMUDOJ DV DQG QDMUDQI DV ATXIG/ Z KLFK. FRX@ DEHIHD LP SCRARXU
URYHOXHY

The marketability of our production will depend in part upon the availability and capacity of natural gas gathering
systems, pipelines and other transportation facilities owned by third parties. Transportation space on the gathering systems
and pipelines we utilize is occasionally limited or unavailable due to repairs or improvements to facilities or due to space
being utilized by other companies that have priority transportation agreements. Our access to transportation options can also
be affected by US federal and state regulation of oil and natural gas production and transportation, general economic
conditions and changes in supply and demand. The availability of markets is beyond our control. If market factors
dramatically change, the impact on our revenues could be substantial and could adversely affect our ability to produce and
market oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids, the value of our securities and our ability to service our debt obligations.

: HPD H SHIHFHD WP SRIDY GHRICH LOQ URYHXHY DQG SURXKRNRQ UL ZHARVHRGHR RXUMJI QU LFDQARXVRP HY/

To the extent any significant customer reduces the volume of its oil or natural gas purchases from us, we could
experience a temporary interruption in sales of, or a lower price for, our production and our revenues which could adversely
affect our ability to service our debt obligations.

: HP D LIORPXUNXEWBQADOGEWOQ WWH I XWUH R HDE®T XV \R P DLQMLQ RULQRUIHOVH RXU SURGXRINRQ GYHY DOG W RKHZ [VH
SXUXHRXUBEXMCHN SDQ

Our business requires a significant amount of capital expenditures to maintain and grow production levels. Commodity
prices have historically been volatile, and we cannot predict the prices we will receive in the future. If prices were to decline
for an extended period of time, if the costs of our operations were to increase substantially, or if other events were
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to occur which reduced our revenues or increased our costs, we may be required to borrow significant amounts in the future
to enable us to finance the expenditures necessary to replace the reserves we produce.

2 LODQG JDV H SRIDIRY DQG SLRGXANRY DAY DUH ARP SBY DQG LOYROHY UMWY \WDAFRX@ BDG \R G DOSURFHHEQIV
UHXANY L QWHLOPXUHIHR \KEMBQADOICEMMNY

Like many oil and gas companies, we are from time to time involved in various legal and other proceedings in the
ordinary course our business, such as title, royalty or contractual disputes, regulatory compliance matters and personal injury
or property damage matters, in the ordinary course of our business. Such legal proceedings are inherently uncertain and their
results cannot be predicted. Regardless of the outcome, such proceedings could have an adverse impact on us because of
legal costs, diversion of management and other personnel and other factors. In addition, it is possible that a resolution of one
or more such proceedings could result in liability, penalties or sanctions, as well as judgments, consent decrees or orders
requiring a change in our business practices, which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and
financial condition. Accruals for such liabilities, penalties or sanctions may be insufficient, and judgments and estimates to
determine accruals or range of losses related to legal and other proceedings could change from one period to the next, and
such changes could be material.

/ RWR RXULQ RIP DINRQ DQGFRP SXWUM WP VVFRX@ DGYHIHD Dl HRARXUBEXMQHW

We are heavily dependent on our information systems and computer based programs, including our well operations
information, seismic data, electronic data processing and accounting data. If any of such programs or systems were to fail or
create erroneous information in our hardware or software network infrastructure, possible consequences include our loss of
communication links, inability to find, produce, process and sell oil and natural gas and inability to automatically process
commercial transactions or engage in similar automated or computerized business activities. Any such consequence could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

$ R BHULQAGHWARX@ RO LA RUP DINRQ WH WA FRUKSWRQ RSHDINRQDOAMXSWRQ DQG RUI LCDQADORW

The oil and gas industry has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies to conduct day-to-day operations
including certain exploration, development and production activities. For example, software programs are used to interpret
seismic data, manage drilling rigs, production equipment and gathering and transportation systems, conduct reservoir
modeling and reserves estimation, and for compliance reporting. The use of mobile communication devices has increased
rapidly. Industrial control systems such as SCADA (supervisory control and data acquisition) now control large scale
processes that can include multiple sites and long distances, such as power generation and transmission, communications and
oil and gas pipelines.

We depend on digital technology, including information systems and related infrastructure as well as cloud applications
and services, all of which is managed by EnerVest pursuant to the Services Agreement, to process and record financial and
operating data, communicate with our employees, vendors and service providers, analyze seismic and drilling information,
estimate quantities of oil and gas reserves as well as other activities related to our business. Our vendors, service providers,
purchasers of our production, and financial institutions, are also dependent on digital technology. The technologies needed to
conduct oil and gas exploration and development activities and global competition for oil and gas resources make certain
information the target of theft or misappropriation.

As dependence on digital technologies has increased, cyber incidents, including deliberate attacks or unintentional
events, also have increased. A cyber attack could include gaining unauthorized access to digital systems for purposes of
misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption, or result in denial-of-
service on websites. SCADA-based systems are potentially vulnerable to targeted cyber attacks due to their critical role in
operations.

Our technologies, systems, networks, and those of our vendors and service providers may become the target of cyber
attacks or information security breaches that could result in the unauthorized release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss or
destruction of proprietary and other information, or other disruption of our business operations. In addition, certain cyber
incidents, such as surveillance, may remain undetected for an extended period.
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A cyber incident involving our information systems and related infrastructure, or that of our vendors and service
providers, could disrupt our business plans and negatively impact our operations in the following ways, among others:

unauthorized access to seismic data, reserves information or other sensitive or proprietary information could have a
negative impact on our ability to compete for oil and gas resources;

data corruption, communication interruption, or other operational disruption during drilling activities could result in
failure to reach the intended target or a drilling incident;

data corruption or operational disruption of production infrastructure could result in loss of production, or accidental
discharge;

a cyber attack on a vendor or service provider could result in supply chain disruptions which could delay or halt a
development project, effectively delaying the start of cash flows from the project;

a cyber attack on a third party gathering or pipeline service provider could prevent us from marketing our
production, resulting in a loss of revenues;

a cyber attack involving commodities exchanges or financial institutions could slow or halt commodities trading,
thus preventing us from marketing our production or engaging in hedging activities, resulting in a loss of revenues;

a cyber attack on a communications network or power grid could cause operational disruption resulting in loss of
revenues;

a deliberate corruption of our financial or operational data could result in events of non-compliance which could
lead to regulatory fines or penalties; and

business interruptions could result in expensive remediation efforts, distraction of management, damage to our
reputation, or a negative impact on the price of our common stock.

Our implementation of various controls and processes to monitor and mitigate security threats and to increase security
for our information, facilities and infrastructure is costly and labor intensive. Moreover, there can be no assurance that such
measures will be sufficient to prevent security breaches from occurring. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be
required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate
and remediate any information security vulnerabilities.

Risks Relating to our Common Stock

: HKDYH QRAKIMRUFDED SDIG AYIGHIGY RQ RXUFRP P RQ WRAN DQG FROVHNXHRQ®  RXUMBRNKRTHY/ RQD RSSRUMQW W
DAKLHYH D UHMXUQ RQ WHULOYHXR HOAVLL WHSUFHR RXUMBAN DESUIHADIMY/

We have not historically paid dividends on our common stock. Consequently, unless our board of directors authorizes the
payment of dividends in the future, our stockholders’ only opportunity to achieve a return on their investment in us will be if
the market price of our common stock appreciates, which may not occur, and the stockholders sell their shares at a profit.
There is no guarantee that the price of our common stock will ever exceed the price that the stockholders paid.

7KHHP D BHRURXP QA 1Q Z KIFK WHIQMHAVR - RXUM.] QL LFDQAXRANKRTEHY FRX@ BHLQ FRQ TRAZ W \KHLOMRIVR
RXURKHJMBANKR@HY/

Certain of our stockholders own a significant portion of our outstanding common stock. As of December 31, 2018, funds

associated with Finepoint Capital LP and FS Investments collectively owned approximately 47% of our outstanding stock
and as of September 7, 2018, CQS (UK) LLP owned approximately 15% of our outstanding stock. Circumstances
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may arise in which these stockholders may have an interest in pursuing or preventing acquisitions, divestitures or other
transactions, including the issuance of additional shares or debt, that, in their judgment, could enhance their investment in the
Company. Such transactions might adversely affect us or other holders of our common stock.

2 XUMJ QU LFDQWARQAHMDIRQR \KDIHRZ GHIKLS P D DGHIHD Dl HAAKHWDAQ) SUFHR RXUFRP P RQWRAN

As of December 31, 2018, funds associated with Finepoint Capital LP and FS Investments collectively owned
approximately 47% of our outstanding stock and as of September 7, 2018, CQS (UK) LLP owned approximately 15% of our
outstanding stock, and Finepoint Capital LP and FS Investments each have a representative on our board of directors. Our
significant concentration of share ownership may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock because of the lack
of trading volume in our stock and because investors may perceive disadvantages in owning shares in companies with
significant stockholders.

: HKDYHH SHIHRHS UHFHQAWRDWDY LQ \WH P DUNHABUFHDQGWDAQ) YRXP HR' RXUFRP P RQ WRAN DQG P D FRQIMOXH\R
R\RLQWHI XVUH

The trading price of shares of our common stock has fluctuated widely and in the future may be subject to similar
fluctuations. The trading price of our common stock may be affected by a number of factors, including the volatility of oil,
natural gas, and natural gas liquids prices, our operating results, changes in our earnings estimates, additions or departures of
key personnel, our financial condition and liquidity, drilling activities, legislative and regulatory changes, general conditions
in the oil and natural gas exploration and development industry, general economic conditions, and general conditions in the
securities markets. In particular, a significant or extended decline in oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids prices could have
a material adverse effect our sales price of our common stock. Other risks described in this annual report could also
materially and adversely affect our share price.

Although our common stock is listed on the OTCQX U.S. Premier Marketplace, we cannot assure you that an active
public market will continue for our common stock or that will be able to continue to meet the listing requirements of the
OTCQX U.S. Premier Marketplace. If an active public market for our common stock does not continue, the trading price and
liquidity of our common stock will be materially and adversely affected. If there is a thin trading market or “float” for our
stock, the market price for our common stock may fluctuate significantly more than the stock market as a whole. Without a
large float, our common stock would be less liquid than the stock of companies with broader public ownership and, as a
result, the trading prices of our common stock may be more volatile. In addition, in the absence of an active public trading
market, investors may be unable to liquidate their investment in us.

7KHHLYD@P MEWDAEQ) P DUNANVRURXUVHRXUMHY DQG\WWHP DUNHABUFHR - RXUVHRXUMHY LV \XBERVAR YRODWDNY

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the common units of the Predecessor were canceled and we issued new common
stock. The market price of the new common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to, and the level of
trading that develops with the new common stock may be affected by, numerous factors, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include, among other things, our new capital structure as a result of the transactions contemplated by
the reorganization plan, our limited trading history subsequent to our emergence from bankruptcy, our limited trading
volume, the concentration of holdings of our new common stock, the lack of comparable historical financial information due
to our adoption of fresh-start accounting, actual or anticipated variations in our operating results and cash flow, the nature and
content of our earnings releases, announcements or events that impact our products, customers, competitors or markets,
business conditions in our markets and the general state of the securities markets and the market for energy-related stocks, as
well as general economic and market conditions and other factors that may affect our future results.

2 XURHWIFDMAR LIFRERIDINRQ DGR @V DVZHTDY' HIY DHQY.  FRABLO SUIRVMMRQVWDNARX@ GMVARXUDI HDFTXIMMRQ
BHO/RUP HIHJSIRSRDY HHQ L \XRK DFTXMMRQ RUP HIHUP D BHLQ RUMKINKRTHY  BRANOQM HAV

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval. If
our board of directors elects to issue preferred stock, it could be more difficult for a third party to acquire us. In addition,
some provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control
of us, even if the change of control would be beneficial to our stockholders, including:
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advance notice provisions for stockholder proposals and nominations for elections to the board of directors to be
acted upon at meetings of stockholders; and

limitations on the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings or act by written consent.

Delaware law prohibits us from engaging in any business combination with any “interested stockholder,” meaning
generally that a stockholder who beneficially owns more than 15% of our stock cannot acquire us for a period of three years
from the date this person became an interested stockholder, unless various conditions are met, such as approval of the
transaction by our board of directors.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Information regarding our properties is contained in “Item 1. Business — Overview,” “Item 1. Business — Qil and
Natural Gas Producing Activities” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Results of Operations” contained herein.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in disputes or legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe the outcome of
such disputes or legal actions will have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements, and no amounts have been
accrued at December 31, 2018.

In August 2018, the Company was notified by the Office of Natural Resources Revenue (“ONRR”) of potential
underpayments of royalties related to certain leases for the period of 2009 through 2018. The Company has submitted
amended royalty filings for the period of 2009 to 2012, pursuant to which Harvest has an additional liability of approximately
$2.0 million. This amount will be paid upon ONRR review and concurrence with the accuracy of royalties per the amended
filings. The Company expects to submit amended royalty filings for the period of 2013 to 2018 later in 2019, pursuant to
which Harvest may have an additional liability of approximately $3.0 million. The Company recognized an accrual for the
estimated liability for the period of 2009 to 2018 as of December 31, 2018.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is traded on the OTCQX U.S. Premier Marketplace (the “OTCQX”) under the symbol “HRST.” As

of March 22, 2019, we had 10,042,468 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, held by approximately 281 registered
holders.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The Company repurchased the following shares from employees for the payment of withholding taxes due on vesting
shares of restricted stock previously issued under our share-based compensation plan:

Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value
Total Number of Shares Average Price Pace Purchased as Part of of Shares that may yet
Period Purchased Per Share Publicly A ed Program be Purchased Under Program
September 2018 12,348 $ 19.99 n/a n/a
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Stock Performance Graph

On September 20, 2018, our common stock began trading on the OTCQX under the symbol “HRST.” Prior to such time,
there was no established trading market for our common stock. The following graph compares, since the inception of trading,
the performance of our common stock to the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Oil & Gas Exploration & Production Index. The
chart assumes that the value of the investment in our common stock and each index was $100 at September 20, 2018, and
that all dividends were reinvested.

The stock performance graph is furnished and shall not be deemed "filed" with the SEC or subject to Section 18 of the
Exchange Act, and such information shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company with the SEC,
regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. Also, the stock performance in the graph below is historical
and not indicative of future stock price performance.

HRST Performance vs. Indices
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Prior year financial statements are not comparable to our current year financial statements due to the adoption of fresh-
start accounting. References to “Successor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the reorganized
Company subsequent to May 31, 2018. References to “Predecessor” relate to the financial position and results of operations
of the Company prior to, and including, May 31, 2018.

The following table shows selected financial data for the periods and as of the dates indicated. The selected financial
data as of and for the seven months ended December 31, 2018 have been derived from our consolidated financial statements.
The selected financial data as of and for the five months ended May 31, 2018 and for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016, 2015 and 2014 have been derived from the Predecessor’s consolidated financial statements.

With the sale of interests in Cardinal Gas Services, LL.C (“Cardinal”) in October 2014 and in Utica East Ohio Midstream
LLC (“UEO”) in June 2015, the Predecessor no longer operated in the midstream segment and reclassified its consolidated
financial statements for all periods presented to reflect the operations of the midstream segment as discontinued operations.
The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” both contained herein.

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months
Ended Five Months
December 31, Ended Year Ended December 31,
2018 May 31, 2018 2017 (1) 2016 2015 (1) 2014

Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues $ 138,600 | $ 111,031 $ 225693 $ 184,894 $ 177,971 $ 339,405
Operating income (loss) ® 27,389 (10,602) (118,068) (217,050) (287,933) (25,123)
Other income (expense), net (1,019) (12,432) (16,343) (28,220) 51,911 47,844
Reorganization items, net © (2,323) (587,325) — — — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations
before income taxes 24,047 (610,359) (134,411) (245,270) (236,022) 22,721
Income tax (expense) benefit (78) (166) 210 2,375 1,843 (476)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 23,969 (610,525) (134,201) (242,895) (234,179) 22,245
Income from discontinued operations — — — — 255,512 107,475
Net income (loss) $ 23969 | $ (610,525) $ (134,201) $ (242,895) $ 21,333 $ 129,720
Earnings per share / limited partner unit
(basic):

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 239 | $ (1212) $ (2.66) $ (4.85) $ 4.72) $ 0.41

Net income (loss) $ 239 | $ (12.12) $ (2.66) $ 4.85) $ 041 $ 2.58
Earnings per share / limited partner unit
(diluted):

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 239 | $ (12.12) $ 2.66) $ 4.85) $ “4.72) $ 0.41

Net income (loss) $ 239 | $ (12.12) $ (2.66) $ 4.85) $ 041 $ 2.58
Distributions declared per share / limited
partner unit $ — | $ —  $ — $ —  $ 1575 $ 2.819
Financial Position (at end of period):

Working capital $ 88,522 $ (592,523) $ (6,875) $ 54,812 $ 428,965

Total assets 534,494 1,441,805 1,606,770 1,923,602 2,246,161

Current portion of long-term debt © — 605,549 — — —

Long-term debt, net © 115,000 — 606,948 688,614 1,027,349

Stockholders’ / owners’ equity 273,539 628,012 758,407 998,559 1,066,113

53




Table of Contents

@ Includes the results of the following acquisitions of oil and natural gas properties:

Karnes County, Texas in January 2017; and

the Appalachian Basin, the San Juan Basin, Michigan and the Austin Chalk in October 2015.
@ Includes impairments of oil and natural gas properties of $3.1 million, $93.6 million, $131.3 million, $136.7 million and $114.0 million
in the seven months ended December 31, 2018 and in 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

©  Reorganization items, net, represent costs, gains and losses directly associated with the Chapter 11 proceedings since the Petition Date.

@ Includes gain on sale of investment in UEO of $246.7 million and Cardinal of $92.1 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

© Due to the anticipated financial covenant violations as of December 31, 2017, the borrowings under the Predecessor’s credit facility
and senior notes were classified as current at December 31, 2017. There were no financial covenant violations as of December 31,
2018.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

0 DEIHPHQV' VAXWIRQDQG$ DOMYR ) LQDGADOERIBWRYDQG5 HXWVR 2 SHIDIRQY\KRXE EH UG LQ FRMGANRY
ZIW WP ) LQDGADCB\BMP HQVDQG6XSSBP HQBY ' DIV FRQBIGHSKHHO

OVERVIEW

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (“Harvest” or “Successor”) is an independent oil and natural gas company that was formed in
2018 in connection with the reorganization of EV Energy Partners, L.P. (“EVEP” or “Predecessor”). As used herein, the
terms the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us” refer to (i) Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. after the Effective Date (as defined below)
and (ii) EVEP prior to, and including, the Effective Date, in each case, together with their respective consolidated
subsidiaries or on an individual basis, depending on the context in which the statements are made.

We operate one reportable segment engaged in the development and production of oil and natural gas properties, and all
of our operations are located in the United States. As of December 31, 2018, our oil and natural gas properties are located in
the Barnett Shale, the San Juan Basin, the Appalachian Basin (which includes the Utica Shale), Michigan, the Mid—Continent
areas in Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas, Kansas and Louisiana, the Permian Basin and the Monroe Field in Northern Louisiana.
As of December 31, 2018, we had estimated net proved reserves of 9.9 MMBBDlIs of oil, 476.7 Bcf of natural gas and 29.3
MMBbIs of natural gas liquids, or 711.9 Bcfe, and a standardized measure of $436.4 million. Of our total net proved
reserves, 98% are proved developed and 53% are operated.

As a result of the ongoing review of our asset base in order to maximize shareholder value, we have initiated processes
to divest certain assets and in the future, may look to divest additional assets or all of our remaining assets and use the
proceeds to repay bank debt, return capital to shareholders, concentrate in existing positions or venture into new basins. In
January and February 2019, we entered into definitive agreements to sell all of our oil and gas properties in the San Juan
Basin and certain of our oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area. See “—Current Developments” below for
additional information.

Current Developments

In August 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas and Karnes County, Texas to
Magnolia Oil & Gas Parent LLC and Magnolia Oil & Gas Corporation (collectively, “Magnolia”) for total consideration of
$134.4 million in cash, net of purchase price adjustments, and 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia (NYSE:
MGY). Based on the closing price for Magnolia’s common stock on August 31, 2018, total consideration was $192.7 million,
net of purchase price adjustments.
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During January 2019, we sold all of our 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia for net proceeds of $51.7
million.

In addition, in August 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas to a third party for total
consideration of $3.4 million, net of purchase price adjustments.

In December 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas to a third party for total
consideration of $2.6 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments.

In addition, in December 2018, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in the Mid—Continent area to a third
party for total consideration of $1.0 million, net of purchase price adjustments.

In January 2019, we closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area to a third party for total
consideration of $1.7 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments.

In February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of our (i) oil and gas properties in the San Juan Basin
and (ii) membership interests in EnerVest Mesa, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of EV Properties, L.P., to a third party for
total consideration of $42.8 million in cash, subject to purchase price adjustments. The transaction is expected to close in
April 2019 and has an effective date of October 1, 2018. The net book value as of December 31, 2018 of the San Juan assets
and liabilities to be divested was approximately $61 million. As a result, we expect to record an impairment related to the
sale of our San Juan properties in 2019.

Also, in February 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent
area to a third party for total consideration of $2.5 million in cash, subject to purchase price adjustments. The transaction is
expected to close in April 2019 and has an effective date of October 1, 2018.

See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.

Emergence from Voluntary Reorganization under Chapter 11

On March 13, 2018, EVEP and the other 13 affiliated debtors (collectively, the “Debtors”) entered into a Restructuring
Support Agreement (the “Restructuring Support Agreement”) with certain holders of the Predecessor’s outstanding notes
(collectively, the “Supporting Noteholders™), certain lenders under the Predecessor’s reserve-based lending facility, EnerVest,
Ltd and EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. The Restructuring Support Agreement set forth, subject to certain conditions, the
commitment of the Debtors and the consenting creditors to support a comprehensive restructuring of the Debtors’ long-term
debt (the “Restructuring”). On April 2, 2018 (the “Petition Date”), the Debtors each filed Chapter 11 proceedings under
Chapter 11 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”). The Debtors’
Chapter 11 proceedings were jointly administered under the caption ,QUH( 9 ( QHLJ\ 3DU@LY / 3 HADD Case No. 18-
10814. During the pendency of the Chapter 11 proceedings, EVEP continued to operate its business and manage its
properties under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy
Code and orders of the Bankruptcy Court as “Debtors-in-Possession.” On May 17, 2018, the Bankruptcy Court entered the
Confirmation Order confirming the Plan.

On June 4, 2018, the Debtors satisfied the conditions to effectiveness of the Debtors’ First Modified Joint Prepackaged
Plan of Reorganization (as amended, modified and supplemented from time to time, the “Plan”), the Plan became effective in
accordance with its terms. In accordance with the Plan, EVEP’s equity was cancelled, EVEP transferred all of its assets and
operations to Harvest, EVEP was dissolved and Harvest became and the successor reporting company to EVEP pursuant to
Rule 15d-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Although we are not a debtor-in-possession, the Predecessor was a debtor-in-possession between April 2, 2018 and June

4, 2018. As such, certain aspects of the Chapter 11 proceedings and related matters are described below in order to provide
context to the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for the period presented. See Note 2 and
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Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” contained herein for additional information.

Plan of Reorganization
In accordance with the Plan, on the Effective Date, among other things:

The Predecessor transferred all of its assets and operations to the Successor, the Predecessor was dissolved and the
Successor became the successor reporting company to the Predecessor pursuant to Rule 15d-5 of the Exchange Act;

The Successor issued (i) 9,500,000 new shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“common stock™),
pro rata to holders of the 8.0% senior unsecured notes due April 2019 (the “Senior Notes”) with claims allowed
under the Plan; (ii) 500,016 shares of common stock pro rata to holders of units of EVEP prior to the Effective Date;
(iii) 800,000 warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase 800,000 shares of common stock to holders of units of EVEP
prior to the Effective Date exercisable for a five-year period commencing on the Effective Date entitling their
holders upon exercise thereof, on a pro rata basis, to 8% of the total issued and outstanding common stock
(including common stock as of the Effective Date issuable upon full exercise of the Warrants, but excluding any
common stock issuable under the Company’s Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”)), at a per share exercise price
of $37.48; (iv) 79,000 shares of 8% Cumulative Nonparticipating Redeemable Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series
A Preferred Stock”) to its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary EV Midstream, L.P. for consideration of $790,000;
and (v) 21,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock to one employee of the Company and one employee of EnerVest
for consideration of services to the Company, which vest on the earlier of (a) June 4, 2019 or (b) immediately prior
to the consummation of a Sale Transaction as such term is defined in the Certificate of Designations, Preferences
and Rights of the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Certificate of Designations”);

The holders of claims under the Predecessor’s credit facility received full recovery, consisting of (i) their pro rata
share of the $1 billion new reserve-based revolving loan (the “Exit Credit Facility”); (ii) cash in amount equal to the
accrued but unpaid interest payable to such lenders under the credit facility as of the Effective Date; and (iii)
unfunded commitments and letter of credit participation under the Exit Credit Facility equal to the unfunded
commitments and letter of credit participation of such lender as of the Effective Date;

The Senior Notes were cancelled and the Predecessor’s liability thereunder discharged, and the holders of the Notes
received (directly or indirectly) their pro rata share of common stock representing, in the aggregate, 95% of the
common stock on the Effective Date (subject to dilution by the MIP and the common shares issuable upon exercise
of the Warrants);

The Predecessor’s common units were cancelled, and each common unitholder received its pro rata share of: (i) 5%
of the common stock and (ii) the Warrants;

The holders of administrative expense claims, other priority claims and general unsecured creditors of the
Predecessor received in exchange for their claims payment in full in cash or otherwise had their rights unimpaired
under Title 11 of the United States Code;

The Successor adopted the MIP, pursuant to which employees, directors, consultants and other service providers of
the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and cash-based awards. As of the Effective Date, an aggregate of
689,362 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the MIP, all of which may be granted in the form
of incentive stock options; and

General unsecured claims received (i) if such claim was due and payable on or before the Effective Date, payment in
full, in cash, or the unpaid portion of its allowed general unsecured claim, (ii) if such claim was not due and payable
before the Effective Date, payment in the ordinary course, and (iii) other treatment, as may be agreed upon by the
Debtors, the Supporting Noteholders and the holder of such general unsecured claim.
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Predecessor and Successor Reporting

Upon our emergence on the Effective Date, we elected to adopt fresh start accounting effective May 31, 2018 (the
“convenience date”) to coincide with the timing of our normal accounting period close. As a result of the adoption of fresh
start accounting and the effects of the implementation of the Plan, the Company’s consolidated financial statements and
certain presentations are separated into two distinct periods, the period before the convenience date (labeled Predecessor) and
the period after the convenience date (labeled Successor), to indicate the application of different basis of accounting between
the periods presented. Despite the separate presentation, there was continuity of the Company’s operations.

See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.
Our Operating Plan and Strategy

We focus our efforts on maintaining or minimizing the decline in our reserves and production while controlling costs at a
level that is appropriate for long—term operations. Our future cash flows from operations are dependent upon our ability to
manage our overall cost structure. As initial reservoir pressures are depleted, production from our wells decreases. We
attempt to mitigate or reduce this natural decline through drilling and workover operations. We will maintain our focus on
drilling costs as well as the costs necessary to produce our reserves. Our drilling program is dependent on our capital
resources and the inventory and economics of drilling prospects and can be limited by many factors, including our ability to
timely obtain drilling permits and regulatory approvals. Our overall operating plan also includes regular reviews of our asset
base. As a result of this ongoing review, we have initiated processes to divest of certain assets, and in the future, we may look
to divest additional assets or all of our remaining assets in order to maximize shareholder value.

In order to mitigate the impact of lower prices on our cash flows, we are a party to derivatives, and we intend to enter
into derivatives in the future to reduce the impact of price volatility on our cash flows. Although we have entered into
derivative contracts covering a portion of our future production through December 2020, a sustained lower price environment
would result in lower prices for unprotected volumes and reduce the prices at which we can enter into derivative contracts for
additional volumes in the future. We have mitigated, but not eliminated, the potential effects of changing prices on our cash
flows from operations for those periods. An extended period of depressed commodity prices would alter our development
plans, as well as adversely affect our ability to access additional capital in the capital markets. Please refer to Item 7A.
“Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” contained herein for more information.

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon the consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures about
contingent assets and liabilities. Certain of our accounting policies involve estimates and assumptions to such an extent that
there is reasonable likelihood that materially different amounts could have been reported under different conditions or if
different assumptions had been used. We base these estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other
information and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty and, accordingly, these
estimates may change as additional information is obtained, as more experience is acquired, as our operating environment
changes and as new events occur.

Our critical accounting policies are important to the portrayal of both our financial condition and results of operations

and require us to make difficult, subjective or complex assumptions or estimates about matters that are uncertain. We would
report different amounts in our consolidated financial statements, which could be material, if we used different
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assumptions or estimates. We believe that the following are the critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

YDQNXKSE $ FFRXQIMY

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if we are a going concern and reflect the application of
Accounting Standards Codification 852 5HRUJDQ]DIMRM“ASC 852”). ASC 852 requires that the financial statements, for
periods subsequent to the Chapter 11 filing, distinguish transactions and events that are directly associated with the
reorganization from the ongoing operations of the business. Accordingly, certain expenses, gains and losses that were
realized or incurred related to the bankruptcy proceedings are recorded in “Reorganization items, net” on our consolidated
statements of operations.

Upon emergence from bankruptcy on June 4, 2018, we elected to adopt and apply the relevant guidance provided in
GAAP with respect to the accounting and financial statement disclosures for entities that have emerged from Chapter 11
(“fresh start accounting”) effective May 31, 2018 to coincide with the timing of our normal accounting period close. This
process required us to make assumptions around valuations which included estimates of future prices, production costs,
development expenditures, anticipated production, appropriate risk-adjusted discount rates and other relevant data. As a
result of the application of fresh start accounting and the effects of the implementation of the plan of reorganization, the
consolidated financial statements as of or after May 31, 2018, are not comparable with the consolidated financial statements
prior to that date. To facilitate the financial statement presentations, we refer to the reorganized company in our consolidated
financial statements as the “Successor” for periods subsequent to May 31, 2018 and “Predecessor” for periods prior to June 1,
2018. Furthermore, the consolidated financial statements have been presented with a “black line” division to delineate the
lack of comparability between the Predecessor and Successor. See Note 2 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional
information.

2 1AQG1 DMUBOT Dv3 UIRSHIWWY

We account for our oil and natural gas properties using the successful efforts method of accounting. Under this method,
costs of productive exploratory wells, development dry holes and productive wells and undeveloped leases are capitalized.
Oil and natural gas lease acquisition costs are also capitalized. Exploration costs, including personnel costs, certain
geological and geophysical expenses and delay rentals for oil and natural gas leases, are charged to expense during the period
the costs are incurred. Exploratory drilling costs are initially capitalized, but charged to expense if and when the well is
determined not to have found reserves in commercial quantities.

Sales proceeds are credited to the carrying value of the properties, and no gains or losses are recognized upon the
disposition of proved oil and natural gas properties except in transactions such as the significant disposition of an amortizable
base that significantly affects the unit—of—production amortization rate.

The application of the successful efforts method of accounting requires managerial judgment to determine the proper
classification of wells designated as development or exploratory which will ultimately determine the proper accounting
treatment of the costs incurred. The results from a drilling operation can take considerable time to analyze, and the
determination that commercial reserves have been discovered requires both judgment and industry experience. Wells may be
completed that are assumed to be productive and actually deliver oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids in quantities
insufficient to be economic, which may result in the abandonment of the wells at a later date. Wells are drilled that have
targeted geologic structures that are both developmental and exploratory in nature, and an allocation of costs is required to
properly account for the results. Delineation seismic incurred to select development locations within an oil and natural gas
field is typically considered a development cost and capitalized, but often these seismic programs extend beyond the reserve
area considered proved and management must estimate the portion of the seismic costs to expense. The evaluation of oil and
natural gas leasehold acquisition costs requires managerial judgment to estimate the fair value of these costs with reference to
drilling activity in a given area. Drilling activities in an area by other companies may also effectively condemn leasehold
positions.
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The successful efforts method of accounting can have a significant impact on the operational results reported when we
are entering a new exploratory area in hopes of finding an oil and natural gas field that will be the focus of future
developmental drilling activity. The initial exploratory wells may be unsuccessful and will be expensed. Seismic costs can be
substantial which will result in additional exploration expenses when incurred.

We assess our proved oil and natural gas properties for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate
that the recorded carrying value of the properties may not be recoverable. Such events include a projection of future reserves
that will be produced from a field, the timing of this future production, future costs to produce the oil, natural gas and natural
gas liquids and future inflation levels. If the carrying amount of a property exceeds the sum of the estimated undiscounted
future net cash flows, we recognize an impairment expense equal to the difference between the carrying value and the fair
value of the property, which is estimated to be the expected present value of the future net cash flows. Estimated future net
cash flows are based on existing reserves, forecasted production and cost information and management’s outlook of future
commodity prices. Where probable and possible reserves exist, an appropriately risk adjusted amount of these reserves is
included in the impairment evaluation. The underlying commodity prices used in the determination of our estimated future
net cash flows are based on NYMEX forward strip prices at the end of the period, adjusted by field or area for estimated
location and quality differentials, as well as other trends and factors that management believes will impact realizable prices.
Future operating costs estimates, including appropriate escalators, are also developed based on a review of actual costs by
field or area. Downward revisions in estimates of reserve quantities or expectations of falling commodity prices or rising
operating costs could result in a reduction in undiscounted future cash flows and could indicate a property impairment.

( W DMVR 2 101 DXUDOT DVDQG1 DMUDO Dv/ ITXIGV5 RHHY

Our estimates of proved reserves are based on the quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which, by analysis
of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible — from a given
date forward, from known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations — prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal
is reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimate. Reserves for
proved developed producing wells were estimated using production performance and material balance methods. Certain new
producing properties with little production history were forecast using a combination of production performance and analogy
to offset production, both of which provide accurate forecasts. Non—producing reserve estimates for both developed and
undeveloped properties were forecast using either volumetric and/or analogy methods. These methods provide accurate
forecasts due to the mature nature of the properties targeted for development and an abundance of subsurface control data.

The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data, engineering and geological
interpretation and judgment. For example, we must estimate the amount and timing of future operating costs, severance taxes,
development costs and workover costs, all of which may vary considerably from actual results. In addition, as prices and cost
levels change from year to year, the estimate of proved reserves also changes. Any significant variance in these assumptions
could materially affect the estimated quantity and value of our reserves. Independent reserve engineers prepare our reserve
estimates at the end of each year.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates, our reserves are used throughout our financial
statements. For example, since we use the units—of—production method to amortize the costs of our oil and natural gas
properties, the quantity of reserves could significantly impact our depreciation, depletion and amortization expense. Our
reserves are also the basis of our supplemental oil and natural gas disclosures.

5 HHXHS HRIQWRQ

Qil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues are recognized at a point in time upon the transfer of control of the
products to a purchaser. We must use judgement and consider a variety of facts and circumstances to assess when transfer of
control occurs, including but not limited to: whether the purchaser can direct the use of the hydrocarbon, the transfer of
significant risks and rewards, our right to payment and transfer of legal title. Transfer of control typically occurs when the
products are delivered to the purchaser, title or risk of loss has transferred and collectability of the revenue is reasonably
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assured. Revenue is recognized net of royalties due to third parties in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to
receive in exchange for those products. Virtually all of our contracts’ pricing provisions are tied to a market index, with
certain adjustments based on, among other factors, whether a well delivers to a gathering or transmission line, quality of oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids and prevailing supply and demand conditions, so that prices fluctuate to remain
competitive with other available suppliers.

We follow the sales method of accounting for natural gas revenues. Under this method of accounting, revenues are
recognized based on volumes sold, which may differ from the volume to which we are entitled based on our working interest.
An imbalance is recognized as a liability only when the estimated remaining reserves will not be sufficient to enable the
under—produced owner(s) to recoup its entitled share through future production. Under the sales method, no receivables are
recorded where we have taken less than our share of production.

We own and operate a network of natural gas gathering systems in the Appalachian Basin and the Monroe Field in
Northern Louisiana which gather and transport owned natural gas and a small amount of third party natural gas to intrastate,
interstate and local distribution pipelines. Natural gas gathering and transportation revenue is recognized when the natural gas
has been delivered to a custody transfer point.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

References to “Successor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the reorganized Company
subsequent to May 31, 2018, and references to “Predecessor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the
Company prior to, and including, May 31, 2018.

In addition to presenting Successor and Predecessor results of operations, in the table and discussion below, we have
presented the Company’s operating results for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 on a combined basis (i.e., by
combining the results of the applicable Predecessor and Successor periods). We believe that describing certain year-over-year
variances and trends in our production, revenue and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to
December 31, 2017 without regard to the concept of Successor and Predecessor (i.e., on a combined basis) facilitates a
meaningful analysis of our results of operations and is useful in identifying current business trends. The combined results
represent the sum of the reported amounts for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2018 through May 31, 2018 and the
Successor period from June 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018. These combined results are not considered to be prepared in
accordance with GAAP and have not been prepared as pro forma results under applicable regulations. The combined
operating results may not reflect the actual results we would have achieved absent our emergence from bankruptcy and may
not be indicative of future results.

Factors Affecting the Comparability of the Results

The impact to the comparability of the Predecessor and Successor results is generally limited to those areas associated
with the basis in and accounting for our oil and gas properties (specifically depreciation, depletion and amortization
(“DD&A”) and impairments), exploration expense and income taxes (due to the change from a limited partnership to a
corporation that occurred in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy). In addition, the comparability of our results
for 2018 (combined) as compared to prior years may be limited by the effects of our emergence from bankruptcy and fresh-
start reporting.
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Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids
revenues:

Oil
Natural gas

Natural gas liquids @

Total @

Production data:
QOil (MBbls)

Natural gas (MMcf)
Natural gas liquids (MBbls)

Total (MMcfe)

Average sales price per unit:

Oil (per Bbl)

Natural gas (per Mcf)
Natural gas liquids (per Bbl) ®
Total (per Mcfe) ©

Expenses and Other:

Lease operating expenses
Cost of purchased natural gas
Dry hole and exploration costs

Production taxes

Accretion expense on obligations
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
General and administrative expenses
Restructuring costs

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties
Gain (loss) on sales of oil and natural gas

properties

Gain (loss) on derivatives, net

Interest expense

Gain on early extinguishment of debt
Loss on equity securities
Reorganization items, net

Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income (loss)

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Seven
Months Combined
Ended Five Months Year Ended
December 31, Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2018 May 31, 2018 2018 2017 2016

$ 41,411 $ 42460 $ 83,871 65,768 $ 47,139
63,460 40,951 104,411 111,204 99,840
32,298 26,896 59,194 46,325 35,717
$ 137,169 $ 110,307 $ 247,476 $ 223297 $ 182,696
642 662 1,304 1,387 1,216
23,084 16,982 40,066 40,979 49,333
1,348 1,040 2,388 2,165 2,331
35,029 27,193 62,222 62,293 70,612
$ 64.45 $ 64.14 $ 64.32 4741 % 38.78
2.75 2.41 2.61 2.71 2.02
23.95 25.86 24.79 21.40 15.32
3.92 4.06 3.98 3.58 2.59
$ 64,100 $ 45,372 $ 109,472 101,591 $ 103,371
1,026 557 1,583 1,699 1,497
177 122 299 413 651
6,482 5,343 11,825 10,588 7,386
5,420 3,176 8,596 7,653 8,225
16,012 46,196 62,208 96,901 119,171
15,626 15,648 31,274 32,290 33,637
- 5,211 5,211 - -
3,065 3 3,068 93,607 131,260
697 5) 692 981 69

16,962 444 17,406 22,854 (35,950)
7,225 13,652 20,877 40,903 42,487
- - - - 47,695
11,130 - 11,130 - -
2,323 587,325 589,648 - -

78 166 244 (210) (2,375)

$ 23,969 $ (610,525) $ (586,556) $ (134,201) $ (242,895)

Includes a royalty adjustment of $5.0 million during the seven months ended December 31, 2018. Excluding this royalty adjustment,
revenues from natural gas liquids would have been $37.3 million, or $27.66 per Bbl, and total revenues from oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids would have been $142.2 million, or $4.06 per Mcfe, for the seven months ended December 31, 2018. See Note
13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”

contained herein for additional information.
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Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Seven Months Combined
Ended Five Months Year Ended
December 31, Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2018 May 31, 2018 2018 2017 2016
Average unit cost per Mcfe:
Production costs:
Lease operating expenses $ 1.83 $ 1.67 $ 1.76  $ 1.63 $ 1.46
Production taxes 0.19 0.20 0.19 0.17 0.10
Total 2.02 1.87 1.95 1.80 1.56
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 0.46 1.70 1.00 1.56 1.69
General and administrative expenses 0.45 0.58 0.50 0.52 0.48

Year Ended December 31, 2018 (Combined) Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Net loss for 2018 was $586.6 million compared with a net loss of $134.2 million for 2017. The significant factors in this
change were (i) $589.6 million of reorganization costs incurred during 2018; (ii) $11.1 million loss on equity securities
during 2018; (iii) a $7.9 million increase in lease operating expenses; (iv) a $5.4 million unfavorable change in gain on
derivatives and (v) $5.2 million of restructuring costs incurred prior to the Petition Date. These factors were partially offset
by (i) a $90.5 million decrease in impairment of oil and natural gas properties; (ii) a $34.7 million decrease in depreciation,
depletion and amortization; (iii) a $23.9 million increase in revenues and (iv) a $20.0 million decrease in interest expense.

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues for 2018 totaled $247.5 million, an increase of $24.2 million compared
with 2017. This increase in revenues was the result of an increase of $32.9 million primarily related to higher oil and natural
gas liquids prices and an increase of $5.0 million related to the impact of adopting ASU No. 2014-09, 5HHXH IURP
&RQADPWZ WK & XWIRP HI(“Topic 606”), partially offset by a decrease of $8.7 million primarily related to decreased oil and
natural gas production and a decrease of $5.0 million related to a royalty adjustment.

Lease operating expenses for 2018 increased $7.9 million compared with 2017 as the result of $6.3 million from a higher
cost per Mcfe combined with $5.0 million related to the impact of adopting Topic 606, partially offset by $3.4 million from
decreased production. The higher unit cost per Mcfe reflects lower production volumes. Lease operating expenses per Mcfe
were $1.76 in 2018 compared with $1.63 in 2017.

Production taxes for 2018 increased $1.2 million compared with 2017 due to higher oil, natural gas and natural gas
liquids revenues. Production taxes for 2018 were $0.19 per Mcfe compared with $0.17 per Mcfe for 2017.

DD&A for 2018 decreased $34.7 million compared with 2017 primarily due to a lower average DD&A rate per Mcfe as
a result of the application of fresh start accounting in 2018. DD&A for 2018 was $1.00 per Mcfe compared with $1.56 per
Mcfe for 2017.

General and administrative expenses for 2018 totaled $31.3 million, a decrease of $1.0 million compared with 2017.
This decrease is primarily the result of lower legal and consulting fees partially offset by higher fees paid under the Services
Agreement with EnerVest. General and administrative expenses were $0.50 per Mcfe in 2018 compared with $0.52 per Mcfe
in 2017.

Restructuring expenses for 2018 totaled $5.2 million. These expenses are for professional services related to the
Restructuring which were incurred prior to the Petition Date. For 2017, there were no restructuring expenses.

During 2018, we incurred proved property impairment of $3.1 million related to proved oil and natural gas properties
located in Central Texas and Karnes County, Texas which were sold during August 2018. During 2017, we incurred
impairment charges of $93.6 million. Of this 2017 amount, $69.9 million related to oil and natural gas properties that were
written down to their fair value as determined based on the expected present value of the future net cash flows. Of this $69.9
million amount, $49.5 million related to properties located in the Mid-Continent area and the Permian Basin, $15.3 million
related to properties located in the Monroe Field, $2.2 million related to properties in Central Texas and $2.9
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million related to properties in East Texas which were sold during April 2017. Significant assumptions associated with the
calculation of discounted cash flows used in the impairment analysis included estimates of future prices, production costs,
development expenditures, anticipated production of our estimated reserves, appropriate risk—adjusted discount rates and
other relevant data. The remainder of the impairment charges in 2017 consisted of $23.7 million of leasehold impairments.

Loss on equity securities was $11.1 million for 2018 compared with none for 2017. The loss in 2018 is attributable to the
changes in the share price of the shares of common stock of Magnolia which were acquired in the Central Texas Divestiture.

Gain on derivatives, net, was $17.4 million for 2018 compared with $22.9 million for 2017. This change was attributable
to changes in future oil and natural gas prices. The 12-month forward price at December 31, 2018 for oil averaged $47.09 per
Bbl compared with $59.40 at December 31, 2017, and the 12-month forward prices at December 31, 2018 for natural gas
averaged $2.85 per MMBtu compared with $2.86 at December 31, 2017. The 12-month forward price at December 31, 2017
for oil averaged $59.40 per Bbl compared with $56.19 at December 31, 2016, and the 12-month forward prices at
December 31, 2017 for natural gas averaged $2.86 per MMBtu compared with $3.61 at December 31, 2016.

Interest expense for 2018 decreased $20.0 million compared with 2017. This change was primarily a result of $16.1
million related to a lower weighted average long-term debt balance, $4.7 million related to the suspension of interest for the
Senior Notes as a result of the Chapter 11 proceedings and $0.5 million related to the write off of loan costs in the prior year,
partially offset by $1.3 million from a higher weighted average effective interest rate.

We incurred significant costs in 2018 associated with the reorganization. Reorganization items, net, represent costs and
gains directly associated with the Chapter 11 proceedings since the Petition Date, such as the gain on settlement of liabilities
subject to compromise, fresh start valuation adjustments, issuance of common stock and warrants and settlement with
Predecessor common unitholders. We incurred $589.6 million of reorganization items, net, during the year ended December
31, 2018 compared to none in 2017. See Note 2 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2016

Net loss for 2017 was $134.2 million compared with a net loss of $242.9 million for 2016. The significant factors in this
change were (i) a $58.8 million favorable change in gain (loss) on derivatives; (ii) a $40.8 million increase in revenues; (iii) a
$37.7 million decrease in impairment of oil and natural gas properties; and (iv) a $22.3 million decrease in depreciation,
depletion and amortization. These factors were partially offset by a $47.7 million decrease in gain on early extinguishment of
debt that occurred in 2016 when we redeemed $74.0 million of our outstanding Senior Notes.

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues for 2017 totaled $223.3 million, an increase of $40.6 million compared
with 2016. This was the result of increases of $58.7 million related to higher prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids
partially offset by a decrease of $18.1 million primarily related to decreased natural gas and natural gas liquids production.

Lease operating expenses for 2017 decreased $1.8 million compared with 2016 as the result of $13.6 million from
decreased production offset by $11.8 million from a higher cost per Mcfe. The higher unit cost per Mcfe reflects lower
production volumes. Lease operating expenses per Mcfe were $1.63 in 2017 compared with $1.46 in 2016.

Production taxes for 2017 increased $3.2 million compared with 2016 due to higher oil, natural gas and natural gas
liquids revenues. Production taxes for 2017 were $0.17 per Mcfe compared with $0.10 per Mcfe for 2016.

DD&A for 2017 decreased $22.3 million compared with 2016 due to $13.0 million of decreased production combined
with $9.3 million from a lower average DD&A rate per Mcfe. The lower average DD&A rate per Mcfe reflects the change
that prices had on our reserves estimates, as well as impairment of oil and gas properties during the first half of 2017. DD&A
for 2017 was $1.56 per Mcfe compared with $1.69 per Mcfe for 2016.
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General and administrative expenses for 2017 totaled $32.3 million, a decrease of $1.3 million compared with 2016.
This decrease is primarily the result of $2.3 million of lower equity compensation costs and $1.8 million of lower fees paid to
EnerVest under our omnibus agreement; these were partially offset by $1.8 million of increased legal fees and $1.4 million of
increased compensation costs. General and administrative expenses were $0.52 per Mcfe in 2017 compared with $0.48 per
Mcfe in 2016.

As aresult of a reduction in estimated future net cash flows primarily caused by the decrease in prices for oil, natural gas
and natural gas liquids and the disposition of oil and gas properties, we incurred impairment charges of $93.6 million and
$131.3 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. Of these amounts, $69.9 million and $89.5 million in 2017 and 2016,
respectively, related to oil and natural gas properties that were written down to their fair value as determined based on the
expected present value of the future net cash flows. Of the $69.9 million impairment charge for 2017, $49.5 million related to
properties located in the Mid-Continent area and the Permian Basin, $15.3 million related to properties located in the Monroe
Field, $2.2 million related to properties in Central Texas and $2.9 million related to properties in East Texas which were sold
during April 2017. The $89.5 million impairment charge for 2016 related to oil and natural gas properties in the Barnett
Shale that were sold during December 2016. Significant assumptions associated with the calculation of discounted cash flows
used in the impairment analysis included estimates of future prices, production costs, development expenditures, anticipated
production of our estimated reserves, appropriate risk—adjusted discount rates and other relevant data. The remainder of the
impairment charges in 2017 consisted of $23.7 million of leasehold impairments. The remainder of the impairment charges
in 2016 consisted of $41.8 million of leasehold impairments, of which $35.8 million related to a change in our development
plans for acreage in the Appalachian Basin, primarily in the Utica Shale.

In 2017, we recognized a gain of $1.0 million on the sale of certain non—core oil and natural gas properties.

Gain on derivatives, net, was $22.9 million for 2017 compared with a loss on derivatives, net, of $36.0 million for 2016.
This change was attributable to changes in future oil and natural gas prices. The 12-month forward price at December 31,
2017 for oil averaged $59.40 per Bbl compared with $56.19 at December 31, 2016, and the 12-month forward prices at
December 31, 2017 for natural gas averaged $2.86 per MMBtu compared with $3.61 at December 31, 2016. The 12-month
forward price at December 31, 2016 for oil averaged $56.19 per Bbl compared with $40.45 at December 31, 2015, and the
12-month forward prices at December 31, 2016 for natural gas averaged $3.61 per MMBtu compared with $2.49 at
December 31, 2015.

Interest expense for 2017 decreased $1.5 million compared with 2016 due to $2.0 million attributed to a lower weighted
average long-term debt balance and $1.0 million attributed to a lower write-off of loan costs in 2017 due to the reduction in
the borrowing base, partially offset by $1.5 million from a higher weighted average effective interest rate.

In 2016, we recognized a $47.7 million gain on the early extinguishment of debt as we redeemed $82.7 million of our
Senior Notes for $35.0 million.

In 2016, we recorded approximately $2.4 million of tax benefits as a result of tax refunds and lower taxes.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Since our emergence from bankruptcy, our primary sources of liquidity and capital have consisted of cash flows from
operations and proceeds from divestitures of oil and natural gas properties. As a result of divesting certain oil and natural gas
properties, we received $140.5 million in cash proceeds, net of purchase price adjustments, and 4.2 million shares of
Magnolia common stock during the seven months ended December 31, 2018. Our primary uses of cash have been to repay
bank debt and fund capital expenditures, principally for the development of our oil and natural gas properties.

During the seven months ended December 31, 2018, we incurred $18.0 million for capital drilling and completing wells.
For the five months ended May 31, 2018, we incurred $26.8 million for capital drilling and completing wells. For 2019, we
plan to incur $3 million to $6 million of capital expenditures, which we expect to fund primarily from cash on hand, sales of
assets and net cash flows generated from operations. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $153.5 million of
liquidity between our borrowing base capacity and cash on hand.
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For 2019, we believe that cash on hand, proceeds from sales of assets and net cash flows generated from operations will
be adequate to fund our capital budget and satisfy our short—term liquidity needs. Thus far in 2019, we have sold all of our
shares of Magnolia common stock for net proceeds of $51.7 million, we have entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of
our oil and gas properties in the San Juan Basin for $42.8 million, subject to purchase price adjustments, and we have entered
into other definitive agreements to sell certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area. The proceeds from these
2019 divestitures will be used to reduce outstanding borrowings under our credit facility. We will continue monitoring the
commodity price environment and expect to retain the financial flexibility to adjust plans in response to market conditions as
needed.

We may also utilize borrowings under our credit facility and various financing sources available to us, including the
issuance of equity or debt securities through public offerings or private placements, to fund any acquisitions and long—term
liquidity needs. Our ability to complete future offerings of equity or debt securities and the timing of these offerings will
depend upon various factors including prevailing market conditions and our financial condition.

Long—term Debt

As of December 31, 2018, we had a $1.0 billion credit facility that will mature in February 2021. Borrowings under the
credit facility may not exceed a “borrowing base” determined by the lenders based on our oil and natural gas reserves. As of
December 31, 2018, the borrowing base was $262.3 million, and we had $115.0 million outstanding. On January 29, 2019
and February 8, 2019, we repaid $35.0 million and $25.0 million, respectively, of the outstanding amount. As of March 22,
2019, our outstanding debt balance was $55.0 million.

The credit facility requires the following (as defined in the credit facility):

the Total Debt to EBITDAX ratio covenant to be no greater than 4.0 to 1.0;

the current consolidated assets (including unused commitments under the Exit Credit Facility) to current consolidated
liabilities be no less than 1.0 to 1.0;

the percentage of Mortgaged Properties be no less than 95% of the total value of the Oil and Gas Properties evaluated
in the most recent Reserve Report;

no later than 60 days following the Effective Date, 70% of projected production volumes (excluding projected
production volumes from certain properties) be hedged (as of the date such swap agreements were executed) for the
18 months following the Effective Date; and

cash held by the Company be limited to the greater of 5% of the current borrowing base or $30.0 million.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all of these financial covenants.

For additional information about our long—term debt, such as interest rates and covenants, please see “Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” contained herein.

Cash and Short-term Investments

At December 31, 2018, we had $6.3 million of cash and short—term investments, which included $0.6 million of short—
term investments. With regard to our short-term investments, we invest in money market accounts with major financial
institutions.

On August 31, 2018, the Company received 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia as part of the consideration

for the Central Texas Divestiture. As of December 31, 2018, the shares had a value of $47.1 million. During January 2019,
the Company sold all of the shares of common stock of Magnolia for net proceeds of $51.7 million.
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Counterparty Exposure

All of our derivative contracts are with major financial institutions who are also lenders under our credit facility. Should
one of these financial counterparties not perform, we may not realize the benefit of some of our derivative contracts and we
could incur a loss. As of December 31, 2018, all of our counterparties have performed pursuant to their derivative contracts.

Cash Flows

References to “Successor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the reorganized Company
subsequent to May 31, 2018, and references to “Predecessor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the
Company prior to, and including, May 31, 2018.

In addition to presenting Successor and Predecessor results of operations, in the table and discussion below, we have
presented the Company’s cash flows by activity type for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 on a combined basis (i.e.,
by combining the results of applicable Predecessor and Successor periods). We believe that describing certain year-over-year
variances and trends in cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to December 31, 2017 and 2016
without regard to the concept of Successor and Predecessor (i.e., on a combined basis) facilitates a meaningful analysis of our
cash flow and is useful in identifying trends. The combined cash flow figures represent the sum of the reported amounts for
the Predecessor period from January 1, 2018 through May 31, 2018 and the Successor period from June 1, 2018 through
December 31, 2018. These combined cash flow figures are not considered to be prepared in accordance with GAAP and have
not been prepared as pro forma results under applicable regulations. The combined cash flow figures may not reflect the cash
flows we would have achieved absent our emergence from bankruptcy and may not be indicative of future results.

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months Combined
Ended Ended Year Ended Year Ended December 31,
December 31, December 31,
2018 May 31, 2018 2018 2017 2016
Operating activities $ 45,557 $ 21,655 $ 67,212 $ 31,700 $ 33,875
Investing activities 114,279 (29,046) 85,233 (82,437) 42,310
Financing activities (182,255) 31,227 (151,028) (2,000) (38,967)

2 SHDMY SR

Cash flows from operating activities provided $67.2 million and $31.7 million in 2018 on a combined basis and 2017,
respectively. The significant factors in the change were $23.9 million of increased revenues, $20.0 million of decreased
interest expense and a $21.0 million change in working capital, partially offset by a $16.3 million increase associated with
reorganization items, $7.9 million of increased lease operating expenses and $5.2 million of restructuring costs.

Cash flows from operating activities provided $31.7 million and $33.9 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. The
significant factors in the change were $57.1 million of decreased cash settlements from our matured derivative contracts and
$3.2 million of decreased gain on settlement of contract, partially offset by $40.8 million of increased revenues, an $11.7
million federal tax payment in 2016 related to the conversion of an acquired corporation to a single member limited liability
company and a $6.6 million change in working capital, primarily related to higher accounts receivable as a result of higher
oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues during 2017.

, QY $ AR/
During 2018, cash flows provided by investing activities totaled $85.2 million on a combined basis. This consisted of

$140.3 million in proceeds from the sale of oil and natural gas properties and $1.9 million from reimbursements related to oil
and natural gas properties, partially offset by the use of $57.1 million for additions to our oil and natural gas properties.
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During 2017, cash flows used in investing activities totaled $82.4 million. This consisted of $61.4 million for
acquisitions of oil and natural gas properties and $27.3 million for additions to our oil and natural gas properties, partially
offset by $3.7 million from the sale of oil and natural gas properties and $2.5 million from reimbursements related to oil and
natural gas properties.

During 2016, cash flows provided by investing activities totaled $42.3 million. This consisted of $54.5 million from the

sale of oil and natural gas properties and $3.0 million in cash settlements from acquired derivative contracts partially offset
by $15.3 million for additions to our oil and natural gas properties.

) LDQHQ) SRR

During 2018, on a combined basis, we received $34.0 million from borrowings under our credit facility, repaid $182.0
million of long-term debt borrowings and paid $2.8 million of debt issuance costs.

During 2017, we received $26.0 million from borrowings under our credit facility and repaid $28.0 million of
borrowings under our credit facility.

During 2016, we received $57.0 million from borrowings under our credit facility, repaid $57.0 million of borrowings
under our credit facility, and paid distributions of $3.9 million to holders of our common units, phantom units and our general
partner relating to fiscal year 2015. We also redeemed $82.7 million of our Senior Notes for $35.0 million.

Capital Requirements

We currently expect spending in 2019 for additions to our oil and natural gas properties to be between $3 million and $6
million, a decrease from the amounts spent in 2018.

We expect to fund these amounts with cash on hand, proceeds from sales of assets, net cash flows generated from
operations and borrowings under our credit facility.

Contractual Obligations

Payments Due by Period (. ts in th ds)
Total 2019 2020-2021  2022-2023 After 2023
Total debt @ $ 115,000 $ — $11500 $ — $ —
Estimated interest payments ® 11,608 5,363 6,245 — —
Transportation commitments © 2,633 856 1,365 412 —
Purchase obligation 13,739 13,739 — — —
Total $ 142980 $ 19,958 $ 122,610 $ 412 $ —

M Amounts represent the scheduled future maturities of principal amounts outstanding for the period indicated.

@ Amounts represent the expected cash payments for interest based on the amount outstanding under our credit facility as of
December 31, 2018 and the weighted average interest rate for 2018 of 4.60%. Maturities are shown at original maturity dates
assuming no acceleration.

@  Amounts represent commitments under a firm transportation agreement at current rates.

@ Amounts represent payments to be made under our Service Agreement with EnerVest based on the amount paid in 2018 as an estimate

for 2019. This amount will increase or decrease as we purchase or divest assets. While these payments will continue for periods
subsequent to December 31, 2019, no amounts are shown as they cannot be quantified.

Our asset retirement obligations are not included in the table above given the uncertainty regarding the actual timing of
such expenditures. The total amount of our asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2018 is $119.6 million.
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In January 2019, we adopted ASU No. 2016-02, / HDVW(“ASU 2016-02”). The adoption of this standard will result in an
increase in liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. The quantitative impacts of the new standard are dependent on the
leases in force at the time of adoption. At January 1, 2019, the operating lease liability is estimated to be insignificant. See
Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” contained herein for additional information.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business, we may enter into off-balance sheet arrangements that give rise to off-balance sheet
obligations. As of December 31, 2018, we have entered into off-balance sheet arrangements which totaled $0.2 million.

RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Please see “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward—looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act (each a “forward-looking statement”). These forward—looking statements

relate to, among other things, the following:

our business strategy and plans, and future capital expenditures, including plans to optimize the value of our assets,
including our business strategies following our emergence from bankruptcy;

our future financial and operating performance and results;

our estimated net proved reserves, PV—10 value and standardized measure;
the effects of asset and property dispositions or acquisitions on our cash position and levels of indebtedness;
costs of developing our properties and conducting other operations;

our cash flows, liquidity and capital availability;

market prices;

our financial strategy;

our production volumes;

environmental liabilities;

our ability to access the capital markets;

our future derivative activities; and

our plans and forecasts.

We have based these forward—looking statements on our current assumptions, expectations and projections about future
events.

The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “ensure,” “expect,
“outlook,” “aim,”

» o o« »

f,” “intend,” “estimate,” “project,” “forecasts,” “predict,”
will,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “may,” “likely,” the negative of such terms and similar expressions,
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and the negative thereof, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements discuss future expectations,
contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition or state other “forward—looking” information. We do not
undertake any obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, except as required by law. These
statements also involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results or financial condition to materially differ
from our expectations in this Form 10-K including, but not limited to:

our inability to maintain relationships with suppliers, customers, employees and other third parties as a result of our
Chapter 11 filing;

our inability to control our contract operator, EnerVest Operating, outside of the parameters of the Services
Agreement;

our need to make accretive acquisitions or substantial capital expenditures to maintain our asset base;
the existence of unanticipated liabilities and problems related to acquired or divested businesses or properties;

the potential for additional impairments due to continuing or future declines in oil, natural gas and natural gas
liquids prices;

risks relating to any of our unforeseen liabilities;

fluctuations in prices of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids and the length of time commodity prices remain
depressed;

significant disruptions in the financial markets;

future capital requirements and availability of financing;

uncertainty inherent in estimating our reserves;

risks associated with drilling and operating wells;

discovery, acquisition, development and replacement of reserves;

liquidity and cash flows and their adequacy to fund our ongoing operations;

consequences of changes we have made or may make from time to time in the future, to our capital expenditures
budget, including the impact of those changes on our production levels, reserves, results of operations and liquidity;

changes in the financial condition of counterparties;

timing and amount of future production of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids;
availability of drilling and production equipment;

marketing of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids;

developments in oil and natural gas producing countries;

competition;

general economic conditions;
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governmental regulations;

activities taken or non—performance by third parties, including suppliers, contractors, operators, transporters and
purchasers of our production and counterparties to our derivative financial instrument contracts;

hedging decisions, including whether or not to enter into derivative financial instruments;
actions of third party co—owners of interest in properties in which we also own an interest; and
fluctuations in interest rates and the value of the US dollar in international currency markets.

All of our forward-looking information is subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the results expected. Although it is not possible to identify all factors, these risks and uncertainties include
the risk factors and the timing of any of those risk factors identified in “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Our revenues, operating results, financial condition and ability to borrow funds or obtain additional capital depend
substantially on prevailing prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids. Declines in prices may materially adversely
affect our financial condition, liquidity, ability to obtain financing and operating results. Lower prices also may reduce the
amount of oil, natural gas or natural gas liquids that we can produce economically. A decline in prices could have a material
adverse effect on the estimated value and estimated quantities of our reserves, our ability to fund our operations and our
financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and access to capital. Historically, prices and markets have been volatile,
with prices fluctuating widely, and they are likely to continue to be volatile.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks that are inherent in our financial statements that arise in the normal course of
business. We may enter into derivatives to manage or reduce market risk, but do not enter into derivatives for speculative
purposes.

We do not designate these or future derivatives as hedges for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the changes in the fair
value of these derivatives are recognized currently in earnings.

Commodity Price Risk

Our major market risk exposure is to prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids. These prices have historically
been volatile. As such, future earnings are subject to change due to changes in these prices. Realized prices are primarily
driven by the prevailing worldwide price for oil and regional spot prices for natural gas production. We have used, and expect
to continue to use, derivatives to reduce our risk of changes in the prices of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids. Pursuant
to our risk management policy, we engage in these activities as a hedging mechanism against price volatility associated with
pre—existing or anticipated sales of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids. Under our credit facility, we are required to hedge
(as of the date such swap agreements were executed) no less than 70% of our projected production volumes (excluding
projected production volumes from certain properties) for the 18-month period following the Effective Date.

We have entered into commodity contracts to hedge a portion of our anticipated oil and natural gas production through
December 2020. As of December 31, 2018, we have commodity contracts covering approximately 68% of our estimated
production attributable to our net proved reserves from January 2019 through December 2020. For more information
regarding our commodity derivative contracts, please see Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” Our actual production will vary from the amounts estimated in our
reserve reports, perhaps materially. Please read the disclosures under “Item 1A. Risk Factors — 2 XU HXMP DMG URHIYH

TXOQMY DG I XMUH SURGARNRQUDMY DIHEDHG RQP DQ'- DWAXP SWRQVWDWP D SURYHWR EHLCEFRXADIM $Q P DMUIDO
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LCDFPXUDALHY LQKHVH URVELYH HUNP DM/ RUWH XQEHLOLQ DWXP SNRQY/Z LGP DVLIDID Dl HRAKH TXDQIMEY DG SURHAWDOH
R RUUHIH?

The fair value of our oil and natural gas derivatives at December 31, 2018 was positive, representing an asset of $22.8
million on our consolidated balance sheet as of that date. A 10% change in prices with all other factors held constant would
result in a change in the fair value (generally correlated to our estimated future net cash flows from such instruments) of our
commodity contracts of approximately $20.7 million. Please see “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”
contained herein for additional information.

Interest Rate Risk

Our floating rate credit facility also exposes us to risks associated with changes in interest rates and as such, future
earnings are subject to change due to changes in these interest rates. If interest rates on our facility increased by 1%, interest
expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 would have increased by approximately $2.3 million.

In April 2018, in conjunction with our Restructuring, the Predecessor terminated its interest rate swaps for the period of
April 2018 to September 2020, which resulted in a cash settlement received in April 2018 of $1.6 million. As of December

31, 2018, we did not have any interest rate swaps in place.

Please see Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” contained herein for additional information.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for
establishing and maintaining effective internal control over our financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed
to provide reasonable assurance to our Management and Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of
published financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
based on the ,QM{IOERAURO ,QMDMS) IDPHZRN issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018.

/s/ MICHAEL E. MERCER /s/ RYAN STASH

Michael E. Mercer Ryan Stash

Chief Executive Officer Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Houston, TX

March 28, 2019
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018 (Successor balance sheet) and 2017 (Predecessor balance sheet), the related
consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and equity for the seven months ended December 31, 2018 (Successor
operations), the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and changes in owners’ equity for the five months
ended May 31, 2018 and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Predecessor operations), and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the Successor financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and cash
flows for the seven months ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Further, in our opinion, the Predecessor financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Predecessor as of December 31, 2017, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the five
months ended May 31, 2018 and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Fresh-Start Reporting

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Predecessor filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter
11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on April 2, 2018, and the Company emerged from bankruptcy on June 4, 2018.
Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with FASB Accounting Standard
Codification 852, S5HRJDQ]DMRY for the Successor as a new entity with assets, liabilities, and a capital structure having
carrying values not comparable with prior periods as described in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether
due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control
over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s’'DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 28, 2019

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1998.
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Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

, QWR\VDQG/ H A-BWXP BHUR \KDUHVRUXQW

Successor Predecessor
December 31, December 31,
2018 2017
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,313 $ 4,896
Equity securities 47,082 —
Accounts receivable:
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues 40,176 47,694
Other 4,496 78
Derivative asset 15,452 3,052
Other current assets 2,314 5,713
Total current assets 115,833 61,433
Oil and natural gas properties, net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization;
December 31, 2018, $12,950; December 31, 2017, $1,191,559 405,688 1,375,527
Long-term derivative asset 8,499 —
Other assets 4,474 4,845
Total assets $ 534,494 $ 1,441,805
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Third party $ 26,146 $ 43,817
Related party — 4,194
Derivative liability 1,165 396
Current portion of long-term debt — 605,549
Total current liabilities 27,311 653,956
Asset retirement obligations 117,529 158,793
Long—term debt, net 115,000 —
Other long—term liabilities 1,036 1,044
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Mezzanine equity 79 —
Stockholders’ / owners’ equity:
Predecessor common unitholders — 49,368,869 units issued and outstanding as
of December 31, 2017 — 648,371
Predecessor general partner interest — (20,359)
Successor common stock — $0.01 par value; 65,000,000 shares authorized; 10,054,816 shares
issued and 10,042,468 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2018 100 —
Successor additional paid-in capital 249,717 —
Successor treasury stock at cost — 12,348 shares at December 31, 2018 (247) —
Successor retained earnings 23,969 —
Total stockholders’ / owners’ equity 273,539 628,012
Total liabilities and equity $ 534,494 $ 1,441,805

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

, QWRX\DQGY H A-BVBHINKDIH XQWADD
Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended Year Ended December 31,
December 31, 2018 May 31, 2018 2017 2016
Revenues:
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues $ 137,169 $ 110,307 $ 223,297 $ 182,696
Transportation and marketing—related revenues 1,431 724 2,396 2,198
Total revenues 138,600 111,031 225,693 184,894
Operating costs and expenses:
Lease operating expenses 64,100 45,372 101,591 103,371
Cost of purchased natural gas 1,026 557 1,699 1,497
Dry hole and exploration costs 177 122 413 651
Production taxes 6,482 5,343 10,588 7,386
Accretion expense on obligations 5,420 3,176 7,653 8,225
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 16,012 46,196 96,901 119,171
General and administrative expenses 15,626 15,648 32,290 33,637
Restructuring costs — 5,211 — —
Impairment of oil and natural gas properties 3,065 3 93,607 131,260
Gain on settlement of contract — — — (3,185)
(Gain) loss on sales of oil and natural gas properties (697) 5 (981) (69)
Total operating costs and expenses 111,211 121,633 343,761 401,944
Operating income (loss) 27,389 (10,602) (118,068) (217,050)
Other income (expense), net:
Gain (loss) on derivatives, net 16,962 444 22,854 (35,950)
Interest expense (7,225) (13,652) (40,903) (42,487)
Gain on early extinguishment of debt — — — 47,695
Loss on equity securities (11,130) — — —
Other income, net 374 776 1,706 2,522
Total other income (expense), net (1,019) (12,432) (16,343) (28,220)
Reorganization items, net (2,323) (587,325) — —
Income (loss) before income taxes 24,047 (610,359) (134,411) (245,270)
Income tax (expense) benefit (78) (166) 210 2,375
Net income (loss) $ 23,969 $ (610,525) $ (134,201) $ (242,895)
Basic and diluted earnings per share / unit:
Net income (loss) $ 2.39 $ (12.12) $ (2.66) $ (4.85)
Weighted average common shares / units outstanding:
Basic 10,030 49,369 49,357 49,048
Diluted 10,032 49,369 49,357 49,048

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

, QWRX\DQB/
Successor Predecessor
Seven Five
Months Months
Ended Ended Year Ended
December 31, May 31, December 31,
2018 2018 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 23,969 $ (610,525) $ (134201) $ (242,895)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows provided by
operating activities:
Amortization of volumetric production payment liability — — — (4,108)
Accretion expense on obligations 5,420 3,176 7,653 8,225
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 16,012 46,196 96,901 119,171
Share-based compensation cost 1,227 3,784 4,266 6,611
Impairment of oil and natural gas properties 3,065 3 93,607 131,260
(Gain) loss on sales of oil and natural gas properties (697) 5 (981) (69)
Loss on equity securities 11,130 — — —
(Gain) loss on derivatives, net (16,962) (444) (22,854) 35,950
Cash settlements of matured derivative contracts (5,824) 3,099 (2,235) 54,884
Gain on early extinguishment of debt — — — (47,695)
Deferred taxes — — — (404)
Reorganization items, net — 573,304 — —
Other 1,020 248 1,411 2,523
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 7,823 (3,518) (2,670) (11,403)
Other current assets (53) 1,853 (1,585) (361)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (513) 4,405 (6,783) (5,862)
Income taxes — — — (11,657)
Other, net (60) 69 (829) (295)
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 45,557 21,655 31,700 33,875
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of oil and natural gas properties — — (61,400) —
Additions to oil and natural gas properties (27,368) (29,727) (27,268) (15,258)
Reimbursements related to oil and natural gas properties 1,294 652 2,517 —
Proceeds from sale of oil and natural gas properties 140,324 3 3,654 54,509
Cash settlements from acquired derivative contracts — — — 3,003
Other 29 26 60 56
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 114,279 (29,046) (82,437) 42,310
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long—term debt borrowings (182,000) — (28,000) (57,000)
Long-term debt borrowings — 34,000 26,000 57,000
Redemption of 8% Senior Notes due 2019 — — — (34,978)
Loan costs incurred — (2,813) — (121)
Purchase of treasury stock (247) — — —
Contributions from general partner — 40 — —
Distributions paid — — — (3,868)
Other 8) — — —
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (182,255) 31,227 (2,000) (38,967)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (22,419) 23,836 (52,737) 37,218
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — beginning of period 28,732 4,896 57,633 20,415
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — end of period $ 6,313 $ 28,732 $ 4,896 $ 57,633

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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, QWIRX\VDQB/
General Total
Common Partner Owners’
Unitholders Interest Equity
Balance, December 31, 2015 (Predecessor) $ 1,011,509 $ (12,950) $ 998,559
Distributions (3,793) (75) (3,868)
Equity—based compensation 6,479 132 6,611
Net loss (238,037) (4,858) (242,895)
Balance, December 31, 2016 (Predecessor) 776,158 (17,751) 758,407
Equity—based compensation 3,730 76 3,806
Net loss (131,517) (2,684) (134,201)
Balance, December 31, 2017 (Predecessor) 648,371 (20,359) 628,012
Contribution from general partner — 40 40
Equity—based compensation 3,708 76 3,784
Net loss (598,314) (12,211) (610,525)
Issuance of common stock to Predecessor common unitholders (11,967) — (11,967)
Issuance of warrants to Predecessor common unitholders (9,345) — (9,345)
Cancellation of Predecessor common unitholders (32,453) — (32,453)
Cancellation of Predecessor general partner interest — 32,454 32,454
Balance, May 31, 2018 (Predecessor) $ — — —
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Successor)
, QWRA\DQBY
Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Treasury Retained Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stock Earnings Equity
Issuance of successor common stock
to holders of the Senior Notes 9,500 $ 95 $ 227,271 $ — 3 — 3 227,366
Issuance of successor common stock

to predecessor common unitholders 500 5 11,962 — — 11,967
Issuance of warrants — — 9,345 — — 9,345
Balance, May 31, 2018 (Successor) 10,000 100 248,578 — — 248,678
Net income — — — — 23,969 23,969
Share-based compensation — — 1,139 — — 1,139
Restricted shares vested 55 — — — — —
Purchase of treasury stock (12) — — (247) — (247)
Balance, December 31, 2018 (Successor) 10,043 $ 100 $ 249,717 § (247) $ 23969 $ 273,539

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. is a newly formed Delaware corporation and the successor reporting company to EV Energy
Partners, L.P. (“EVEP”) pursuant to Rule 15d-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. As used herein, the
terms “Successor,” “Harvest” or the “Company” refer to Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. and its consolidated subsidiaries as a
whole or on an individual basis, depending on the context in which the statements are made. When referring to the
“Predecessor” or the “Partnership” in reference to the period prior to the emergence from bankruptcy, the intent is to refer to
EVEP, the predecessor that was dissolved following the Effective Date (as defined below) of the Plan (as defined below) and
its consolidated subsidiaries as a whole or on an individual basis, depending on the context in which the statements are made.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to: (i) the “Predecessor’s general partner” and “EV Energy GP” refer to
EV Energy GP, L.P,, a Delaware limited partnership, the Predecessor’s general partner, which was dissolved following the
Effective Date of the Plan; (ii) “EV Management” refers to EV Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the
former general partner of the Predecessor’s general partner; and (iii) “EnerVest” refers to EnerVest, Ltd., a Texas limited
partnership, the owner of EV Management.

Harvest is an independent oil and natural gas company that was formed in 2018, in connection with the reorganization of
the Predecessor. The Predecessor was publicly traded from September 2006 to June 2018. As discussed further in Note 2, on
April 2, 2018, EVEP, and 13 affiliated debtors (collectively, the “Debtors”) each filed a voluntary petition (the cases
commenced thereby, the “Chapter 11 proceedings”) for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy
Code (“Chapter 117) for bankruptcy protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the
“Bankruptcy Court”) via Case No. 18-10814. The Debtors requested that their cases be jointly administered under Case No.
18-10814 to pursue the prepackaged plan of reorganization. During the pendency of the Chapter 11 proceedings, EVEP
continued to operate its businesses and manage its properties under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Bankruptcy Court as a “Debtors-in-
Possession.” On May 17, 2018, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the “Confirmation Order”) confirming the Debtors’
First Modified Joint Prepackaged Plan of Reorganization (as amended, modified and supplemented from time to time, the
“Plan”). The Plan became effective on June 4, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), when all remaining conditions to the effectiveness
of the Plan were satisfied and the Company emerged from bankruptcy.

The Company operates one reportable segment engaged in the development and production of oil and natural gas
properties, and all of its operations are located in the United States. As a result of the ongoing review of the Company’s asset
base in order to maximize shareholder value, the Company has initiated processes to divest certain assets and in the future
may look to divest additional assets or all of its remaining assets and use the proceeds to repay bank debt, return capital to
shareholders, concentrate in existing positions or ventures into new basins. The oil and natural gas properties of Harvest are
located in the Barnett Shale, the San Juan Basin, the Appalachian Basin (which includes the Utica Shale), Michigan, the
Mid—Continent areas in Oklahoma, Texas, Arkansas, Kansas and Louisiana, the Permian Basin and the Monroe Field in
Northern Louisiana.

In the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, all dollar and share amounts in tabulations are in thousands of dollars
and shares or units, respectively, unless otherwise indicated.

NOTE 2. EMERGENCE FROM VOLUNTARY REORGANIZATION UNDER CHAPTER 11

On March 13, 2018, the Debtors entered into a Restructuring Support Agreement (the “Restructuring Support
Agreement”) with (i) holders (collectively, the “Supporting Noteholders”) of approximately 70% of the 8.0% senior
unsecured notes due April 2019 (the “Senior Notes”) issued pursuant to that certain indenture, dated as of March 22, 2011 (as
amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Indenture”), among EVEP, EV Energy
Finance Corp., each of the guarantors party thereto, and Delaware Trust Company, as indenture trustee (the “Notes Trustee”),
that are signatories to the Restructuring Support Agreement; (ii) lenders (collectively, the “Supporting Lenders” and, together
with the Supporting Noteholders, the “Supporting Parties”) under the Company’s reserve-based lending facility, by and
among EVEP, EV Properties, L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”), BNP
Paribas and Wells Fargo, National Association, as co-syndication agents, the guarantors
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party thereto (the “credit facility”), and the lenders signatory thereto, constituting approximately 94% of the principal amount
outstanding thereunder; (iii) EnerVest; and (iv) EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. (“EnerVest Operating” and, together with
EnerVest, the “EnerVest Parties”). The Restructuring Support Agreement sets forth, subject to certain conditions, the
commitment of the Debtors and the Consenting Creditors to support a comprehensive restructuring of the Debtors’ long-term
debt (the “Restructuring”).

On April 2, 2018 (the “Petition Date), the Debtors commenced the Chapter 11 Cases in the Bankruptcy Court. The
Debtors filed motions with the Bankruptcy Court seeking operational and procedural relief, including joint administration of
their Chapter 11 Cases. The Debtors’ Chapter 11 proceedings were jointly administered under the caption ,QUH( 9 ( G\
3DUW@HY / 3 HADDCase No. 18-10814.

On May 17, 2018, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Confirmation Order confirming the Debtors’ Plan.

On June 4, 2018, the Debtors satisfied the conditions to effectiveness of the Plan, the Plan became effective in
accordance with its terms and the Company emerged from bankruptcy. Although the Company is no longer a debtor-in-
possession, the Company was a debtor-in-possession from April 2, 2018 through June 4, 2018. As such, certain aspects of the
Chapter 11 proceedings and related matters are described below in order to provide context to the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations for the period presented.

Plan of Reorganization
In accordance with the Plan, on the Effective Date:

The Successor issued (i) 9,500,000 new shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“common stock”)
pro rata to holders of the Senior Notes with claims allowed under the Plan; (ii) 500,016 shares of common stock pro
rata to holders of units of EVEP prior to the Effective Date; (iii) 800,000 warrants (the “Warrants”) to purchase
800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to holders of units of EVEP prior to the Effective Date exercisable
for a five-year period commencing on the Effective Date entitling their holders upon exercise thereof, on a pro rata
basis, to 8% of the total issued and outstanding common stock (including common stock as of the Effective Date
issuable upon full exercise of the Warrants, but excluding any common stock issuable under the Company’s
Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”)), at a per share exercise price of $37.48; (iv) 79,000 shares of 8%
Cumulative Nonparticipating Redeemable Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) to its indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary EV Midstream, L.P. for consideration of $790,000; and (v) 21,000 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock to one employee of the Company and one employee of EnerVest for consideration of services to the
Company, which vest on the earlier of (i) June 4, 2019 or (ii) immediately prior to the consummation of a Sale
Transaction as such term is defined in the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Series A
Preferred Stock (the “Certificate of Designations”);

The holders of claims under the Predecessor’s credit facility received full recovery, consisting of (i) their pro rata
share of the $1 billion new reserve-based revolving loan (the “Exit Credit Facility”), as further discussed in Note 12;
(ii) cash in amount equal to the accrued but unpaid interest payable to such lenders under the credit facility as of the
Effective Date; and (iii) unfunded commitments and letter of credit participation under the Exit Credit Facility equal
to the unfunded commitments and letter of credit participation of such lender as of the Effective Date;

The Senior Notes were cancelled and the Predecessor’s liability thereunder discharged, and the holders of the Notes
received (directly or indirectly) their pro rata share of New Common Stock representing, in the aggregate, 95% of
the New Common Stock on the Effective Date (subject to dilution by the MIP and the common shares issuable upon
exercise of the Warrants);

The Predecessor’s common units were cancelled, and each common unitholder received its pro rata share of: (i) 5%
of the New Common Shares and (ii) the Warrants;
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The holders of administrative expense claims, other priority claims and general unsecured creditors of the
Predecessor received in exchange for their claims payment in full in cash or otherwise had their rights unimpaired
under Title 11 of the United States Code;

The Successor entered into a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with certain
recipients of shares of its common stock pursuant to which the Successor agreed to, among other things, file a shelf
registration statement (the “Initial Shelf Registration Statement”) and use its reasonable best efforts to have the
Initial Shelf Registration Statement declared effective as soon as possible after the date of its first Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q following the Effective Date;

The Successor adopted the MIP, pursuant to which employees, directors, consultants and other service providers of
the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and cash-based awards. As of the Effective Date, an aggregate of
689,362 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the MIP, all of which may be granted in the form
of incentive stock options;

The terms of the Predecessor’s board of directors automatically expired on the Effective Date. The Successor
formed a new five-member board of directors consisting of the Chief Executive Officer and two new members
designated by certain parties to the Restructuring Support Agreement and two independent members; and

General unsecured claims received, (i) if such claim was due and payable on or before the Effective Date, payment
in full, in cash, or the unpaid portion of its allowed general unsecured claim, (ii) if such claim was not due and
payable before the Effective Date, payment in the ordinary course, and (iii) other treatment, as may be agreed upon
by the Debtors, the Supporting Noteholders and the holder of such general unsecured claim; and

The Company converted from a limited partnership to a corporation.

NOTE 3. FRESH START ACCOUNTING

In connection with emergence from the Chapter 11 proceedings on the Effective Date, the Company applied the
provisions of fresh start accounting, pursuant to ASC 852, Reorganizations (“ASC 852”), to its consolidated financial
statements, which resulted in the Company becoming a new entity for financial reporting purposes. Harvest qualified for
fresh start accounting as (i) the holders of existing voting common units of the Predecessor received less than 50% of the
voting shares of the emerged entity and (ii) the reorganization value of assets immediately prior to confirmation was less than
the post-petition liabilities and allowed claims. ASC 852 requires that fresh start accounting be applied when the Bankruptcy
Court enters the Confirmation Order confirming the Plan, or as of a later date when all material conditions precedent to the
effectiveness of the Plan are resolved, which was June 4, 2018. The Company elected to apply fresh start accounting effective
May 31, 2018, to coincide with the timing of its normal accounting period close. The Company evaluated the events between
May 31, 2018 and June 4, 2018 and concluded that the use of an accounting convenience date of May 31, 2018 did not have a
material impact on the results of operations or financial position.

Upon adoption of fresh start accounting, the reorganization value derived from the enterprise value was allocated to the
Company’s assets and liabilities based on their fair values (except for deferred income taxes) in accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification 805 %oXMHWV &RPBEDWRY/(“ASC 805”). The amount of deferred income taxes recorded was
determined in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 740 ,@FRPH70 B{“ASC 740”). The Effective Date fair
values of the Company’s assets and liabilities differed materially from their recorded values as reflected on the historical
balance sheet of the Predecessor. The effects of the Plan and the application of fresh start accounting were reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as of May 31, 2018, and the related adjustments thereto were recorded on the consolidated
statement of operations for the five months ended May 31, 2018.
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As a result of the adoption of fresh start accounting and the effects of the implementation of the Plan, the Company’s
consolidated financial statements subsequent to May 31, 2018, are not comparable to its consolidated financial statements
prior to May 31, 2018. References to “Successor” relate to the financial position and results of operations of the reorganized
Company as of and subsequent to May 31, 2018. References to “Predecessor” relate to the financial position of the Company
prior to, and results of operations through and including, May 31, 2018.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented with a black line division, which
delineates the lack of comparability between amounts presented after May 31, 2018, and amounts presented on or prior to
May 31, 2018. The Company’s financial results for future periods following the application of fresh start accounting will be
different from historical trends and the differences may be material.

Reorganization Value

In the disclosure statement associated with the Plan, which was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court, the Successor’s
enterprise value was estimated to be within a range of $450 million to $550 million, with a midpoint estimate of
approximately $500 million. Enterprise value represents the estimated fair value of a company’s interest-bearing debt, its
stockholders’ equity and working capital. Based on the estimates and assumptions utilized in the fresh start accounting
process, the Company estimated the Successor’s enterprise value to be approximately $524.6 million before the consideration
of cash and cash equivalents on hand at the Effective Date. Reorganization value represents the fair value of the Successor’s
total assets prior to the consideration of liabilities and is intended to approximate the amount a willing buyer would pay for
the assets immediately after a restructuring. The reorganization value, which was derived from the Successor’s enterprise
value, was allocated to the Company’s individual assets based on their estimated fair values.

The following table is a reconciliation of the enterprise value to the estimated fair value of the Successor’s common
stock at the Effective Date (in thousands):

Enterprise Value $ 524,596
Plus: Cash and cash equivalents 21,082
Less: Fair value of debt (297,000)
Fair value of successor equity $ 248,678

The following table is a reconciliation of the enterprise value to the reorganization value of the Successor assets at the
Effective Date (in thousands):

Enterprise Value $ 524,596
Plus: Cash and cash equivalents 21,082
Plus: Other working capital liabilities 36,787
Plus: Other long-term liabilities 121,041
Reorganization value of Successor assets $ 703,506

The Company’s assets consist primarily of producing oil and natural gas properties. The fair values of proved and
unproved oil and natural gas properties were estimated using valuation techniques consistent with the income approach,
converting future cash flows to a single discounted amount. The factors to determine fair value include, but are not limited to,
estimates of: (i) economic reserves, (ii) future operating and development costs, (iii) future commodity prices and (iv) a
market-based weighted average cost of capital. These inputs require significant judgments and estimates by the Company’s
management at the time of the valuation and are the most sensitive and subject to change. The underlying commodity prices
embedded in the Company’s estimated cash flows are the product of a process that incorporates forward commodity pricing,
analyst pricing estimates and adjustments for estimated location and quality differentials, as well as other factors as necessary
that the Company’s management believes will impact realizable prices. The fair value of support equipment and facilities
were estimated using a cost approach, based on current replacement costs of the assets less depreciation based on the
estimated economic useful lives of the assets and age of the assets.

81




Table of Contents

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

See below under the caption “Fresh Start Adjustments” for additional information regarding assumptions used in the
valuation of the Company’s various other significant assets and liabilities.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

The adjustments included in the following condensed consolidated balance sheet reflect the effect of the transactions
contemplated by the Plan (reflected in the column “Reorganization Adjustments”) as well as fair value and other required
accounting adjustments resulting from the adoption of fresh start accounting (reflected in the column “Fresh Start
Adjustments”). The explanatory notes provide additional information with regard to the adjustments recorded, the methods
used to determine the fair values and significant assumptions.

As of May 31, 2018

Reorganization Fresh Start
Predecessor  Adjustments Adjustments Successor
ASSETS
Current assets: @
Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,020 $ (13,938)(3) $ — $ 21,082
Restricted cash — 7,650 — 7,650
Accounts receivable: -
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues 48,986 1,261 @ — 50,247
Related party 1,503 (1,503) — —
Other 800 — s — 800
Other current assets 4,580 (527) (1,791) 2,262
Total current assets 90,889 (7,057) (1,791)(13) 82,041

Oil and natural gas properties, net 1,355,504 T (739,486)(14> 616,018

Other assets 4,507 1,941 (1,001) 5,447

Total assets $ 1,450,900 $ (5,116) $ (742,278) $ 703,506

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities: o .

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 34,922 $ 2,177 , $ (312) $ 36,787
Current portion of long-term debt 297,000 (297,000) — —
Total current liabilities 331,922 (294,823),, (312) 36,787

Liabilities subject to compromise 356,066 (356,066) — —

Asset retirement obligations 161,661 = (41,641) 120,020

Long-term debt, net — 297,000 — 297,000

Other long—term liabilities 1,021 — — 1,021
Total liabilities 850,670 (353,889) (41,953) 454,828

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Stockholders’ / owners’ equity: w0 )
Predecessor common unitholders 621,144 65,175 (686,319)(16) —
Predecessor general partner interest (20,914) 34,920 (14,006) —
Successor common stock — 100 — 100
Successor additional paid-in capital — 248,578 an — 248,578

Total stockholders’ / owners’ equity 600,230 348,773 (700,325) 248,678

Total liabilities and equity $ 1,450,900 $ (5,116) $ (742,278) $ 703,506

5HRJIDQ] DARQ$ OWWY HOV

® Reflects amounts recorded as of the Effective Date for the implementation of the Plan, including among other items,
settlement of the Predecessor’s liabilities subject to compromise, cancellation of the Predecessor’s equity, issuance of the
Successor New Common Shares and the Warrants, repayment of certain of Predecessor’s liabilities and settlement with
holders of the Senior Notes.
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@ Reflects the changes in cash and cash equivalents, including the following:

Funding of the professional fees escrow account $ (7,650)
Payment of debt issuance costs on the Successor Exit Credit Facility (2,813)
Payment of professional fees (1,591)
Payment of success fees (1,573)
Payment of derivative settlement (216)
Payment of accrued interest payable under the Predecessor credit facility (135)
Transfer of funds from Predecessor’s general partner 40
Changes in cash and cash equivalents $  (13,938)

@ Reflects the transfer of restricted cash to fund the professional fees escrow account.

@ Primarily reflects the reclassification of the related party net receivable from EnerVest to a third party receivable as
EnerVest is no longer a related party as result of the Restructuring. Also, reflects the cancellation of related party claims
of $0.2 million with the general partner of EVEP as a result of the Debtor’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy
proceedings.

© Represents the expense of certain prepaid professional fees as a result of the Debtor’s emergence from Chapter 11
bankruptcy proceedings.

© Reflects the capitalization of the deferred financing costs of $2.8 million related to the Successor’s Exit Credit Facility,
offset by the write-off of $0.8 million of deferred financing costs related to the Predecessor’s credit facility.

? Net increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities reflects the following:

Recognition of payables for success fees $ 4,086
Recognition of payables for professional fees 32
Payment of professional fees (1,590)
Payment of derivative settlement (216)
Payment of accrued interest payable under the Predecessor credit facility (135)
Net increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,177

® Reflects the reclassification of $297.0 million in borrowings under the Exit Credit Facility to long-term debt.

© Settlement of liabilities subject to compromise and the resulting net gain were determined as follows:

Senior Notes $ 343,348
Accrued interest payable 12,718
Total liabilities subject to compromise of Predecessor 356,066
Issuance of common stock to holders of the Senior Notes (227,366)
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise $ 128,700

The amount of disallowed interest during the period from the Petition Date through the Effective Date of emergence not
included in the accrued interest payable in the table above was $4.7 million.
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9 Reflects the cancellation of the Predecessor company common unitholders and general partner interest.

General

Common Partner

Unitholders Interest
Net gain from reorganization adjustments $ 118940 $ 2,426
Contribution from general partner — 40
Issuance of common stock to Predecessor common unitholders (11,967) —
Issuance of warrants to Predecessor common unitholders (9,345) —
Cancellation of Predecessor common unitholders / general partner interest (32,453) 32,454

$ 65,175 $ 34,920

M Reflects the issuance of 10,000,016 shares of common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share in accordance with the Plan,
and the issuance of 800,000 warrants in accordance with the Plan. The fair value of the Warrants was determined by using
the Black-Scholes model and were reasonably estimated to be approximately $11.68 per share. See Note 14 for additional
information on the issuance of the Successor’s Warrants.

Issuance of shares of Successor common stock at par value of $0.01 per share $ 100
Additional paid-in capital from issuance of Successor common stock 239,233
Additional paid-in capital from issuance of Successor warrants 9,345
Fair value of Successor equity $ 248,678

See Note 14 for additional information on the issuances of the Successor’s equity.
) URK 6\BL/S GAVI HOV
™ Reflects the adjustment to write-down certain other current assets to fair value.

™ Reflects a decrease of oil and natural gas properties, net. In determining the fair value of the oil and gas properties both the
income and market approach were utilized and the accumulated depreciation, depletion and impairment was eliminated.
The following table summarizes the components of oil and natural gas properties as of the Effective Date: based on the
methodology discussed above and the elimination of accumulated depreciation, depletion and impairment. The fresh start
adjustments to oil and natural gas properties, net are as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Fair Value Historical Book Value
Proved oil and natural gas properties $ 547,136 $ 2,593,249
Unproved oil and natural gas properties 68,882 —
616,018 2,593,249
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization — (1,237,745)
Net capitalized costs $ 616,018 $ 1,355,504

@9 Reflects the write-off of immaterial other assets not anticipated to have value to Harvest.

®Reflects a decrease of $42.0 million for asset retirement obligations. The fair value of asset retirement obligations was
estimated using valuation techniques that convert future cash flows to a single discounted amount. Significant inputs to
the valuation include estimates of: (i) plugging and abandonment costs per well based on existing regulatory

requirements, (ii) remaining life per well, (iii) future inflation factors and (iv) a credit-adjusted risk free rate.

9 Reflects the cumulative impact of the fresh start adjustments discussed above.
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Reorganization Items, Net

The Company has incurred significant costs associated with the reorganization. These costs, which are expensed as
incurred, are expected to significantly affect the Company’s results of operations. Reorganization items, net, represent costs,
gains and losses directly associated with the Chapter 11 proceedings since the Petition Date.

The following table summarizes the components of reorganization items, net, included in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations:

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended

December 31, 2018 May 31, 2018
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise $ — | $ 128,700
Fresh start valuation adjustments — (700,325)
Professional fees (2,323) (13,345)
Other — (2,355)
Reorganization items, net $ (2,323) | $ (587,325)

NOTE 4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements for the Successor and Predecessor include the operations of the Company and all
of its wholly owned subsidiaries and the operations of the Partnership and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries, respectively.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Bankruptcy Accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if the Company is a going concern and reflect the
application of Accounting Standards Codification 852 5HRJDQ]DMRAA“ASC 852”). ASC 852 requires that the financial
statements, for periods subsequent to the Chapter 11 filing, distinguish transactions and events that are directly associated
with the reorganization from the ongoing operations of the business. Accordingly, certain expenses, gains and losses that
were realized or incurred related to the bankruptcy proceedings are recorded in “Reorganization items, net” on the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Upon emergence from bankruptcy on June 4, 2018, the Company elected to adopt and apply the relevant guidance
provided in GAAP (as defined below) with respect to the accounting and financial statement disclosures for entities that have
emerged from Chapter 11 (“fresh start accounting”) effective May 31, 2018 to coincide with the timing of the Company’s
normal accounting period close. As a result of the application of fresh start accounting and the effects of the implementation
of the plan of reorganization, the consolidated financial statements as of or after May 31, 2018, are not comparable with the
consolidated financial statements prior to that date. To facilitate the financial statement presentations, the Company refers to
the reorganized company in these consolidated financial statements and notes as the “Successor” for periods subsequent to
May 31, 2018 and “Predecessor” for periods prior to June 1, 2018. Furthermore, the consolidated financial statements and
notes have been presented with a “black line” division to delineate the lack of comparability between the Predecessor and
Successor. See Note 2 and Note 3 for additional information.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates and judgments on
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historical experience and on various other assumptions and information that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty and,
accordingly, these estimates may change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is
obtained and as the operating environment changes. While the Company believes that the estimates and assumptions used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are appropriate, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of
purchase to be cash equivalents. All of its cash and cash equivalents are maintained with several major financial institutions
in the United States. Deposits with these financial institutions may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such
deposits; however, the Company regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions and believes that it is
not exposed to any significant default risk.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids sales are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not
bear interest. The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and bad debts are recorded based on an
account-by—account review after all means of collection have been exhausted, and the potential recovery is considered
remote.

The Company did not have any reserves for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2018, and did not incur any expense
related to bad debts for the year ended December 31, 2018. The Predecessor did not have any reserves for doubtful accounts
as of December 31, 2017, and did not incur any expense related to bad debts during the year ended December 31, 2017. The
Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to customers.

Property and Depreciation

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids producing activities are accounted for under the successful efforts method of
accounting. Under this method, exploration costs, other than the costs of drilling exploratory wells, are charged to expense as
incurred. Costs that are associated with the drilling of successful exploration wells are capitalized if proved reserves are
found. Lease acquisition costs are capitalized when incurred. Capitalized costs associated with unproved properties totaled
$8.5 million as of December 31, 2018. There were no capitalized costs associated with unproved properties as of
December 31, 2017. Costs associated with the drilling of exploratory wells that do not find proved reserves, geological and
geophysical costs and costs of certain non—producing leasehold costs are expensed as incurred.

Sales proceeds are credited to the carrying value of the properties, and no gains or losses are recognized upon the
disposition of proved oil and natural gas properties except in transactions such as the significant disposition of an amortizable
base that significantly affects the unit—of—production amortization rate.

The capitalized costs of producing oil and natural gas properties are depreciated and depleted by the units—of—production
method based on the ratio of current production to estimated total net proved reserves as estimated by independent petroleum
engineers. Proved developed reserves are used in computing unit rates for drilling and development costs and total proved
reserves are used for depletion rates of leasehold and pipeline costs.

Other property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, which is computed using the straight—line method based

on estimated economic lives ranging from three to 25 years. The Company expenses costs for maintenance and repairs in the
period incurred. Significant improvements and betterments are capitalized if they extend the useful life of the asset.

86




Table of Contents

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Impairment of Oil and Natural Gas Properties

The Company evaluates its proved oil and natural gas properties and related equipment and facilities for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such properties may not be recoverable.
The determination of recoverability is made based upon estimated undiscounted future net cash flows. The amount of
impairment loss, if any, is determined by comparing the fair value, as determined by a discounted cash flow analysis, with the
carrying value of the related asset. For the seven months ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded impairment
charges of $3.1 million related to proved oil and natural gas properties as the carrying amounts of such properties were
determined not to be recoverable. For the five months ended May 31, 2018, the Predecessor did not record any impairment
charges related to proved oil and natural gas properties. In 2017 and 2016, the Predecessor recorded impairment charges of
$69.9 million and $89.5 million respectively, related to proved oil and natural gas properties as the carrying amounts of such
properties were determined not to be recoverable. The $3.1 million of impairment during the seven months ended December
31, 2018, related to properties located in Central Texas and Karnes County, Texas which were sold in August 2018 (see Note
8). If commodity prices significantly decrease in future quarters, the Company could have additional impairments of oil and
natural gas properties.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties are assessed periodically on a property—by—property basis, and any impairment
in value is recognized. For the seven months ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not record any impairment charges
related to unproved oil and natural gas properties. For the five months ended May 31, 2018, the Predecessor recorded an
insignificant amount of impairment charges related to unproved oil and natural gas properties. For 2017 and 2016, the
Predecessor recorded impairment charges of $23.7 million and $41.8 million, respectively, related to unproved oil and natural
gas properties where it had a change in development plans for the acreage.

Asset Retirement Obligations

An asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) represents the future abandonment costs of tangible assets, such as wells, service
assets, and other facilities. The Company records an ARO and capitalizes the asset retirement cost in oil and natural gas
properties in the period in which the retirement obligation is incurred based upon the fair value of an obligation to perform
site reclamation, dismantle facilities or plug and abandon wells. After recording these amounts, the ARO is accreted to its
future estimated value using an assumed cost of funds and the additional capitalized costs are depreciated on a unit—of—
production basis. If the ARO is settled for an amount other than the recorded amount, a gain or loss is recognized.

Revenue Recognition

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues are recognized upon the transfer of control of the products to a
purchaser. Transfer of control typically occurs when the products are delivered to the purchaser, title and/or risk of loss has
transferred and collectability of the revenue is reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized net of royalties due to third parties
in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products.

The Company’s oil production is primarily sold under market-sensitive contracts that are typically priced at a differential
to the NYMEX price or at purchaser posted prices for the producing area. For oil contracts, the Company generally records
sales based on the net amount received.

The Company’s natural gas production is primarily sold under market-sensitive contracts that are typically priced at a
differential to the published natural gas index price for the producing area due to the natural gas quality and the proximity to
major consuming markets. For natural gas contracts, the Company generally records wet gas sales at the wellhead or inlet of
the gas processing plant as revenues net of transportation, gathering and processing expenses if the processor is the customer
and there is no redelivery of commodities to the Company at the tailgate of the plant. Conversely, the Company generally
records residual natural gas and natural gas liquids sales at the tailgate of the plant on a gross basis along with the associated
transportation, gathering and processing expenses if the processor is a service provider and there
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is redelivery of commodities to the Company at the tailgate of the plant. All facts and circumstances of an arrangement are
considered and judgment is often required in making this determination.

In addition, the Company recognizes processing expenses for commodities paid as noncash consideration in exchange
for processing services and recognizes the associated revenues for those same commodities. This recognition results in an
increase to revenues and expenses with no impact on net income.

The Company follows the sales method of accounting for natural gas revenues. Under this method of accounting,
revenues are recognized based on volumes sold, which may differ from the volume to which the Company is entitled based
on its working interest. An imbalance is recognized as a liability only when the estimated remaining reserves will not be
sufficient to enable the under—produced owner(s) to recoup its entitled share through future production. Under the sales
method, no receivables are recorded where the Company has taken less than its share of production. There were no
significant gas imbalances at December 31, 2018 or 2017.

Harvest owns and operates a network of natural gas gathering systems in the Appalachian Basin and the Monroe Field in
Northern Louisiana which gather and transport owned natural gas and a small amount of third party natural gas to intrastate,
interstate and local distribution pipelines. Natural gas gathering and transportation revenue is recognized when the natural gas
has been delivered to a custody transfer point.

See Note 5 for additional information regarding revenue recognition.
Income Taxes

Effective June 4, 2018, pursuant to the Plan, the Successor became a corporation subject to federal and state income
taxes. Prior to the Plan being effective, the Predecessor was a limited partnership and organized as a pass-through entity for
federal and most state income tax purposes. As a result, the Predecessor’s limited partners were responsible for federal and
state income taxes on their share of taxable income. The Predecessor was subject to the Texas margin tax for partnership
activity in the state of Texas. See Note 15 for additional information regarding income taxes.

Earnings per Share / Limited Partner Unit

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings attributable to stockholders by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by adjusting the average number of
shares outstanding for the dilutive effect, if any, of potential common shares. The Company uses the treasury stock method to
determine the dilutive effect.

The Predecessor used the two—class method to compute earnings per limited partner unit. The two-class method is an
earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per unit for common units and participating securities as if all earnings
for the period had been distributed. As the unvested phantom units and the earned but unvested performance units
participated in dividends on an equal basis with the common units, they were considered to be participating securities.
Earnings used in the determination of earnings per limited partner unit for the reporting period were reduced by the amount
of earnings allocated to the general partner and available cash that would be distributed to the limited partners and the
participating securities. The undistributed earnings, if any, were then allocated to the limited partners and the participating
securities in accordance with the terms of the partnership agreement. Basic and diluted earnings per limited partner unit were
then calculated by dividing earnings, after deducting the amount allocated to the general partner and the earnings attributable
to the participating securities, by the weighted average number of outstanding limited partner units during the period.

Derivatives
The Company monitors its exposure to various business risks, including commodity price and interest rate risks, and

uses derivatives to manage the impact of certain of these risks. The Company’s policies do not permit the use of derivatives
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for speculative purposes. Harvest uses energy derivatives for the purpose of mitigating risk resulting from fluctuations in the
market price of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids.

The Company has elected not to designate its derivatives as hedging instruments. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
are recorded immediately to earnings as “Gain (loss) on derivatives, net” in the consolidated statements of operations.

Concentration of Credit Risk

All of the Company’s derivative contracts are with major financial institutions who are also lenders under the Exit Credit
Facility. Should one of these financial counterparties not perform, Harvest may not realize the benefit of some of its
derivative contracts and could incur a loss. As of December 31, 2018, all of the Company’s counterparties have performed
pursuant to their derivative contracts.

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues are derived principally from uncollateralized sales to numerous
companies in the oil and natural gas industry; therefore, Harvest customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic
and other conditions within the industry. The Company has experienced no significant credit losses on such sales in the past.

During 2018, one customer accounted for 15.5% of the consolidated oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues. In
2017, two customers accounted for 15.5% and 11.0%, respectively, of the Predecessor’s consolidated oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids revenues. In 2016, three customers accounted for 18.5%, 13.4% and 10.4%, respectively, of the
Predecessor’s consolidated oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues. Harvest believes that the loss of a major
customer would have a temporary effect on its revenues but, that over time, the Company would be able to replace its major
customers.

Recent Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No.
2014-09, SHHXHIURP &RQADPNVZ MK & XWRP HY(“ASU 2014-09”) This ASU, as amended, superseded virtually all of the
revenue recognition guidance in generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The core principle of the five—
step model is that an entity will recognize revenue when it transfers control of goods or services to customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Entities can choose to
apply the standard using either the full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach. The Partnership
implemented ASU 2014-09 as of January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method. The adoption of this ASU did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. See Note 5 for additional details about the
impact upon adoption and related disclosures.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, ) LCDJHDO, QXKP HIV 2 YHD® 6XBWSF (“ASU 2016-
01”) This main objective of this ASU was to enhance the reporting model for financial instruments to provide users of
financial statements with more decision-useful information. One of the provisions of this ASU was to require equity
investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the
investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. The Company implemented ASU
2016-01 as of January 1, 2018. Changes in fair value of the Company’s equity investments are included in “Gain on equity
securities” in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 10 for additional details regarding the fair value
measurement of the equity securities.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, / HDVW(“ASU 2016-02”). The main objective of ASU 2016-02 is
to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the
balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The main difference between previous GAAP and
Topic 842 is the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases. ASU
2016-02 requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities arising from leases on the balance sheet. ASU
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2016-02 further defines a lease as a contract that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant, or
equipment for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control over the use of the identified asset means that the
customer has both (1) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefit from the use of the asset and (2) the right to
direct the use of the asset. ASU 2016-02 requires disclosures by lessees and lessors to meet the objective of enabling users of
financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. In January 2018, the
FASB issued ASU 2018-01, / HDW 7RSF / DG (| DVHP HAB LDRNFDO( [ SHAHQATRU 7UDQUMRQ R 7RIIF (“ASU
2018-01"), which permits an entity an optional election to not evaluate under ASU 2016-02 those existing or expired land
easements that were not previously accounted for as leases prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-02. In July 2018, the FASB
issued ASU 2018-11, / HDW/ 7TRIF TDUIHMS, P SIRHP HOM“ASU 2018-11”), which permits an entity (i) to apply the
provisions of ASU 2016-02 at the adoption date instead of the earliest period presented in the financial statements, and, as a
lessor, (ii) to account for lease and nonlease components as a single component as the nonlease components would otherwise
be accounted for under the provisions of ASU 2014-09. For public entities, ASU 2016-02 and other related ASUs are
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. The Company will apply the new standard for its interim and annual reporting periods starting January 1,
2019 using a modified retrospective approach. The Company also plans to elect the package of practical expedients within
ASU 2016-02 that allows an entity to not reassess prior to the effective date (i) whether any expired or existing contracts are
or contain leases, (ii) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases or (iii) initial direct costs for any existing
leases. Additionally, the Company plans to elect the practical expedient under ASU 2018-01 and not evaluate existing or
expired land easements not previously accounted for as leases prior to the effective date. The adoption of this standard will
result in an increase in the assets and liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The quantitative impacts of
the new standard are dependent on the leases in force at the time of adoption. At January 1, 2019, the operating lease liability
is estimated to be insignificant. As a result, the adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, 6\BMHQNR &D\K) BRZM“ASU 2016-15”). This ASU addresses
certain cash flow issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice in how the cash receipts and cash
payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The Partnership adopted ASU 2016-15 on January 1,
2018. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Predecessor’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18: 6\BWMP HONR &DK) GZV S5HINRMS &DWK(“ASU 2016-18”).
The main objective of ASU 2016-18 is to address the diversity that exists in the classification and presentation of changes in
restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. The amendments in ASU 2016-18 require that a statement of cash flows
explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents and amounts generally described as restricted cash
or restricted cash equivalents. Thus, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be
included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning of period and end of period total amounts shown on
the statement of cash flows. The Partnership adopted ASU 2016-18 on January 1, 2018. The adoption of this ASU resulted in
a change to the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, the $5.5 million cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period was revised to $57.6 million cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash — beginning of period and the net cash used in investing activities was increased from $30.3
million to $82.4 million. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the $5.5 million cash and cash equivalents — end of period
was revised to $57.6 million cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — end of period and the net cash used in investing
activities was revised from $9.8 million to net cash provided by investing activities of $42.3 million.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, %oMHNV&RPHMIRY 7RIF &@UN LQJ WH' HIQWRQR D
YMPAM“ASU 2017-01”). The main objective of ASU 2017-01 is to clarify the definition of a business with the objective
of adding guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or
disposals) of assets or businesses. The amendments of this ASU provide a screen to determine when a set is not a business.
The screen requires that when substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired (or disposed of) is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets, the set is not a business. This screen reduces the number of
transactions that need to be further evaluated. If the screen is not met, the amendments of this ASU (i) require that to be
considered a business, a set must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
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together significantly contribute to the ability to create output and (ii) remove the evaluation of whether a market participant
could replace missing elements. The Partnership adopted ASU 2017-01 on January 1, 2018.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13: ) DU9DOHO HOWUHP HQNV 7RIF " WFRKUH) IDPHZRIN
&KDQIH/WRWH'" LWFBRXUHS HIXUWHP HQWIRU) DIU9DOHO HOMKUHP HM*ASU 2018-13”). The FASB issued ASU 2018-13 as
part of its disclosure framework project. The amendments of this ASU modify the disclosure requirements on fair value
measurements in Topic 820, ) DU9DOHO HDWUHPHINASU 2018-13 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years; early application is permitted.
The Company does not expect that adopting this ASU will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

No other new accounting pronouncements issued or effective during the year ended December 31, 2018 have had or are
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent Events

Harvest evaluated subsequent events for appropriate accounting and disclosure through the date these consolidated
financial statements were issued.

NOTE 5. REVENUE

On January 1, 2018, the Partnership adopted ASU No. 2014-09, 5HHXHIURP &RQUDRANZ WK & XMRP HI(“Topic 606”),
using the modified retrospective method applied to contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. Accordingly, the
comparative information for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, have not been adjusted and continue to be
reported under the previous revenue standard. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements, and the primary impacts of this change in accounting policy for revenue recognition effective January 1,
2018, are detailed below.

There were no significant changes to the timing of revenue recognized for sales of production. However, as a result of
management’s evaluation under new considerations within Topic 606, the adoption did result in certain contracts being
recorded on a net basis instead of a gross basis, as well as some contracts being recorded on a gross basis instead of a net
basis, as a result of the determined delivery point. These presentation changes did not have an impact on income or loss from
operations, earnings per share/unit or cash flows, but did increase oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues and lease
operating expenses in the consolidated financial statements as compared to what would have been recognized using the
revenue recognition guidance that was in effect before the adoption of Topic 606.

The following table summarizes the impact of adopting Topic 606 on the consolidated financial statements:

Without Impact of
Adoption of Change in
Topic 606 Accounting Policy  As Reported

Successor
For the Seven Months Ended December 31, 2018:

Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues $ 134,232 $ 2937 $ 137,169
Lease operating expenses $ 61,163 $ 2,937 $ 64,100
Predecessor
For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2018:
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues $ 108253 $ 2,054 $ 110,307
Lease operating expenses $ 43318 $ 2,054 $ 45,372
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Revenue from contracts with customers includes the sale of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids production (recorded
in “Qil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues” in the consolidated statements of operations) and gathering and
transportation revenues (recorded in “Transportation and marketing-related revenues” in the consolidated statements of
operations). There was no impact to gathering and transportation revenues as a result of adopting Topic 606.

The following table disaggregates revenue by significant product and service type:

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended

December 31, 2018 May 31, 2018
Oil $ 41,411 $ 42,460
Natural gas @ 63,460 40,951
Natural gas liquids ©® 32,298 26,896
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues © 137,169 110,307
Transportation and marketing—related revenues 1,431 724
Total revenues @ $ 138,600 $ 111,031

'The Company recognizes wet gas revenues, which are recorded net of transportation, gathering and processing expenses, partially as
natural gas revenues and partially as natural gas liquids revenues based on the end products after processing occurs. For the Successor
period of the seven months ended December 31, 2018, wet gas revenues were $13.4 million which were recognized as $4.4 million of
natural gas revenues and $9.0 million of natural gas liquids revenues. For the Predecessor period of the five months ended May 31,
2018, wet gas revenues were $8.4 million which were recognized as $3.2 million of natural gas revenues and $5.2 million of natural
gas liquids revenues.

@ Includes a royalty adjustment of $5.0 million during the seven months ended December 31, 2018. Excluding this royalty adjustment,
revenues from natural gas liquids would have been $37.3 million; oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids revenues would have been
$142.2 million; and total revenues would have been $143.6 million for the seven months ended December 31, 2018. See Note 13 for
additional information.

Contract Balances

Customers are invoiced once the Company’s performance obligations have been satisfied. Payment terms and conditions
vary by contract type, although terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 days. There are no significant
judgments that significantly affect the amount or timing of revenue from contracts with customers. Accordingly, the
Company’s product sales contacts do not give rise to material contract assets or contract liabilities.

Accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids and from exploration and
production companies that own interests in properties Harvest operates. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company
and the Predecessor had receivables of $38.3 million and $47.7 million, respectively, due from purchasers of oil, natural gas
and natural gas liquids. This industry concentration could affect overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively,
because the Company’s purchasers and joint working interest owners may be similarly affected by changes in economic,
industry or other conditions. The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and bad debts are
recorded based on an account-by-account review specifically identifying receivables that the Company believes may be
uncollectible after all means of collection have been exhausted, and the potential recovery is considered remote. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company and the Predecessor did not have any reserves for doubtful accounts,
respectively.
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Performance Obligations

The Company applies the optional exemptions in Topic 606 and does not disclose consideration for remaining
performance obligations with an original expected duration of one year or less or for variable consideration related to
unsatisfied performance obligations.

NOTE 6. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

On the Effective Date, in connection with the Plan, the Company adopted the MIP, pursuant to which employees,
directors, consultants and other service providers of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to receive stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and cash-based awards. An
aggregate of 689,362 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance under the MIP. To the extent that an
award under the MIP is expired, forfeited or cancelled for any reason without having been exercised in full, the unexercised
award would then be available again for grant under the MIP.

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) (or any properly delegated
subcommittee thereof) or a committee of at least two people as the Board may appoint or, if no such committee or
subcommittee has been appointed by the Board, the Board (the “Committee”) will administer the MIP. The Committee has
broad authority under the MIP to, among other things: (i) select participants; (ii) determine the types of awards that
participants are to receive and the number of shares or the amount of cash that are to be subject to such awards and grant such
awards; and (iii) determine the terms, conditions and restrictions of awards, including the applicable performance criteria
relating to the award.

During the seven months ended December 31, 2018, the Company granted 54,800 shares of restricted stock under the
MIP, which vested during September 2018 as a result of the closing of the Central Texas divestiture (defined in Note 8). See
Note 8 for additional information about the divestiture. During the seven months ended December 31, 2018, the Company
also granted 6,500 shares of restricted stock under the MIP to members of the Board which are scheduled to vest on June 5,
2019. The weighted average fair value of the restricted shares granted during the seven months ended December 31, 2018,
was $20.33 with a total fair value of approximately $1.2 million. None of these shares were forfeited during the seven months
ended December 31, 2018. Approximately 0.6 million shares remain available for grant under the MIP as of December 31,
2018.

Activity related to these restricted share awards is as follows:

Number Weighted Average

of Grant Date

Restricted Shares Fair Value
Nonvested awards as of June 1, 2018 —  $ —
Granted 61,300 20.33
Vested (54,800) 19.99
Forfeited — —
Nonvested awards as of December 31, 2018 6,500 $ 23.20

The Company recognized compensation cost related to these restricted shares of $1.1 million for the seven months ended
December 31, 2018. These costs are included in “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of
operations. As of December 31, 2018, there was $0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
restricted stock which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.4 years.

Series A Preferred Stock

In connection with the Restructuring and in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act provided by Section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, Harvest issued 21,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock
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pursuant to Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements, dated as of the Effective Date. The Company estimated the fair value of
the Series A Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2018 at $0.2 million. The fair value of the preferred stock award will be
recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period, and the Company will account for forfeitures as they occur.
During the seven months ended December 31, 2018, the Company recognized $88 thousand of compensation cost related to
this preferred stock. These costs are included in “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
operations.

The Series A Preferred Stock is entitled to receive mandatory and cumulative dividends payable semi-annually in arrears
with respect to each dividend period ending on and including the last calendar day of each six-month period ending June 4
and December 4, at a rate per share of Series A Preferred Stock equal to 8.0% per annum. In the event that dividends due to
each share of Series A Preferred Stock have not been paid for a period of two consecutive Dividend Periods (as defined in the
Certificate of Designations), the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock, as an independent class, shall be entitled to
nominate and vote to appoint one director of the Board of Directors of the Company. Holders of shares of Series A Preferred
Stock have no right, by virtue of their status as holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, to vote on any matters on which
holders of shares of New Common Stock are entitled to vote.

Predecessor Equity-Based Compensation

EV Management has two long—term incentive plans, the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”) and the 2016
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan” and together, the “Plans”) for employees, consultants and directors of EV
Management and its affiliates who perform services for EVEP. The 2006 Plan expired on September 20, 2016, and on
August 30, 2016, the unitholders approved the adoption of the 2016 Plan, which replaced the 2006 Plan with respect to future
awards. The 2016 Plan provided for the issuance of up to 5,000,000 units and allowed for the award of unit options, phantom
units, performance units, restricted units and deferred equity rights. These equity—based awards consisted only of phantom
units as of May 31, 2018.

EVEP accounted for phantom units as equity awards since it had determined that these awards would likely be settled by
issuing common units. Compensation cost was recognized for these phantom units on a straight-line basis over the service
period and was net of forfeitures. These phantom units were subject to graded vesting over a four year period. However, the
Partnership elected to settle the awards which vested in January 2018 with cash payments; as a result, the awards which
vested in January 2018 were classified as liability awards as of December 31, 2017.

There were no phantom unit awards issued during the five months ended May 31, 2018 or the year ended December 31,
2017. The weighted average fair value of the phantom unit awards issued during the year ended December 31, 2016, was
$2.05.

Activity related to these phantom units is as follows:

Number Weighted Average

of Grant Date

Phantom Units Fair Value
Nonvested phantom units as of December 31, 2017 1,511,920 $ 4.54
Granted — —
Vested (1,460,234) 4.58
Forfeited (51,686) 3.42
Nonvested phantom units as of May 31, 2018 — 3 —

For the Predecessor, the total grant date fair value of the phantom units vested in 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $6.7 million,
$6.3 million and $8.4 million, respectively.

The Predecessor recognized compensation cost related to these phantom units of $1.0 million during the five months
ended May 31, 2018, under the normal vesting schedule. The Predecessor recognized compensation cost related to these
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phantom units of $4.3 million and $6.6 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. These costs are included in “General and
administrative expenses” in our consolidated statements of operations.

On June 4, 2018, EVEP’s emergence from bankruptcy, which constituted a change of control, resulted in the immediate
acceleration of all unvested phantom units. As a result, the total unrecognized compensation cost of $2.8 million was
recognized as of May 31, 2018. These costs are included in “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statements of operations.

NOTE 7. ACQUISITIONS
2017

On January 31, 2017, EVEP acquired a 5.8% working interest in oil and gas properties in Karnes County, Texas for
$58.7 million (net of post-closing purchase price adjustments) with the $52.1 million of proceeds from the divestiture of the
Barnett Shale natural gas properties in December 2016 (see Note 8) and $6.6 million of borrowings under the Predecessor’s
credit facility (the “Eagle Ford Acquisition”). Certain EnerVest institutional partnerships owned an 87% working interest in,
and EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. (“EnerVest Operating”), a wholly owned subsidiary of EnerVest and its affiliates, acted as
operator of, the properties. The purchase price of $58.7 million was primarily allocated to proved oil and natural gas
properties.

In August 2017, EVEP acquired a 40% working interest in oil and gas properties in Central Texas near the Austin Chalk
position for $2.7 million (net of post-closing purchase price adjustments) from a third party.

NOTE 8. DIVESTITURES
2018

In August 2018, the Company closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas and Karnes County,
Texas (the “Central Texas Divestiture”) to Magnolia Oil & Gas Parent LLC and Magnolia Oil & Gas Corporation
(collectively, “Magnolia”) for total consideration of $134.4 million in cash, net of purchase price adjustments, and 4.2 million
shares of common stock of Magnolia (NYSE: MGY). Based on the closing price for Magnolia’s common stock on August
31, 2018, total consideration was $192.7 million, net of purchase price adjustments. The Company did not record a gain or
loss on this sale. The Company recognized impairment expense of $2.9 million during the seven months ended December 31,
2018 related to the sale of these properties.

During January 2019, the Company sold all of its 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia for net proceeds of
$51.7 million.

In addition, in August 2018, the Company closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas to a third
party for total consideration of $3.4 million, net of purchase price adjustments. The Company did not record a gain or loss on
this sale. The Company recognized impairment expense of $0.2 million during the seven months ended December 31, 2018
related to the sale of these properties.
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In December 2018, the Company closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in Central Texas to a third party for
total consideration of $2.6 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments. The Company recorded a gain of $0.7
million on this sale.

In addition, in December 2018, the Company closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in the Mid—Continent area
to a third party for total consideration of $1.0 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments. The Company did not
record a gain, loss or impairment related to this sale.

In January 2019, the Company closed the sale of certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-Continent area to a third party
for total consideration of $1.7 million, net of preliminary purchase price adjustments.

On February 13, 2019, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of its (i) oil and gas properties in the
San Juan Basin and (ii) membership interests in EnerVest Mesa, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of EV Properties, L.P., to a
third party for total consideration of $42.8 million in cash, subject to purchase price adjustments. The transaction is expected
to close in April 2019 and has an effective date of October 1, 2018. The net book value as of December 31, 2018 of the San
Juan assets and liabilities to be divested was approximately $61 million. As a result, the Company expects to record an
impairment related to the sale of its San Juan properties in 2019.

On February 27, 2019, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell certain oil and gas properties in the Mid-
Continent area to a third party for total consideration of $2.5 million in cash, subject to purchase price adjustments. The
transaction is expected to close in April 2019 and has an effective date of October 1, 2018.

2017

In February 2017, EVEP, along with certain institutional partnerships managed by EnerVest, entered into an Agreement
of Sale and Purchase to sell certain oil and gas properties in Ohio and Pennsylvania to a third party. The transaction closed on
April 10, 2017, and EVEP received net proceeds of $1.1 million. EVEP did not record a gain, loss or impairment related to
this sale.

In April 2017, EVEP sold certain oil and gas properties in East Texas to a third party. The transaction closed on April 5,
2017, and EVEP received net proceeds of $0.6 million. EVEP did not record a gain or loss on this sale. The Company
recognized impairment expense of $2.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2017 related to the sale of these
properties.

In August 2017, EVEP sold certain acreage in the San Juan Basin to a third party. EVEP received net proceeds of $1.0
million and recorded a gain of $1.0 million on this sale.

2016

In December 2016, EVEP, along with certain institutional partnerships managed by EnerVest, closed on the sale of a
portion of its Barnett Shale natural gas properties, and its share of the proceeds was $52.1 million (before post-closing
adjustments). The Company recognized impairment expense of $89.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2016
related to the sale of these properties. Also, during 2016, EVEP received proceeds of $2.4 million for the sale of other oil and
gas properties.

NOTE 9. RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s business activities expose it to risks associated with changes in the market price of oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids. In addition, the Company’s floating rate credit facility exposes it to risks associated with changes in

interest rates. As such, future earnings are subject to fluctuation due to changes in the market price of oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids and interest rates. The Company uses derivatives to reduce its risk of volatility in the prices of oil,
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natural gas and natural gas liquids and interest rates. The Company policies do not permit the use of derivatives for
speculative purposes.

The Company has elected not to designate any of its derivatives as hedging instruments. Accordingly, changes in the fair
value of its derivatives are recorded immediately to earnings as “Gain (loss) on derivatives, net” in the consolidated
statements of operations.

In April 2018, in conjunction with the Chapter 11 proceedings, the Predecessor terminated its interest rate swaps for the
period of April 2018 to September 2020, which resulted in a cash settlement received in April 2018 of $1.6 million.

After the Effective Date, the Company entered into new commodity derivative contracts. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company had entered derivatives with the following terms:

Weighted Average

Period Covered Hedged Volume Fixed Price
Oil (MBbls):

Swaps - January 2019 to December 2019 11,0220 $ 63.02

Swaps - January 2020 to December 2020 7320 $ 60.51
Natural Gas (MMBtus):

Swaps - January 2019 to December 2019 31,025.0 $ 2.77
Natural Gas Liquids (MBbls):

Swaps - January 2019 to December 2019 1,095.0 $ 18.58

Swaps - January 2020 to December 2020 768.6 $ 17.68

During the first quarter of 2019, the Company entered into additional derivatives for 16,470 MMBtus of natural gas at a
weighted average fixed price of $2.70 for the period of January 2020 to December 2020. Also, in January 2019, the Company
terminated 167 MBbls of oil swaps for the period of February 2019 to December 2019 at a fixed price of $62.12; this
termination resulted in a cash settlement received of $1.5 million.

The following table sets forth the fair values and classification of the Company’s outstanding derivatives:

Successor
Net Amounts
Gross Gross Amounts of Assets
Amount of Offset in the Presented in the
Recognized Consolidated Consolidated
Assets Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2018:
Derivative asset $ 18,048 $ (2,596) $ 15,452
Long-term derivative asset 8,565 (66) 8,499
Total $ 26,613 $ (2,662) $ 23,951
Derivative liability $ 3,761 $ (2,596) $ 1,165
Long-term derivative liability 66 (66) —
Total $ 3,827 $ (2,662) $ 1,165
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Predecessor
Net Amounts
Gross Gross Amounts of Liabilities
Amounts of Offset in the Presented in the
Recognized Consolidated Consolidated
Liabilities Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2017:

Derivative asset $ 3,402 $ (350) $ 3,052
Derivative liability $ 746§ (350) $ 396

The Company has entered into master netting arrangements with its counterparties. The amounts above are presented on
a net basis in the consolidated balance sheets when such amounts are with the same counterparty. In addition, the Company
has recorded accounts payable and receivable balances related to settled derivatives that are subject to the master netting
agreements. These amounts are not included in the above table; however, under the master netting agreements, the Company
has the right to offset these positions against forward exposure related to outstanding derivatives.

The Company could be required to post cash collateral related to these derivatives under certain circumstances. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company and the Predecessor were not required to post any collateral nor did they hold
any collateral associated with derivatives, respectively.

NOTE 10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine fair value. Level 1 refers
to fair values determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 refers to fair
values determined based on quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration. Level 3 refers to fair values determined based
on the Company’s own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value.

Recurring Basis

The following table presents the fair value hierarchy table for the Company’s net assets and liabilities that are required to
be measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Successor

Fair Value Measurements
at the End of the Reporting Period

Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 2018:
Assets:
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids derivatives $ 26,613 $ — % 26,613 $ —
Equity securities 47,082 47,082 — —
$ 73,695 $ 47,082 $ 26,613 $ =
Liabilities:
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids derivatives ~ $ 3,827 $ — 3 3,827 $ —
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Predecessor
Fair Value Measurements
at the End of the Reporting Period
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 2017:
Assets:
Oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids derivatives $ 2,696 $ — % 2,696 $ —
Interest rate swaps 706 — 706 —
$ 3,402 $ — 5 3,402 $ =
Liabilities:
Qil, natural gas and natural gas liquids derivatives $ 721 $ — 3 721 $ —
Interest rate swaps 25 — 25 —
$ 746  $ — 3 746 $ —

The Company’s derivatives consist of over—the—counter (“OTC”) contracts which are not traded on a public
exchange. As the fair value of these derivatives is based on inputs using market prices obtained from independent brokers or
determined using quantitative models that use as their basis readily observable market parameters that are actively quoted and
can be validated through external sources, including third party pricing services, brokers and market transactions, the
Company has categorized these derivatives as Level 2. The Company values these derivatives using the income approach
using inputs such as the forward curve for commodity prices based on quoted market prices and prospective volatility factors
related to changes in the forward curves and yield curves based on money market rates and interest rate swap data, such as
forward LIBOR curves. The estimates of fair value have been determined at discrete points in time based on relevant market
data. Furthermore, fair values are adjusted to reflect the credit risk inherent in the transaction, which may include amounts to
reflect counterparty credit quality and/or the effect of the Company’s creditworthiness. These assumed credit risk adjustments
are based on published credit ratings, public bond yield spreads and credit default swap spreads. There were no changes in
valuation techniques or related inputs in 2018.

At December 31, 2018, equity securities consisted of 4.2 million shares of common stock of Magnolia which are traded

on a public exchange. The Company categorized these equity securities as Level 1, as the fair value of these shares is based
market price and the 120-day lock up period upon issuance had expired.
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Nonrecurring Basis

The following table presents the fair value hierarchy table for the Company’s net assets and liabilities that are required to
be measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis:

Fair Value Measurements
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Total
Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Losses
Predecessor:
Year Ending December 31, 2017:
Long-lived assets held and used $ 48,694 $ — 3 — 3 48,694 $ 66,931

| RY @QHG$WHN+ HIBDQGS \HG

The Company did not incur any impairment charges during the seven months ended December 31, 2018 for any of its oil
and natural gas properties that were held and used as of December 31, 2018. The Predecessor did not incur any impairment
charges during the five months ended May 31, 2018 for any of its oil and natural gas properties that were held and used as of
May 31, 2018. As a result of reductions in estimated future net cash flows primarily caused by the decrease in prices for oil,
natural gas and natural gas liquids, the Company incurred impairment charges of $66.9 million in 2017 to write down oil and
natural gas properties that were held and used to their fair value. These impairment charges were included in earnings in the
periods indicated. The Predecessor did not incur any impairment charges during 2016 for any of its oil and natural gas
properties that were held and used as of December 31, 2016.

The fair values were determined using the income approach and were based on the expected present value of the future
net cash flows from reserves. Significant Level 3 assumptions associated with the calculation of discounted cash flows used
in the impairment analysis included estimates of future prices, production costs, development expenditures, anticipated
production, appropriate risk—adjusted discount rates and other relevant data.

Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments have been determined at discrete points in time based
on relevant market information. The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, derivatives and long—term debt. The carrying amounts of the
Company’s financial instruments other than derivatives and long—term debt approximate fair value because of the short—term
nature of the items. Derivatives are recorded at fair value (see above).

The carrying value of debt outstanding under the Company’s Exit Credit Facility approximates fair value because the
credit facility’s variable interest rate resets frequently and approximates current market rates available to us. The estimated
fair value of the Predecessor’s Senior Notes was $176.8 million at December 31, 2017, which differed from the carrying
value of $342.5 million at December 31, 2017. The fair value of the Senior Notes was determined using Level 2 inputs.
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NOTE 11. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The changes in the aggregate ARO are as follows:

ARO as of December 31, 2016 (Predecessor) $ 183,476
Liabilities incurred 671
Accretion expense 7,653
Revisions in estimated cash flows (875)
Settlements and divestitures (28,962)
ARO as of December 31, 2017 (Predecessor) 161,963
Liabilities incurred 77
Accretion expense 3,176
Settlements and divestitures (385)
ARO as of May 31, 2018 (Predecessor) 164,831
Fresh start adjustments (1) (41,953)
ARO as of May 31, 2018 (Successor) 122,878
Liabilities incurred 8
Accretion expense 5,420
Settlements and divestitures (8,700)
ARO as of December 31, 2018 (Successor) $ 119,606

M As a result of the application of fresh start accounting, the Successor recorded its asset retirement obligations at fair value as of the
Effective Date.

As of December 31, 2018, $2.1 million of the Successor ARO and as of December 31, 2017, $3.2 million of the
Predecessor ARO is classified as current and is included in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” in the consolidated
balance sheets.

NOTE 12. LONG-TERM DEBT, NET

The following table presents the consolidated debt obligations at the dates indicated:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Successor Exit Credit Facility © $ 115,000 $ =
Predecessor Credit facility — 263,000
Predecessor 8.0% senior notes due April 2019:

Principal outstanding — 343,348

Unamortized discount and debt issuance costs® — (1,701)

Unaccreted premium — 902

— 342,549

Total debt 115,000 605,549
Less: Current portion of long-term debt © — (605,549)
Long-term debt, net $ 115,000 $ —

" On January 29, 2019 and February 8, 2019, the Company repaid $35.0 million and $25.0 million, respectively, of the outstanding

amount under the Exit Credit Facility.

@ Imputed interest rate of 8.49% for December 31, 2017.

@ Imputed interest rate of 7.43% for December 31, 2017.
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“ Due to the anticipated financial covenant violations as of December 31, 2017, the borrowings under the Predecessor’s credit facility and
Senior Notes were classified as current at December 31, 2017. There were no financial covenant violations as of December 31, 2018.

Exit Credit Facility

In connection with the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy, on the Effective Date, the Company entered into a Credit
Agreement providing for a $1.0 billion new reserve-based revolving loan. The Exit Credit Facility matures on February 26,
2021. Borrowings under the Exit Credit Facility are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the Company’s oil
and natural gas properties. The Company may use borrowings under the Exit Credit Facility for acquiring and developing oil
and natural gas properties, for working capital purposes and for general corporate purposes. The Company also may use up to
$50.0 million of available borrowing capacity for letters of credit. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had a $0.2 million
letter of credit outstanding.

The terms of the credit facility do not require any repayments of amounts outstanding until it matures in February 2021.
Borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at a floating rate based on, at the Company’s election, a base rate or the
London Inter-Bank Offered Rate plus applicable premiums based on the percent of the borrowing base outstanding
(weighted average effective interest rate of 5.10% at December 31, 2018).

Borrowings under the Exit Credit Facility may not exceed a “borrowing base” determined by the lenders under the credit
facility based on the Company’s oil and natural gas reserves. In August 2018, as a result of the Central Texas divestiture, the
borrowing base was reduced by $60.3 million to $264.7 million. During the fourth quarter of 2018, as a result of other
divestitures, the borrowing base was reduced by $2.4 million to $262.3 million as of December 31, 2018. In addition, during
the first quarter of 2019, as a result of other divestitures, the borrowing base was reduced by an additional $2.0 million. The
borrowing base is subject to scheduled redeterminations starting on April 1, 2019, and semi-annually as of April 1 and
October 1 of each year thereafter with an additional redetermination once per calendar year at the election of either the
Company or the lenders.

The Exit Credit Facility requires the following (as defined in the Credit Agreement):
the Total Debt to EBITDAX ratio covenant to be no greater than 4.0 to 1.0;

the current consolidated assets (including unused commitments under the Exit Credit Facility) to current consolidated
liabilities be no less than 1.0 to 1.0;

the percentage of Mortgaged Properties be no less than 95% of the total value of the Oil and Gas Properties evaluated
in the most recent Reserve Report;

no later than 60 days following the Effective Date, 70% of projected production volumes (excluding projected
production volumes from certain properties) be hedged (as of the date such swap agreements were executed) for the
18 months following the Effective Date; and
cash held by the Company be limited to the greater of 5% of the current borrowing base or $30.0 million.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all of these financial covenants.
Predecessor’s Credit Facility
The Predecessor was party to a $1.0 billion credit facility, which was scheduled to expire in February 2020. Borrowings
under that credit facility were secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the Predecessor’s oil and natural gas

properties. The Predecessor also had access to up to $100.0 million of available borrowing capacity for letters of credit. As of
May 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Predecessor had a $0.2 million letter of credit outstanding.
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The terms of the Predecessor’s credit facility did not require any repayments of amounts outstanding until it expired in
February 2020. Borrowings under the credit facility bore interest at a floating rate based on, at the Partnership’s election, a
base rate or the London Inter—Bank Offered Rate plus applicable premiums based on the percent of the borrowing base that
the Partnership had outstanding (weighted average effective interest rate of 5.47% and 4.82% at May 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively).

Borrowings under the credit facility could not exceed a “borrowing base” determined by the lenders under the credit
facility based on the Partnership’s oil and natural gas reserves. As of May 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the borrowing
base under the credit facility was $325.0 million.

In connection with EVEP’s emergence from bankruptcy on June 4, 2018, the holders of claims under the Predecessor’s
credit facility received full recovery, consisting of (i) their pro rata share of the $1 billion new reserve-based revolving loan;
(ii) cash in amount equal to the accrued but unpaid interest payable to such lenders under the credit facility as of the Effective
Date; and (iii) unfunded commitments and letter of credit participation under the Exit Credit Facility equal to the unfunded
commitments and letter of credit participation of such lender as of the Effective Date.

Predecessor’s 8.0% Senior Notes due April 2019

The Predecessor’s Senior Notes were issued under the Indenture, would have matured April 15, 2019, and bore interest
at 8.0%. The Senior Notes were general unsecured obligations and were effectively junior in right of payment to any of the
Partnership’s secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness.

The Senior Notes were fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior unsecured basis, by all of
the Partnership’s existing subsidiaries other than EV Energy Finance Corp. (“Finance”), which is a co—issuer of the Senior
Notes. Neither EVEP nor Finance had independent assets or operations apart from the assets and operations of the
Predecessor’s subsidiaries.

In 2016, EVEP redeemed $82.7 million of the Senior Notes for $35.0 million, resulting in a gain on the early
extinguishment of debt of $47.7 million.

As a result of EVEP’s emergence from bankruptcy, the Senior Notes were cancelled and the Predecessor’s liability
thereunder discharged as of June 4, 2018, and the holders of the Notes received (directly or indirectly) their pro rata share of
New Common Stock representing, in the aggregate, 95% of the New Common Stock on the Effective Date (subject to
dilution by the MIP and the common shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants). See also Note 2.

NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

On the Effective Date, Harvest entered into a Services Agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with EnerVest, Ltd. and
EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. (together, the “EnerVest Group”). Pursuant to the Services Agreement, the EnerVest Group will
provide certain administrative, management, operating and other services and support to Harvest (the “Services”) following
the Effective Date. In addition, the EnerVest Group will also provide Harvest with sufficient office space, equipment and
office supplies pursuant to the Services Agreement. The Services Agreement covers the people EnerVest employs who
provide direct support to the Company’s operations; however, the Services Agreement does not cover the five full-time
employees of Harvest which include the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. The management fee is
subject to an annual redetermination by agreement of the parties and may also be adjusted for acquisitions or divestitures
over $5 million. As of March 28, 2019, Harvest and EnerVest were in the process of negotiating the extension of the Services
Agreement.

In August 2018, the Company was notified by the Office of Natural Resources Revenue (“ONRR”) of potential

underpayments of royalties related to certain leases for the period of 2009 through 2018. The Company has submitted
amended royalty filings for the period of 2009 to 2012, pursuant to which Harvest has an additional liability of
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approximately $2.0 million. This amount will be paid upon ONRR review and concurrence with the accuracy of royalties per
the amended filings. The Company expects to submit amended royalty filings for the period of 2013 to 2018 later in 2019,
pursuant to which Harvest may have an additional liability of approximately $3.0 million. The Company recognized an
accrual for the estimated liability for the period of 2009 to 2018 as of December 31, 2018.

The Company is involved in other disputes or legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company does
not believe the outcome of such disputes or legal actions, other than addressed above, will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial statements. No amounts, other than as described above, were accrued at December 31, 2018 for the
Successor, and no amounts were accrued at December 31, 2017 for the Predecessor.

The Company is subject to firm agreements for the future transportation and processing of natural gas. The Company is
obligated to transport minimum daily natural gas volumes. As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s future minimum
transportation fees under these agreements are as follows for the years ended December 31:

2019 $ 856
2020 747
2021 618
2022 412
2023 —
Thereafter —

$ 2,633

NOTE 14. EQUITY
Issuance of Common Stock and Cancellation of Units
In accordance with the Plan, on the Effective Date:
the Company issued a total of 10,000,016 shares of its common stock, which included the issuance of (i) 9,500,000
shares pro rata to holders of the Senior Notes with claims allowed under the Plan and (ii) 500,016 shares pro rata to

holders of units of EVEP prior to the Effective Date;

the Company issued 800,000 warrants to purchase 800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to holders of
units of EVEP prior to the Effective Date;

the Predecessor common units were cancelled; and

each Predecessor common unitholder received its pro rata share of: (i) 5% of the New Common Stock and (ii) the
Warrants as discussed above.

On the Effective Date, there were 10,000,016 shares of New Common Stock issued and outstanding. As of December
31, 2018, there were 10,054,816 shares issued and 10,042,468 shares outstanding.

Warrants

On the Effective Date, the Company entered into a warrant agreement with Computershare Trust Company N.A., as
warrant agent, pursuant to which the Company issued Warrants to purchase up to 800,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock (representing 8% of the Company’s outstanding total issued and outstanding common stock as of the Effective Date
including shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon full exercise of the Warrants, but excluding any common
stock issuable under the MIP), exercisable for a five year period commencing on the Effective Date at an exercise price of
$37.48 per warrant.
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The fair values for the Warrants upon issuance have been estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using
the following assumptions:

Warrants Issued in
Successor Period

Risk—free interest rate 2.8 %
Dividend yield — %
Expected life (years) 5.0
Expected volatility 69.0 %
Strike price $ 37.48
Calculated fair value $ 9,345
Predecessor

At December 31, 2017, owner’s equity consisted of 49,368,869 common units outstanding, representing a 98% limited
partnership interest in the Predecessor and a 2% general partnership interest.

The common units had limited voting rights as set forth in the partnership agreement.

Pursuant to the partnership agreement, if at any time the general partner and its affiliates owned more than 80% of the
common units outstanding, the general partner had the right, but not the obligation, to “call” or acquire all, but not less than
all, of the common units held by unaffiliated persons at a price not less than their then current market value. The general
partner had the right to assign this call right to any of its affiliates or to the Predecessor.

The general partner owned a 2% interest in the Predecessor. This interest entitled the general partner to receive
distributions of available cash from operating surplus as discussed further below under “Cash Distributions.” The partnership
agreement set forth the calculation to be used to determine the amount and priority of cash distributions that the common
unitholders, Class B unitholders and general partner would receive.

The general partner had the management rights as set forth in the partnership agreement.
Predecessor Allocations of Net Income

Net income was allocated between the general partner and the limited partners in accordance with the provisions of the
partnership agreement. Net income was generally allocated first to the general partner and the limited partners in an amount
equal to the net losses allocated to the general partner and the limited partners in the current and prior tax years under the
partnership agreement. The remaining net income was allocated to the general partner and the limited partners in accordance
with their respective percentage interests of the general partner and limited partners.

Predecessor Cash Distributions

The Predecessor’s credit facility prohibited the Partnership from making cash distributions if any default or event of
default, as defined in the credit facility, occurred or would result from the cash distribution.

Within 45 days after the end of each quarter, the Predecessor would distribute all of its available cash (as defined in the
partnership agreement) to its general partner and unitholders of record on the applicable record date. The amount of available
cash generally was all cash on hand at the end of the quarter; less the amount of cash reserves established by the general
partner to provide for the proper conduct of business, to comply with applicable laws, any of the debt instruments, or other
agreements or to provide funds for distributions to unitholders and to the general partner for any one or more of the next four
quarters; plus all cash on hand on the date of determination of available cash for the quarter resulting from working capital
borrowings made after the end of the quarter. Working capital borrowings were generally borrowings that were made under
the Partnership’s credit facility and in all cases was used solely for working capital purposes or to pay distributions to
partners.
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The partnership agreement required that the Predecessor make distributions of available cash from operating surplus in
the following manner:

ILUXOB8% to the unitholders, pro rata, and 2% to the general partner, until the Predecessor distributed for each
outstanding common unit an amount equal to the minimum quarterly distribution for that quarter; and

\WHIHO W cash in excess of the minimum quarterly distributions is distributed to the unitholders and the general
partner based on the percentages below.

The minimum quarterly distribution was not guaranteed and distributions below the minimum quarterly distribution were
not accrued in arrears.

The general partner was entitled to incentive distributions if the amount distributed with respect to one quarter exceeded
specified target levels shown below:

Marginal Percentage
Interest in Distributions

Total Quarterly Distributions Limited General

Target Amount Partner Partner
Minimum quarterly distribution $0.7615 98 % 2%
First target distribution Up to $0.875725 98 % 2%
Second target distribution Above $0.875725, up to $0.951875 85 % 15 %
Thereafter Above $0.951875 75 % 25 %

The Predecessor did not pay any distributions during the five months ended May 31, 2018 or during the year ended
December 31, 2017. The following sets forth the distributions paid during the year ended December 31, 2016 (relating to the
fourth quarter of 2015):

Distribution Total
Date Paid Period Covered per Unit Distribution
February 12, 2016 October 1, 2015 — December 31, 2015 $ 0.075 $ 3,868
$ 3,868

During the five months ended May 31, 2018 and the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the board of directors of
EV Management announced that it had elected to suspend distributions for all quarters of those periods.

NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES

Effective June 4, 2018, pursuant to the Plan, the Successor became a corporation subject to federal and state income
taxes. Prior to the Plan being effective, the Predecessor was a limited partnership and organized as a pass-through entity for
federal and most state income tax purposes. As a result, the Predecessor’s limited partners were responsible for federal and
state income taxes on their share of taxable income. The Predecessor was subject to the Texas margin tax for partnership
activity in the state of Texas. Tax obligations of the Predecessor and Successor are recorded as “Income taxes” in the
consolidated statements of operations.

106




Table of Contents

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The income tax expense for the Successor period indicated is comprised of the following:

Seven Months
Ended
December 31, 2018

Current tax expense:
Federal $ —
State (78)
Total (78)
Deferred tax expense:
Federal —
State —
Total —
Total tax expense:
Federal —
State (78)
Total $ (78)

During the five months ended May 31, 2018, the Predecessor recorded income tax expense of $0.2 million related to
state income taxes. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Predecessor recognized approximately $0.2
million and $2.4 million, respectively, of tax benefits primarily as a result of tax refunds.

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expense to the income tax expense or benefit from continuing
operations provided for the Successor period is as follows:
Seven Months

Ended
December 31, 2018
Tax expense at statutory rate $ (5,050)
State income tax expense, net of federal benefit (62)
Changes in valuation allowance 4,999
Other 35
Total income tax expense $ (78)

The Successor’s net deferred tax is comprised of the following:

December 31, 2018

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward $ 19,086
Asset retirement obligation 26,948
Other 2,365
Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 48,399
Valuation allowance (15,573)
Net deferred tax assets 32,826

Deferred tax liability:

Oil and natural gas properties 30,200
Derivative instruments 2,626
Total deferred tax liability 32,826
Total net deferred tax $ —

107




Table of Contents

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether it is more likely than not that
sufficient future taxable income will be generated to realize the Company’s deferred tax assets. In making this determination,
Management considers all available positive and negative evidence and makes certain assumptions. Management considers,
among other things, its deferred tax liabilities, the overall business environment, its historical earnings and losses, current
industry trends and its outlook for future years. Due to significant negative evidence, the Company has established a
valuation allowance against its net deferred tax asset of $15.6 million as of December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $84.7
million, which can be carried forward indefinitely, and state NOLs of $22.2 million, which will expire in varying amounts
beginning in 2029.

Accounting Standard Codification 740, ,@RPH 70H/(“ASC 740”) prescribes a recognition threshold and a
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of income tax positions taken or expected to
be taken in an income tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, an income tax position must be more-likely-than-not to
be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company must recognize the tax effects of any uncertain tax
positions it may adopt, if the position taken is more likely than not sustainable based on its technical merits. The company
had no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2018 and does not anticipate recognition of any significant liabilities
for uncertain tax positions during the next 12 months. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are reported in
income tax expense.

The Company’s tax returns are subject to periodic audits by the various jurisdictions in which the Company
operates. These audits can result in adjustments of taxes due or adjustments of the NOL carryforwards that are available to
offset future taxable income.
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NOTE 16. EARNINGS PER SHARE/UNIT

The following sets forth the calculation of earnings per share/unit for the periods indicated:

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended Year Ended December 31,
December 31, 2018 May 31, 2018 2017 2016

Net income (loss) attributable to
Successor/Predecessor $ 23969 | $ (610,525) $ (134,201) $ (242,895)
Predecessor’s general partner’s 2% interest in net loss — 12,211 2,684 4,858
Earnings attributable to Predecessor’s unvested
phantom units — — — —
Net income (loss) available to common
stockholders/limited partners $ 23969 | $ (598314) $ (131,517) $ (238,037)
Weighted average common shares/units outstanding:

Basic 10,030 49,369 49,357 49,048

Dilutive effect of potential common shares/units 2 — — —

Diluted 10,032 49,369 49,357 49,048
Net earnings per share/unit:

Basic $ 239 | $ (12.12) $ (2.66) $ (4.85)

Diluted $ 239 |$ (12.12) $ (2.66) $ (4.85)
Antidilutive warrants © 800,000 — — —

(1) Amount represents warrants to purchase common stock that are excluded from the diluted net earnings per share calculations because
of their antidilutive effect.

NOTE 17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As a result of the Restructuring, EnerVest is no longer a related party to the Company. However, Harvest will continue
its relationship with EnerVest through an agreement for EnerVest to operate its properties. See Note 13 for additional
information regarding the Services Agreement.

Prior to emergence from bankruptcy, the Predecessor’s general partner was EV Energy GP, and the general partner of its
general partner was EV Management. EV Management is a wholly owned subsidiary of EnerVest. EnerVest and its affiliates
also had a significant interest in the Partnership through their 71.25% ownership of EV Energy GP which, in turn, owned a
2% general partner interest in the Partnership and all of its incentive distribution rights. In addition, the Predecessor’s board
of directors included directors who were also executives of EnerVest. As a result, EnerVest was considered a related party to
the Predecessor.

However, in accordance with the Plan, EV Energy GP, the Predecessor’s general partner, was dissolved following the
Effective Date, and the terms of the Predecessor’s board of directors automatically expired on the Effective Date. The
Successor formed a new five-member board of directors which does not consist of any members of EnerVest management.
As aresult, EnerVest is not considered a related party to the Successor.

Pursuant to a services agreement, referred to as an omnibus agreement , the Predecessor paid EnerVest $7.2 million for
general and administrative services provided during the five months ended May 31, 2018. Under the omnibus
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agreement, the Predecessor also paid EnerVest $14.1 million and $15.9 million during the years ended 2017 and 2016,
respectively. These fees were based on an allocation of charges between EnerVest and EVEP based on the estimated use of
such services by each party, and the Partnership believed that the allocation method employed by EnerVest was reasonable
and reflective of the estimated level of costs the Partnership would have incurred on a standalone basis. These fees are
included in “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Partnership also entered into operating agreements with EnerVest whereby EnerVest Operating, a subsidiary of
EnerVest acted as contract operator of the oil and natural gas wells and related gathering systems and production facilities in
which EVEP owned an interest. The Predecessor reimbursed EnerVest approximately $8.4 million in the five months ended
May 31, 2018, for direct expenses incurred in the operation of its wells and related gathering systems and production
facilities and for the allocable share of the costs of EnerVest employees who performed services on its properties. Under that
operating agreement, the Predecessor also reimbursed EnerVest approximately $20.1 million and $21.2 million during the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, for direct expenses incurred. As the vast majority of such expenses
were charged to the Partnership on an actual basis (i.e., no mark—up or subsidy is charged or received by EnerVest), EVEP
believed that the aforementioned services were provided to the Partnership at fair and reasonable rates relative to the
prevailing market and were representative of what the amounts would have been on a standalone basis. These costs are
included in “Lease operating expenses” in the consolidated statements of operations. Additionally, in its role as contract
operator, this EnerVest subsidiary also collected proceeds from oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids sales and distributed
them to the Partnership and other working interest owners.

As of December 31, 2017, the Predecessor owed EnerVest Operating $4.2 million.

Effective November 1, 2011, EVEP, along with certain institutional partnerships managed by EnerVest, sold a portion of
its unproved, undeveloped Utica acreage in ten Ohio counties to Total E&P USA, Inc. A portion of the purchase price was
paid in cash with the balance payable in the form of a carried interest in future development activity. In early 2017, the
allocated share of the Carry for one of the institutional partnerships was completely utilized. As such, that institutional
partnership purchased Carry rights from us and the other institutional partnerships equal to the benefit to be received from
Total for their continued participation in the Carry. EVEP’s share of this benefit was $0.7 million for the five months ended
May 31, 2018 and was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. These purchased Carry rights were recorded as
reimbursements to oil and gas properties.

In 2011, EVEP and certain institutional partnerships managed by EnerVest carved out 7.5% overriding royalty interests
from certain acres in Ohio (the “Underlying Properties”), which the Partnership believed may be prospective for the Utica
Shale, and contributed the ORRI to a newly formed limited partnership. EnerVest is the general partner of this
partnership. The ORRI entitles the partnership to an average approximate 5.64% of the gross revenues from the Underlying
Properties. EVEP owned a 48% limited partner interest in the partnership and account for the investment using the equity
method of accounting. EVEP recognized $0.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.1 million of income during the five months ended
May 31, 2018 and the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and EVEP received $0.3 million, $0.3 million
and $0.1 million of distributions during the five months ended May 31, 2018 and the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. This income is included in “Other income, net” in the consolidated statements of operations.
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NOTE 18. OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Supplemental cash flows and non—cash transactions were as follows as of and for the periods indicated:

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended Year Ended December 31,
December 31, 2018 May 31, 2018 2017 2016
Supplemental cash flows information:

Cash paid for interest $ 6,110 $ 6,008 $ 38,758 % 39,807
Cash paid for income taxes — — — 10,942
Cash paid for reorganization items 9,021 6,691 — —

@ TIncludes approximately $6.9 million disbursed from the restricted cash account during the seven months ended December 31, 2018.

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2018 | December 31, 2017

Non—cash transactions:
Costs for additions to oil and natural gas properties in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ 419 |'$ 12,748
Shares of common stock of Magnolia received in Central Texas Divestiture 58,212 —

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Lease operating expenses $ 10,035 $ 11,411
San Juan royalties 5,000 —
Production and ad valorem taxes 4,680 6,351
General and administrative expenses 3,321 3,331
Current portion of ARO 2,077 3,170
Costs for additions to oil and natural gas properties 419 12,748
Interest 12 5,820
Derivative settlements — 573
Other 602 413
Total $ 26,146 $ 43,817
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NOTE 19. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

Predecessor Successor
Two Months One Month
First Ended Ended Third Fourth
Quarter May 31, 2018 June 30, 2018 Quarter Quarter
2018

Revenues @ $ 67,942 $ 43,089 $ 21,720 $ 68,966 $ 47914
Gross profit @ 36,558 23,201 11,246 37,319 18,427
Net income (loss) © (15,449) (595,076) (538) (9,760) 34,267
Net income (loss) per share/unit:

Basic $ 0.31) $ (11.81) $ (0.05) $ 0.97) $ 3.41

Diluted $ (0.31) $ (11.81) $ (0.05) $ 0.97) $ 3.41

Predecessor
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2017

Revenues $ 56,987 $ 56,052 $ 52,651 $ 60,003
Gross profit @ 29,809 26,861 23,026 32,119
Net loss @ (50,831) (25,161) (17,888) (40,321)
Net loss per unit:

Basic $ (1.01) $ (0.50) $ 0.36) $ (0.80)

Diluted $ (1.01) $ (0.50) $ (0.36) $ (0.80)

(¢

(&3]

®)

“)

Includes a royalty adjustment of $5.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2018. Excluding this royalty adjustment, revenues would
have been $52.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2018. See Note 13 for additional information.

Represents total revenues less lease operating expenses, cost of purchased natural gas and production taxes.

Includes significant costs associated with the reorganization. Reorganization items, net represent costs and gains directly associated
with the Chapter 11 proceedings since the Petition Date, such as the gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise, fresh start
valuation adjustments, issuance of common stock and warrants and settlement with Predecessor common unitholders. The Predecessor
incurred $587.3 million of reorganization items, net during the five months ended May 31, 2018. See Note 2 and Note 3.

Includes impairment charges of $93.6 million, primarily in the third and fourth quarters of 2017. Of this amount, $69.9 million related
to oil and natural gas properties that were written down to their fair value as determined based on the expected present value of future
net cash flows. Of the $69.9 million, $49.5 million related to oil and natural gas properties located in the Mid-Continent area and the
Permian Basin, $15.3 million related to properties located in the Monroe Field, $2.2 million related to properties located in Central
Texas and $2.9 million related to properties in East Texas which were sold in April 2017. The remainder of the impairment charges in
2017 consisted of $23.7 million of leasehold impairments.
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NOTE 20. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON OIL AND NATURAL GAS ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED)

Capitalized costs relating to oil and natural gas producing activities are as follows at December 31:

Successor Predecessor
2018 2017
Proved oil and natural gas properties $ 410,184 $ 2,567,086
Unproved oil and natural gas properties 8,454 —
418,638 2,567,086
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (12,950) (1,191,559)
Net capitalized costs $ 405,688 $ 1,375,527

Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property acquisition and development activities are as follows for the periods
indicated:

Successor Predecessor
Seven Months Five Months
Ended Ended Year Ended December 31,
December 31,
2018 May 31, 2018 2017 2016
Acquisition of oil and natural gas properties:
Proved $ — $ — % 58,230 $ —
Unproved — — 3,170 —
Exploration costs 177 122 413 651
Development costs 17,925 26,841 39,348 10,712
Total $ 18,102 $ 26,963 $ 101,161  $ 11,363

NOTE 21. ESTIMATED PROVED OIL, NATURAL GAS AND NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS RESERVES
(UNAUDITED)

The Company’s estimated proved reserves are all located within the United States. The Company cautions that there are
many uncertainties inherent in estimating proved reserve quantities and in projecting future production rates and the timing of
development expenditures. Accordingly, these estimates are expected to change as further information becomes available.
Material revisions of reserve estimates may occur in the future, development and production of the oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids reserves may not occur in the periods assumed, and actual prices realized and actual costs incurred may
vary significantly from those used in these estimates. The estimates of the Company’s proved reserves as of December 31,
2018, and the estimates of the Predecessor’s proved reserves as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 have been prepared by
Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. and Wright & Company, Inc., independent petroleum consultants.
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The following table sets forth changes in estimated proved and estimated proved developed reserves for the periods
indicated.

As of December 31, 2015 (Predecessor)
Revisions of previous estimates
Extensions and discoveries ©
Production

Sales of minerals in place ©

As of December 31, 2016 (Predecessor)
Revisions of previous estimates
Purchases of minerals in place
Extensions and discoveries ©
Production

Sales of minerals in place ©

As of December 31, 2017 (Predecessor)
Revisions of previous estimates *”
Extensions and discoveries "V
Production

Sales of minerals in place "

As of December 31, 2018 (Successor)

Proved developed reserves:

December 31, 2015 (Predecessor)
December 31, 2016 (Predecessor)
December 31, 2017 (Predecessor)
December 31, 2018 (Successor)

Proved undeveloped reserves:

December 31, 2015 (Predecessor)
December 31, 2016 (Predecessor)
December 31, 2017 (Predecessor)
December 31, 2018 (Successor)

n

(&3]

®)

“)

©)

©6)

Thousands of barrels.

Million cubic feet.

Natural Gas

Oil Natural Gas Liquids
(MBbls) ® (Mmcf) @ (MBbls) @ Mmcfe @
21,995 747,015 36,294 1,096,753
(8,163) (57,723) (1,223) (114,041)
61 10,255 736 15,038
(1,216) (49,333) (2,331) (70,612)
(85) (74,916) (81) (75,919)
12,592 575,298 33,395 851,219
1,141 3,558 (422) 7,867
1,228 6,578 415 16,444
105 3,035 398 6,053
(1,387) (40,979) (2,165) (62,293)
(286) (3,784) 27) (5,663)
13,393 543,706 31,594 813,627
4,640 7,641 4,518 62,600
7 4,192 104 4,859
(1,304) (40,066) (2,388) (62,222)
(6,823) (38,785) (4,544) (106,994)
9,913 476,688 29,284 711,870
13,919 644,984 30,091 909,047
11,954 523,113 28,218 764,149
13,393 543,706 31,594 813,627
9,881 468,510 28,442 698,445
8,076 102,031 6,203 187,706
638 52,185 5,177 87,070
32 8,178 842 13,425

Million cubic feet equivalent; barrels are converted to Mcfe based on one barrel of oil or natural gas liquids to six Mcf of natural gas

equivalent.

Revisions were primarily attributable to reductions in the Appalachian Basin (51.8 Bcfe), the Barnett Shale (39.9 Bcfe) and Central
Texas (13.5 Bcfe) and were the result of the decrease in prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids used in the December 31,

2016 reserve estimates from prices used in the December 31, 2015 reserve estimates.

Extensions and discoveries were primarily associated with drilling success in the Barnett Shale (13.0 Bcfe).

Sales of minerals in place were primarily associated with the sale of a portion of the Barnett Shale natural gas properties (74.2 Bcfe) in

December 2016.
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) Revisions were attributable to a combination of reserve increases (81.8 Bcfe) resulting from improvements in SEC pricing from

December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2017, reductions (85.0 Bcfe) due to the removal of all PUD reserves and an aggregate increase
from various other revisions (11.0 Bcfe).

®  Extensions and discoveries were primarily associated with drilling success in the Barnett Shale (4.2 Bcfe) and Mid-Continent area (1.5

Bcfe).

© Sales of minerals in place were primarily associated with the sale of properties in the Appalachian Basin (4.6 Bcfe), Central Texas (0.6
Bcfe) and San Juan Basin (0.5 Bcfe).

19 Revisions were attributable to a combination of reserve increases (66.7 Bcfe) resulting from our emergence from bankruptcy on June 4,
2018 and the availability of capital required to develop the PUDs within the SEC five-year development limitation on PUDs, reserve
increases (24.3 Bcfe) resulting from improvements in SEC pricing from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, reductions (20.8
Bcfe) primarily due to negative revisions in Appalachian and San Juan basins, and an aggregate decrease (7.6 Bcfe) from various
other revisions.

@) Extensions and discoveries were primarily associated with drilling success in the Barnett Shale (4.8 Bcfe).

2 Sales of minerals in place were primarily associated with the sale of all properties in Central Texas (106.1 Bcfe) with smaller

sales in the Mid-Continent area (0.8 Bcfe) and other areas.

NOTE 22. STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS RELATING TO
PROVED OIL, NATURAL GAS AND NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS RESERVES (UNAUDITED)

The following tables present a standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes therein relating to
estimated proved oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves. In computing this data, assumptions other than those
required by the SEC could produce different results. Accordingly, the data should not be construed as representative of the
fair market value of the Company’s estimated proved oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves. The following
assumptions have been made:

Future cash inflows were based on prices used in estimating the Company’s proved oil, natural gas and natural gas
liquids reserves. Future price changes were included only to the extent provided by existing contractual agreements.

Future development and production costs were computed using year end costs assuming no change in present
economic conditions.

Future net cash flows were discounted at an annual rate of 10%.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to estimated proved oil, natural gas and natural
gas liquids reserves is presented below for the years ended December 31:

2018 2017 2016
Future cash inflows $ 2,710,234  $ 2,778,662 $ 2,261,520
Future production and development costs (1,622,040) (1,603,373) (1,480,900)
Future income tax expenses (167,692) (6,022) (5,442)
Future net cash flows 920,502 1,169,267 775,178
10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flows (484,069) (589,862) (404,061)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows $ 436,433 $ 579,405 $ 371,117

As specified by the SEC, the prices for oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids used in this calculation were the average
prices during the year determined using the price on the first day of each month, except for volumes subject to fixed price
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contracts. The prices utilized in calculating the Company’s total estimated proved reserves at December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 were $65.56 per Bbl of oil, $3.10 per MMBtu of natural gas; $51.34 per Bbl of oil, $2.976 per MMBtu of natural gas;
and $42.75 per Bbl of oil, $2.481 per MMBtu of natural gas, respectively. The Company does not include its commodity
derivatives in the determination of its oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves.

The principal sources of changes in the standardized measure of future net cash flows are as follows for the years ended
December 31:

2018 2017 2016

Standardized measure at beginning of period $ 579,405 $ 371,117  $ 536,450
Sales and transfers of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids

produced, net of production costs (126,181) (111,118) (71,939)
Net changes in prices and production costs 48,322 202,810 (83,146)
Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery, less related costs 3,148 5,451 1,712
Development costs incurred during the period 16 2,261 2,065
Revisions and other 88,587 13,516 (23,328)
Accretion of 10% timing discount 58,222 37,356 53,998
Changes in income taxes (70,390) (371) 1,093
Changes in estimated future development costs 3,174 20,177 3,976
Changes in timing and other 21,551 8,302 (26,920)
Purchase of minerals in place — 32,949 —
Sales of minerals in place (169,421) (3,045) (22,844)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows $ 436,433 $ 579,405 $ 371,117
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 and 15d-15, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2018 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002, management included a report of their assessment of the
design and effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. Management’s report is included under “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data — Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and is incorporated herein by
reference.
Change in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal
control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information regarding directors, executive officers, promoters and control persons required under Item 10 of Form
10-K will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy
Statement™”) under the headings “Proposal 1: Election of Directors,” “Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance
and our Board” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act, not later than 120 days after December 31, 2018.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under Item 11 of Form 10-K will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Executive Compensation” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under Item 12 of Form 10-K will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Security Ownership of Certain Other Beneficial Owners and Management” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required under Item 13 of Form 10-K will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the headings
“Corporate Governance and our Board,” “Transactions with Related Persons” and “Executive Compensation” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under Item 14 of Form 10-K will be contained in the Proxy Statement under the subheading
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of Documents filed as part of this Report

(1) Financial Statements

All financial statements of the Registrant as set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required, not applicable or the information
required to be presented is included in our consolidated financial statements and related notes.

(3) Exhibits

The exhibits listed below are filed or furnished as part of this report:

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

First Modified Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of EV Energy Partners, L.P. and Its

Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2018).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the

parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 4, 2018).

Warrant Agreement, dated as of June 4, 2018, between Harvest Oil & Gas Corp., Computershare Inc. and its

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 4, 2018).

First Amendment to Services Agreement, dated August 17, 2018, by and between Harvest Qil & Gas Corp.,
EnerVest, Ltd. and EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2018).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420418032688/tv495755_ex10-5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420418045697/tv501375_ex10-2.htm
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10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

*10.9

*10.10

*10.11

*10.12

*10.13

*10.14

*10.15

*10.16

*10.17

*10.18

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 4, 2018, is among Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.,

current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 5, 2006).

Contract Operating_Agreement, dated September 29, 2006, by and among_EnerVest Operating, L.L.C. and

report on Form 8K filed with the SEC on October 5, 2006).

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2018).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. and the directors and officers of
Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s registration statement on
Form S-8 filed on June 4, 2018).

Employee Agreement, dated November 17, 2017, by and between EV Management, L.I.C and Michael E.
Mercer (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to EV Energy Partners, L.P.’s current report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on November 24, 2017).

Bobrowski (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to EV Energy Partners, L.P.’s current report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 24, 2017).

reference from Exhibit 10.4 to EV Energy Partners, L.P.’s current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 24, 2017).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000095012906008872/h40146exv10w3.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420418032667/tv495756_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420418045697/tv501375_ex10-3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420418032667/tv495756_ex10-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420417060831/tv480195_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1361937/000114420418032688/tv495755_ex10-7.htm
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*10.19

10.20

+21.1

+23.1

+23.2

+23.3

+31.1

+31.2

++32 .1

++32.2

+99.1

+99.2

+101

reference from Exhibit 10.5 to EV Energy Partners, L.P.’s current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

November 24, 2017).

Restructuring_Support Agreement, dated as of March 13, 2018, among the Debtors, the Supporting Parties and

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 2018).
Subsidiaries of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.

Consent of Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc.

Consent of Wright & Company, Inc.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

Wright & Company, Inc. Reserve Report.

Interactive Data Files.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
+ Filed herewith
++ Furnished herewith

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
(Registrant)

Date: March 28, 2019 By: /s/ RYAN STASH
Ryan Stash
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sIMICHAEL E. MERCER President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 28, 2019
Michael E. Mercer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/IRYAN STASH Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 28, 2019
Ryan Stash (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/IRYAN J. FLORY Controller March 28, 2019
Ryan J. Flory (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/TIM CAFLISCH Director March 28, 2019
Tim Caflisch
/s/PATRICK HICKEY Director March 28, 2019
Patrick Hickey
/s/JJAMES F. MURCHISON Director March 28, 2019

James F. Murchison

/s/STEVEN J. PULLY Director March 28, 2019
Steven J. Pully
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Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.

Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Formation
1. Harvest Oil & Gas Acquisition Corp. Delaware
2. EV Energy Finance Corp. Delaware
3. EV Properties GP, LLC Delaware
4. EV Properties, L.P. Delaware
5. EVCGGP,LLC Delaware
6. CGAS Properties, L.P. Delaware
7. EVPP GP,LLC Delaware
8. EnerVest Production Partners, Ltd. Texas

9. EnerVest Monroe Gathering, Ltd. Texas

10. EnerVest Monroe Marketing, Ltd. Texas

11. EnerVest Mesa, LL.C Texas

12. EV Midstream, LLC Delaware
13. EV Midstream, L.P. Delaware
14. Belden & Blake, LLC Ohio




13640 BRIARWICK DRIVE,
SUITE 100

AUSTIN, TEXAS 78729-1107
512-249-7000

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
1001 Fannin Street, Suite 700
Houston, Texas 77002

Exhibit 23.1

CAWLEY, GILLESPIE & ASSOCIATES, INC.

PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS
306 WEST SEVENTH STREET, 1000 LOUISIANA STREET,
SUITE 302 SUITE 1900
FORT WORTH, TEXAS 76102-4987 HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002-5008
817-336-2461 713-651-9944

Wwww.cgaus.com

March 28, 2019

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS

As independent petroleum engineers, we hereby consent to all references to our firm included in this Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2018 and the Registration Statement No. 333-225415 on Form S-8 of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. with
respect to our estimates of the oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.

Yours very truly,

/s/ W. TODD BROOKER

W. Todd Brooker, P.E.

President

Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc.
Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-693




Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF WRIGHT & COMPANY, INC.

As independent petroleum engineers, we hereby consent to all references to our firm included in this Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2018 and the Registration Statement No. 333-225415 on Form S—8 of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. with
respect to our estimates of the oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids reserves of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.

Wright & Company, Inc.

TX Firm Registration No. F-12302

By: /s/D. RANDALL WRIGHT
President

Brentwood, Tennessee
March 28, 2019




Exhibit 23.3
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-225415 on Form S-8 of our report dated
March 28, 2019, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the
Company’s application of fresh start accounting resulting from its emergence from bankruptcy on June 4, 2018), appearing in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2018.

/s’'DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 28, 2019




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael E. Mercer, certify that:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 28, 2019 /s MICHAEL E. MERCER

Michael E. Mercer
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Ryan Stash, certify that:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 28, 2019 /s/ RYAN STASH

Ryan Stash
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2018 of Harvest Oil &
Gas Corp. (the “Company™) and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I,
Michael E. Mercer, Chief Executive Officer, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Partnership.

Date: March 28, 2019 /s/ MICHAEL E. MERCER
Michael E. Mercer
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2018 of Harvest Oil &
Gas Corp. (the “Compnay™) and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I,
Ryan Stash, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 28, 2019 /s/ RYAN STASH
Ryan Stash
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 99.1

CAWLEY, GILLESPIE & ASSOCIATES, INC.

PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS

13640 BRIARWICK DRIVE, SUITE 100 306 WEST SEVENTH STREET, SUITE 302 1000 LOUISIANA STREET, SUITE 1900
AUSTIN, TEXAS 78729-1107 FORT WORTH, TEXAS 76102-4987 HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002-5008
512-249-7000 817-336-2461 713-651-9944

‘www.cgaus.com

January 29, 2019

Harvest Oil & Gas Corp.
1001 Fannin Street, Suite 750
Houston, Texas 77002
Re: Evaluation Summary
+DUYHVW 2LO *DV &RUS ,QWl
Total Proved Reserves
As of December 31, 2018

3IXUVXDQW WR WKH *XLGHOLQF
6HFXULWLHY DQG ([FKDQJH &R
BHSRUWLQJ &RUSRUDWH 5HVHI
)XWHKWUHW 5HYHQXH

Ladies and Gentlemen:

As requested, this report was completed on January 29, 2019 for Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (“Harvest”) for
the purpose of public disclosure by Harvest in filings made with the SEC in accordance with the disclosure
requirements set forth in the SEC regulations. We evaluated approximately 44% of Harvest reserves, which are
made up of oil and gas properties in various fields in AR, KS, LA, OK & TX. This report, with an effective date of
December 31, 2018, was prepared using constant prices and costs and conforms to the guidelines of the 6 HF X UL W L
DQ@EF KD @JIRP P L (VHCR Ghe results of this evaluation are presented in the accompanying tabulations,
with a composite summary of the values presented below:

Proved Proved
Developed Developed Proved Proved Total
Producing Non-Producing Developed Undeveloped Proved
Net Reserves
Oil - MBBL 1,663.2 73.2 1,736.4 32.1 1,768.5
Gas - MMCF 183,935.4 1,039.5 184,974.9 8,178.0 193,152.9
NGL - MBBL 17,022.3 41.3 17,063.6 842.5 17,906.0
Revenue
Oil -M$ 104,490.4 4,476.9 108,967.3 2,021.4 110,988.7
Gas -M$ 469,392.4 3,055.7 472,448.1 18,130.3 490,578.3
NGL -M$ 433,738.5 1,041.1 434,779.6 20,912.8 455,692.4
Net Profits -M$ 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Severance Taxes - M$ 38,133.0 517.1 38,650.1 2,178.8 40,828.9
Ad Valorem Taxes -M$ 21,807.4 131.3 21,938.7 917.3 22,856.0
Operating Expenses - M$ 184,602.8 1,442.8 186,045.6 3,924.1 189,969.7
Misc. Expenses 1 -M$ 6,144.1 426.1 6,570.2 0.0 6,570.2
Misc. Expenses 2 -M$ 65,777.7 0.0 65,777.7 1,668.0 67,445.6
Other Deductions -M$ 279,376.3 24.7 279,401.0 2,906.6 282,307.6
Investments - M$ 6,238.2 1,007.6 7,245.9 11,368.5 18,614.3
Net Cash Flows - M$ 405,541.6 5,024.3 410,565.8 18,101.2 428,667.0
Discounted @ 10% -M$ 204,382.5 2,240.0 206,622.5 3,580.0 210,202.6

3UHV HRQW K
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January 29, 2019
Page 2

Future revenue is prior to deducting state production taxes and ad valorem taxes. Future net cash flow is
after deducting these taxes, future capital costs and operating expenses, but before consideration of federal income
taxes. In accordance with SEC guidelines, the future net cash flow has been discounted at an annual rate of ten
percent to determine its “present worth”. The present worth is shown to indicate the effect of time on the value of
money and should not be construed as being the fair market value of the properties.

The oil reserves include oil and condensate. Oil and NGL volumes are expressed in barrels (42 U.S.
gallons). Gas volumes are expressed in thousands of standard cubic feet (Mcf) at contract temperature and pressure
base.

Our estimates are for proved reserves only and do not include any probable or possible reserves nor have
any values been attributed to interest in acreage beyond the location for which undeveloped reserves have been
estimated. The Proved Developed category is the summation of the Proved Developed Producing and Proved
Developed Non-Producing estimates.

Presentation

This report is divided into five main reserve category sections: Total Proved (“TP”), Proved Developed
(“PD”), Proved Developed Producing (“PDP”), Proved Developed Non-Producing (“PDNP”) and Proved
Undeveloped (“PUD”). Within each reserve category section are grand total Table I summaries for each of the main
property areas and the entire reserve category. Each Table I presents composite reserve estimates and economic
forecasts for the particular group of properties. Following each Table I in the TP and PD section are Summary Plots,
which are composite rate-time history-forecast curves for the corresponding group of properties. Table II “oneline”
summaries are provided within the PDP, PDNP and PUD sections. The oneline summaries present estimates of
ultimate recovery, gross and net reserves, ownership, revenue, expenses, investments, net income and discounted
cash flow for the individual properties that make up the reserve category. The data presented in each Table I is
explained in page 1 of the Appendix.

Hydrocarbon Pricing

The base oil and gas prices calculated for December 31, 2018 were $65.56 per barrel and $3.100 per
MMBTU, respectively. As specified by the SEC, a company must use a 12-month average price, calculated as the
unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within the 12-month period prior
to the end of the reporting period. The base oil price is based upon WTI-Cushing spot prices (Bloomberg) during
2018 and the base gas price is based upon Henry Hub spot prices (Platt’s Gas Daily) during 2018.

The base prices were adjusted for differentials on a per-property basis, which may include local basis
differentials, transportation, gas shrinkage, gas heating value (BTU content) and/or crude quality and gravity
corrections. After these adjustments, the net realized prices over the life of the proved properties was estimated to
be $62.759 per barrel for oil, $2.540 per MCF for gas and $25.449 per barrel for natural gas liquids. All economic
factors were held constant in accordance with SEC guidelines.

Economic Parameters

Ownership was accepted as furnished and has not been independently confirmed. Oil and gas price
differentials, gas shrinkage, ad valorem taxes, severance taxes, lease operating expenses and investments were
calculated and prepared by Harvest and were thoroughly reviewed by us for accuracy and completeness. Lease
operating expenses were calculated based on historical lease operating statements. All economic parameters,
including lease operating expenses and investments, were held constant (not escalated) throughout the life of these
properties.
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SEC Conformance and Regulations

The reserve classifications and the economic considerations used herein conform to the criteria of the SEC
as defined in pages 3 and 4 of the Appendix. The reserves and economics are predicated on regulatory agency
classifications, rules, policies, laws, taxes and royalties currently in effect except as noted herein. Harvest’s
operations may be subject to various levels of governmental controls and regulations. These controls and
regulations may include matters relating to land tenure, drilling, production practices, environmental protection,
marketing and pricing policies, royalties, various taxes and levies including income tax and are subject to change
from time to time. Such changes in governmental regulations and policies may cause volumes of reserves actually
recovered and amounts of income actually received to differ significantly from the estimated quantities.

This evaluation includes 13 proved undeveloped locations in the Barnett Shale region of Texas. Each of the
drilling locations proposed conform to the proved undeveloped standards as set forth by the SEC. In our opinion,
Harvest has indicated they have every intent to complete this development plan as scheduled. Furthermore, Harvest
has indicated that they have the proper company staffing, financial backing and prior development success to ensure
this development plan will be fully executed.

Reserve Estimation Methods

The methods employed in estimating reserves are described in page 2 of the Appendix. Reserves for proved
developed producing wells were estimated using production performance methods for the vast majority of
properties. Certain new producing properties with very little production history were forecast using a combination
of production performance and analogy to offset production, both of which are considered to provide a relatively
high degree of accuracy.

Non-producing and undeveloped reserve estimates were forecast using either volumetric or analogy
methods, or a combination of both. These methods provide a relatively high degree of accuracy for predicting
proved developed non-producing and proved undeveloped reserves for Harvest properties, due to the mature nature
of their properties targeted for development and an abundance of subsurface control data. The assumptions, data,
methods and procedures used herein are appropriate for the purpose served by this report.

General Discussion

The estimates and forecasts were based upon interpretations of data furnished by your office and available
from our files. To some extent information from public records has been used to check and/or supplement these
data. The basic engineering and geological data were subject to third party reservations and qualifications. Nothing
has come to our attention, however, that would cause us to believe that we are not justified in relying on such data.
All estimates represent our best judgment based on the data available at the time of preparation. Reserves estimates
will generally be revised as additional geologic or engineering data become available or as economic conditions
change. Moreover, estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of future operations, effects of
regulation by governmental agencies or geopolitical or economic risks. As a result, the estimates of oil and gas
reserves have an intrinsic uncertainty. The reserves included in this report are therefore estimates only and should
not be construed as being exact quantities. They may or may not be actually recovered, and if recovered, the
revenues therefrom, and the actual costs related thereto, could be more or less than the estimated amounts.
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An on-site field inspection of the properties has not been performed. The mechanical operation or condition
of the wells and their related facilities have not been examined nor have the wells been tested by Cawley, Gillespie
& Associates, Inc. Possible environmental liability related to the properties has not been investigated nor
considered. The cost of plugging and the salvage value of equipment at abandonment have been included on
commercial proved wells at the end of the economic life of the cases in the SEC pricing evaluation. The cost of
plugging and salvage value of equipment at abandonment have not been included elsewhere herein.

Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. is a Texas Registered Engineering Firm (F-693), made up of
independent registered professional engineers and geologists that have provided petroleum consulting services to
the oil and gas industry for over 50 years. This evaluation was supervised by W. Todd Brooker, President at Cawley,
Gillespie & Associates, Inc. and a State of Texas Licensed Professional Engineer (License #83462). We do not own
an interest in the properties or Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. and are not employed on a contingent basis. We have used
all methods and procedures that we consider necessary under the circumstances to prepare this report. Our work-
papers and related data utilized in the preparation of these estimates are available in our office.

Yours very truly,

&$/(< *,/1(63,( $662%(6 ,1&
TEXAS REGISTERED ENGINEERING FIRM F-693

o W

W. Todd Brooker, P. E.
President
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At the request of Harvest Oil & Gas Corp. (Harvest), Wright & Company, Inc. (Wright) has performed an
evaluation to estimate proved reserves and associated cash flow and economics from certain properties to the
subject interests. This evaluation was authorized by Mr. Terry Wagstaff of Harvest. Projections of the reserves and
cash flow to the evaluated interests were based on specified economic parameters, operating conditions, and
government regulations considered applicable at the effective date. This reserves evaluation is pursuant to the
financial reporting requirements of the United States (U.S.) Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as
specified in Regulation S-X, Rule 4-10(a) and Regulation S-K, Rule 1202(a)(8). It is the understanding of Wright
that the purpose of this evaluation is for inclusion in relevant registration statements or other filings to the SEC for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. The effective date of this report is January 1, 2019. The report was
completed February 5, 2019. The following is a summary of the results of the evaluation.

. Proved Developed Total
Har;(:.ls:s(:;l“%tfgizgorp. Producing Nonproducing Proved
(PDP) (PDNP) (PDP & PDNP)
Net Reserves to the
Evaluated Interests
Qil, Mbbl: 7,996.767 147.369 8,144.136)
Gas, MMcf: 273,521.312 10,013.672 283,534.976
NGL, Mbbl: 10,604.675 773.690 11,378.366
Gas Equivalent, MMcfe: 385,129.964 15,540.026 400,669.988
(1 bbl = 6 Mcfe)
Cash Flow (BTAX), M$
Undiscounted: 640,055.808 19,471.418 659,527.296
Discounted at 10%
Per Annum: 293,451.840 5,979.876 299,431.872
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The properties evaluated in this report are located in the states of Colorado, Louisiana, Michigan, New
Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia. It is the understanding of Wright that Harvest may own
interests in other properties that are not included in this report. According to Harvest, the total proved reserves
included in this evaluation represent approximately 59.57 percent of the reported total proved reserves of Harvest.

Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas that can be estimated with reasonable certainty
to be economically producible under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations.
As specified by the SEC regulations, when calculating economic producibility, the base product price must be the
12-month average price, calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for
each month within the prior 12-month period. The benchmark base prices used for this evaluation were $65.56 per
barrel for West Texas Intermediate oil at Cushing, Oklahoma, and $3.100 per million British thermal units (MMBtu)
for natural gas at Henry Hub, Louisiana. These benchmark base prices were adjusted for energy content, quality,
and basis differential, as appropriate. The resultant average adjusted product prices are $60.88 per barrel of oil,
$2.83 per thousand cubic feet (Mcf) of gas, and $31.29 per barrel of natural gas liquids (NGL). The product prices
and adjustments were held constant for the life of the properties.

Oil and other liquid hydrocarbon volumes are expressed in thousands of U.S. barrels (Mbbl) of 42 U.S.
gallons. Gas volumes are expressed in millions of standard cubic feet (MMcf) at 60 degrees Fahrenheit and at the
legal pressure base that prevails in the state in which the reserves are located. For purposes of this report, quantities
of barrels of oil and NGL are converted into equivalent quantities of natural gas at the ratio of 1 bbl = 6 Mcfe. No
adjustment of the individual gas volumes to a common pressure base has been made.

Net income to the evaluated interests is the cash flow after consideration of royalty revenue payable to
others, state and county taxes, state fees, operating expenses, investments, salvage values, and abandonment costs,
as applicable. The cash flow is before federal income tax (BTAX) and excludes consideration of any encumbrances
against the properties if such exist. The cash flow (BTAX) was discounted monthly at an annual rate of 10.0 percent
in accordance with the reporting requirements of the SEC.

The estimates of reserves contained in this report were determined by accepted industry methods, and the
procedures used are appropriate for the purpose served by the report. Where sufficient production history and other
data were available, reserves for producing properties were determined by extrapolation of historical production or
sales trends. Analogy to similar producing properties was used for development projects and for those properties
that lacked sufficient production history to yield a definitive estimate of reserves. When appropriate, Wright may
have also considered volumetric calculations, log correlations, target zone, and geosteering in the determination of
estimated ultimate recovery (EUR). These calculations are often based upon limited log and/or core analysis data
and incomplete formation fluid and rock data. Since these limited data must frequently be extrapolated over an
assumed drainage area, subsequent production performance trends or material balance calculations may cause the
need for significant revisions to the estimates of reserves. Wright has used all methods and procedures as it
considered necessary under the circumstances to prepare this report.
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Oil, gas, and other liquid hydrocarbon reserves were evaluated for the proved developed producing (PDP)
and proved developed nonproducing (PDNP) categories. The summary classification of total proved reserves
combines the PDP and PDNP categories. In preparing this evaluation, no attempt has been made to quantify the
element of uncertainty associated with any category. Reserves were assigned to each category as warranted. Wright
is not aware of any local, state, or federal regulations that would preclude Harvest from continuing to produce from
currently active wells or to fully develop those properties included in this report.

There are significant uncertainties inherent in estimating reserves, future rates of production, and the timing
and amount of future costs. The estimation of oil and gas reserves must be recognized as a subjective process that
cannot be measured in an exact way, and estimates of others might differ materially from those of Wright. The
accuracy of any reserves estimate is a function of the quantity and quality of available data and of subjective
interpretations and judgments. It should be emphasized that production data subsequent to the date of these
estimates or changes in the analogous properties may warrant revisions of such estimates. Accordingly, reserves
estimates are often different from the quantities of oil and gas that are ultimately recovered.

All data utilized in the preparation of this report were provided by Harvest. No inspection of the properties
was made as this was not considered to be within the scope of this evaluation. Wright has not independently verified
the accuracy and completeness of information and data furnished by Harvest with respect to ownership interests, oil
and gas production or sales, historical costs of operation and development, product prices, or agreements relating to
current and future operations and sales of production. Wright requested and received detailed information allowing
Wright to check and confirm any calculations provided by Harvest with regard to product pricing, appropriate
adjustments, lease operating expenses, and capital investments. Furthermore, if in the course of Wright’s
examination something came to our attention that brought into question the validity or sufficiency of any
information or data, Wright did not rely on such information or data until we had satisfactorily resolved our
questions relating thereto or independently verified such information or data. In accordance with the requirements
of the SEC, all operating costs were held constant for the life of the properties.

In accordance with the instructions of Harvest, the cost of abandonment and the salvage value of equipment
at abandonment have been included on all commercial wells in this evaluation at the end of the economic life.
Wright has not performed a detailed study of the abandonment costs nor the salvage values and offers no opinion as
to Harvest’s calculations and assumptions.

Wright is not aware of any potential environmental liabilities that may exist concerning the properties
evaluated. There are no costs included in this evaluation for potential property restoration, liability, or clean up of
damages, if any, that may be necessary due to past or future operating practices.

Wright is an independent petroleum consulting firm founded in 1988 and owns no interests in the oil and gas
properties covered by this report. No employee, officer, or director of Wright is an employee, officer, or director of
Harvest, nor does Wright or any of its employees have direct financial interest in Harvest. Neither the employment
of nor the compensation received by Wright is contingent upon the values assigned or the opinions rendered
regarding the properties covered by this report.
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This report is prepared for the information of Harvest, its shareholders, and for the information and
assistance of its independent public accountants in connection with their review of and report upon the financial
statements of Harvest, and for reporting disclosures as required by the SEC. This report is also intended for public
disclosure as an exhibit in filings made to the SEC by Harvest.

Based on data and information provided by Harvest, and the specified economic parameters, operating
conditions, and government regulations considered applicable at the effective date, it is Wright’s conclusion that this
report provides a fair and accurate representation of the oil and gas reserves to the interests of Harvest in those
certain properties included in this report.

The professional qualifications of the petroleum consultants responsible for the evaluation of the reserves
and economics information presented in this report meet the standards of Reserves Estimator as defined in the
Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information as promulgated by the
Society of Petroleum Engineers.

It has been a pleasure to serve you by preparing this evaluation. All related data will be retained in our files
and are available for your review.

Very truly yours,

Wright & Company, Inc.
TX Reg. No. F-12302

By: /s/ D. RANDALL WRIGHT
D. Randall Wright
President




